

Design, synthesis, and evaluation of pentapeptides that inhibit the function of heat shock protein 70

Author: Huo, Yuantao

Publication Date: 2018

DOI: https://doi.org/10.26190/unsworks/21186

License:

https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/3.0/au/ Link to license to see what you are allowed to do with this resource.

Downloaded from http://hdl.handle.net/1959.4/61939 in https:// unsworks.unsw.edu.au on 2024-05-03

Design, synthesis, and evaluation of pentapeptides that inhibit the function of heat shock protein 70

Yuantao Huo



A thesis in fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science by Research in Chemistry

School of Chemistry

Faculty of Science

September 2018



Thesis/Dissertation Sheet

Surname/Family Name:	:	Huo
Given Name/s	:	Yuantao
Abbreviation for degree as give in the University calendar	:	M.Sc.
Faculty	:	Science
School	:	Chemistry
Thesis Title	:	Design, synthesis, and evaluation of pentapeptides that inhibit the function of heat shock protein 70

Abstract 350 words maximum: (PLEASE TYPE)

Protein-protein interactions (PPIs) regulate the cell's protein-folding machinery, which relies on a multiprotein complex formed with heat shock protein 70(Hsp70). Hsp70 is a molecular chaperone responsible for partially folding nascent peptides and refolding misfolded proteins, whereupon it transfers the partially folded proteins to Hsp90. The transfer process is mediated by the co-chaperone heat shock organising protein (HOP). HOP binds to Hsp70 via its terratricoperide repeat 1 (TPR1) domain. Hence, the PPI between HOP and Hsp70 is critical for the Hsp70's function. This interaction is particularly important in cancer cells, where Hsp70 is overexpressed to fold the rapidly produced proteins and facilitate cancer growth. This thesis describes the de-novo design, synthesis and biological evaluation of molecules aimed to regulate the interaction between HSp70 and inhibits Hsp70's function. The aim was to mimics the HOP interaction with Hsp70 and inhibits Hsp70's function by modulating Hsp70-HOP interaction. The author synthesized seven molecules in this series. Using solid phase peptide synthesis, he seven peptides were purified by HPLC and verified by LCMS, 'H NMR and 2D NMR. These compounds were then tested in a binding assay and a functional luciferase refolding assay. A structurally unioue Hsp70 inhibitor. CL. was identified as lead molecules which is in the site in the interaction.

HPLC and verified by LCMS, 'H NMR and 2D NMR. These compounds were then tested in a binding assay and a functional luciferase refolding assay. A structurally unique Hsp70 inhibitor, C1, was identified as lead molecule, which is the first molecule to directly regulate PP1 and inhibit protein folding events. The author then synthesized tagged version of C1 and tested in a protein pulldown assay against Hsp70 to assess its ability to bind to Hsp70. To identify the domain binding site, a pulldown assay was run using the C1-Tag against Hsp70's rubstrate binding domain (SBD). The author demonstrated that C1 bound to Hsp70 at the SBD. Finally, a structure-activity relationship study on C1 was carried out by producing molecules to perform an alanine scan. C1 is a pentapeptide, and each amino acid residue was substituted for alanine in the backbone. Of the five derivatives produced, the author synthesized three.

This project is demonstrating a proof of a successful approach for designing new small molecules that will modulate PPIs and interfere in large dynamic protein complexes.

Declaration relating to disposition of project the

I hereby grant to the University of New South Wales or its agents the right to archive and to make available my thesis or dissertation in whole or in part in the University libraries in all forms of media, now or here after known, subject to the provisions of the Copyright Act 1968. I retain all property rights, such as patent rights. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of this thesis or dissertation.

I also authorise University Microfilms to use the 350 word abstract of my thesis in Dissertation Abstracts International (this is applicable to doctoral theses only).

..... Signature Witness Signature Date

The University recognises that there may be exceptional circumstances requiring restrictions on copying or conditions on use. Requests for restriction for a period of up to 2 years must be made in writing. Requests for a longer period of restriction may be considered in exceptional circumstances and require the approval of the Dean of Graduate Research.

FOR OFFICE USE

Date of completion of requirements for Award:

ORIGINALITY STATEMENT

'I hereby declare that this submission is my own work and to the best of my knowledge it contains no materials previously published or written by another person, or substantial proportions of material which have been accepted for the award of any other degree or diploma at UNSW or any other educational institution, except where due acknowledgement is made in the thesis. Any contribution made to the research by others, with whom I have worked at UNSW or elsewhere, is explicitly acknowledged in the thesis. I also declare that the intellectual content of this thesis is the product of my own work, except to the extent that assistance from others in the project's design and conception or in style, presentation and linguistic expression is acknowledged.'

Signed

Date

INCLUSION OF PUBLICATIONS STATEMENT

UNSW is supportive of candidates publishing their research results during their candidature as detailed in the UNSW Thesis Examination Procedure.

Publications can be used in their thesis in lieu of a Chapter if:

- The student contributed greater than 50% of the content in the publication and is the "primary author", ie. the student was responsible primarily for the planning, execution and preparation of the work for publication
- The student has approval to include the publication in their thesis in lieu of a Chapter from their supervisor and Postgraduate Coordinator.
- The publication is not subject to any obligations or contractual agreements with a third party that would constrain its inclusion in the thesis

Please indicate whether this thesis contains published material or not.



This thesis contains no publications, either published or submitted for publication (if this box is checked, you may delete all the material on page 2)



Some of the work described in this thesis has been published and it has been documented in the relevant Chapters with acknowledgement (if this box is checked, you may delete all the material on page 2)

This thesis has publications (either published or submitted for publication) incorporated into it in lieu of a chapter and the details are presented below

CANDIDATE'S DECLARATION

I declare that:

- I have complied with the Thesis Examination Procedure
- where I have used a publication in lieu of a Chapter, the listed publication(s) below meet(s) the requirements to be included in the thesis.

Name	Signature	Date (dd/mm/yy)

Postgraduate Coordinator's Declaration (<mark>to be filled in where publications are used in lieu of Chapters</mark>)

I declare that:

- the information below is accurate
- where listed publication(s) have been used in lieu of Chapter(s), their use complies with the Thesis Examination Procedure

	•	the minimum	requirements	for the	e forma	t of	the	thesis	have	been met.	
--	---	-------------	--------------	---------	---------	------	-----	--------	------	-----------	--

PGC's Name	PGC's Signature	Date (dd/mm/yy)

i

COPYRIGHT STATEMENT

'I hereby grant the University of New South Wales or its agents the right to archive and to make available my thesis or dissertation in whole or part in the University libraries in all forms of media, now or here after known, subject to the provisions of the Copyright Act 1968. I retain all proprietary rights, such as patent rights. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of this thesis or dissertation.

I also authorise University Microfilms to use the 350 word abstract of my thesis in Dissertation Abstract International (this is applicable to doctoral theses only).

I have either used no substantial portions of copyright material in my thesis or I have obtained permission to use copyright material; where permission has not been granted I have applied/will apply for a partial restriction of the digital copy of my thesis or dissertation.'

Signed

Date

AUTHENTICITY STATEMENT

'I certify that the Library deposit digital copy is a direct equivalent of the final officially approved version of my thesis. No emendation of content has occurred and if there are any minor variations in formatting, they are the result of the conversion to digital format.'

Signed

Date

Table of contents

Table of contents	vi
List of Figures	ix
List of Schemes	X
List of Abbreviations and Symbols	xi
Acknowledgements	xvi
Abstract of the thesis	xvii
Chapter 1: Introduction	1
1.1 Heat Shock Proteins (Hsps)	2
1.2 Heat shock protein 70 (Hsp70)	3
1.21 The functions of Hsp70	3
1.22 Hsp70 as a promising target	6
1.22 The structure of Hsp70	7
1.3 Hsp70 and HOP interaction	8
1.31 HOP and TPR1	8
1.32 Hsp70-HOP interaction	10
1.4 A novel strategy for inhibiting function of Hsp70	12
1.41 Hsp70's Inhibitors	
1.42 Targeting PPIs as a promising approach	14
1.43 Peptides Drug Development	15
1.44 Peptides synthesis	16
1.45 The TPR mimics	
1.5 Project aim	
1.6 Reference	
Chapter 2: Synthesis and biological evaluation of Hsp70 inhibitors	
2.1 Introduction	
2.1.1 Background	
2.1.2 Compound Design Strategy	
2.2 Results and Discussions	
2.2.1 Compound Synthesis	
2.2.1.1 Synthesis of A1 and A2	
2.2.1.2 Synthesis of B1 and B2	40
2.2.1.3 Synthesis of C1 and C2	
2.2.1.4 Synthesis of C4	45
2.2.2 Binding assay	51
2.2.2.1 Compound Screen	51
2.2.2.2 Concentration dependent assay	
2.2.3 Luciferase Refolding Assay	56
	()
2.2.4 Tagged Compounds Pulldown and Competitive Assay	
2.2.4 Tagged Compounds Pulldown and Competitive Assay 2.2.4.1 Synthesis of C1-Tag	
 2.2.4 Tagged Compounds Pulldown and Competitive Assay 2.2.4.1 Synthesis of C1-Tag 2.2.4.2 Protein pulldown assay 	62 63 65
 2.2.4 Tagged Compounds Pulldown and Competitive Assay 2.2.4.1 Synthesis of C1-Tag 2.2.4.2 Protein pulldown assay 2.2.4.3 Competitive binding assay 	62 63 65 68
 2.2.4 Tagged Compounds Pulldown and Competitive Assay 2.2.4.1 Synthesis of C1-Tag 2.2.4.2 Protein pulldown assay 2.2.4.3 Competitive binding assay 2.2.5 Domain Expression and Pulldown assay 	62 63 65 68 70

2.2.5.2 Domain pulldown assay	74
2.2.6 Analogues of C1: Alanine Scan	76
2.2.6.1 Synthesis of SY14	77
2.2.6.2 Synthesis of SY15	79
2.2.6.3 Synthesis of SY16	81
2.3 Conclusions	83
2.4 References	86
Chapter 3: Methods and experimental	89
3.1 General Remarks	90
3.2 General Synthetic Procedures	91
3.3 Biology Methods	95
3.3.1 Protein binding assay	95
3.3.2 Protein pulldown assay	96
3.3.3 Competitive binding assay	97
3.3.4 Luciferase renaturation assay	99
3.3.5 Reference	100
3.4 Experimental Procedures	101
3.4.1 Experimental Procedures for A1	101
3.4.2 Experimental Procedures for A2	104
3.4.3 Experimental Procedures for B1	105
3.4.4 Experimental Procedures for B2	108
3.4.5 Experimental Procedures for C1	110
3.4.6 Experimental Procedures for C1-Tag	113
3.4.7 Experimental Procedures for C2	.117
3.4.8 Experimental Procedures for C4	118
3.4.9 Experimental Procedures for SY14	122
3.4.10 Experimental Procedures for SY15	125
3.4.11 Experimental Procedures for SY16	128
Chapter 4: Appendix	133
4.1.1 LC/MS of A1	134
4.1.2 ¹ H NMR of A1	135
4.1.3 ¹ H- ¹ H COSY of A1	136
4.1.4 ¹ H- ¹³ C HSQC of A1	137
4.1.5 ¹ H- ¹³ C HMBC of A1	138
4.2.1 LC/MS of A2	139
4.2.2 ¹ H NMR of A2	140
4.2.3 ¹ H- ¹ H COSY of A2	141
4.2.4 ¹ H- ¹³ C HSQC of A2	142
4.2.5 ¹ H- ¹³ C HMBC of A2	143
4.3.1 LC/MS of B1	144
4.3.2 ¹ H NMR of B1	145
4.3.3 ¹ H- ¹ H COSY of B1	146
4.3.4 ¹ H- ¹³ C HSQC of B1	147
4.3.5 ¹ H- ¹³ C HMBC of B1	148
4.4.1 LC/MS of B2	.149
4.4.2 ¹ H NMR of B2	150
4.4.3 ¹ H- ¹ H COSY of B2	151
4.4.4 ¹ H- ¹³ C HSQC of B2	152
4.4.5 ¹ H- ¹³ C HMBC of B2	153
A = 1 I O M O = C O I	154

4.5.2 ¹ H NMR of C1	.155
4.5.3 ¹ H- ¹ H COSY of C1	.156
4.5.4 ¹ H- ¹³ C HSQC of C1	.157
4.5.5 ¹ H- ¹³ C HMBC of C1	.158
4.6.1 LC/MS of C1-Tag	.159
4.6.2 ¹ H NMR of C1-Tag	.161
4.6.3 ¹ H- ¹ H COSY of C1-Tag	.162
4.6.4 ¹ H- ¹³ C HSQC of C1-Tag	.163
4.6.5 ¹ H- ¹³ C HMBC of C1-Tag	.164
4.7.1 LC/MS of C2	.165
4.7.2 ¹ H NMR of C2	.166
4.7.3 ¹ H- ¹ H COSY of C2	.167
4.7.4 ¹ H- ¹³ C HSQC of C2	.168
4.7.5 ¹ H- ¹³ C HMBC of C2	.169
4.8.1 LC/MS of C4	.170
4.8.2 ¹ H NMR of C4	.171
4.8.3 ¹ H- ¹ H COSY of C4	.172
4.8.4 ¹ H- ¹³ C HSQC of C4	.173
4.8.5 ¹ H- ¹³ C HMBC of C4	.174
4.9.1 LC/MS of SY14	.175
4.9.2 ¹ H NMR of SY14	.177
4.9.3 ¹ H- ¹ H COSY of SY14	.178
4.9.4 ¹ H- ¹³ C HSQC of SY14	.179
4.9.5 ¹ H- ¹³ C HMBC of SY14	.180
4.10.1 LC/MS of SY15	.181
4.10.2 ¹ H NMR of SY15	.183
4.10.3 ¹ H- ¹ H COSY of SY15	.184
4.10.4 ¹ H- ¹³ C HSQC of SY15	.185
4.10.5 ¹ H- ¹³ C HMBC of SY15	.186
4.11.1 LC/MS of SY16	.187
4.11.2 ¹ H NMR of SY16	.189
4.11.3 ¹ H- ¹ H COSY of SY16	.190
4.11.4 ¹ H- ¹³ C HSQC of SY16	.191
4.11.5 ¹ H- ¹³ C HMBC of SY16	.192

List of Figures

Figure 1.1: The members of the heat shock protein family	2
Figure 1.2: The proteostasis network and Hsp70 chaperone pathways	4
Figure 1.3: The protein folding function of Hsp70.	5
Figure 1.4: Structure of Hsp70.	8
Figure 1.5 Schematic of the HOP and the crystal structure of the TPR1 domain	9
Figure 1.6 The Hsp70-HOP-Hsp90 complex	10
Figure 1.7 The functional cycle and conformational changes of Hsp70	. 11
Figure 1.8: Structures of published Hsp70 inhibitors	12
Figure 1.9 PS-1% DVB resin with a CTC linker and attached desired peptide	17
Figure 1.10: Structure of coupling agents, HOAt and DIC.	17
Figure 1.11: Macrocyclization strategies	19
Figure 1. 12: Structure of coupling agents, HATU, TBTU and DMTMM	19
Figure 1.13 : TPR peptide and LB51	20
Figure 1.14: Design and strategy	21
Figure 2. 1: Previous work of Hsp90 inhibitors	30
Figure 2. 2: Design strategy	31
Figure 2. 3: TPR1 domain and peptide sequences of helices (A,B and C)	32
Figure 2. 4: Structure of <i>A1</i> , <i>A2</i> , <i>B1</i> , <i>B2</i> , C1 and C2.	33
Figure 2. 5: Structure of A3, A4, B3, B4, C3 and C4	34
Figure 2. 6: The library of 1st generation Hsp70 C-terminus inhibitors	36
Figure 2. 7: Structure and ¹ H NMR spectrum of C4	46
Figure 2. 8: Structure of HATU, TBTU and DMTMM.	47
Figure 2. 9: ¹ H NMR spectrum of old and new batches of C4	50
Figure 2. 10 : Schematic for pulldown assay	51
Figure 2. 11: Western blot images and analysis of compound screen assay.	53
Figure 2. 12 Structure of Helix C. and all C-series compounds	54
Figure 2. 13: Concentration dependent assay of C1-4	
Figure 2. 14: Schematic depiction of a luciferase refolding assay	57
Figure 2. 15: Impact of Hsp90 and HOP on Luciferase refolding.	
Figure 2. 16: The impact of compounds C1. C2. C3 and C4 on luciferase refolding.	
Figure 2. 17: Control experiment for C1	60
Figure 2. 18: The impact of C1 at multiple concentrations on luciferase refolding	61
Figure 2. 19: Structure of C1-Tag	62
Figure 2. 20: Structure of C3-Tag	65
Figure 2. 21: western blot images and analysis of protein pulldown assay	67
Figure 2. 22: HOP and Hsp70 pulled down using C1-Tag	68
Figure 2. 23 : Schematic depiction of protein pulldown and competitive binding assay	v 69
Figure 2. 24: western blot images and analysis of competitive assay.	
Figure 2. 25 : The crystal structure of the E.coli Hsp70 protein	
Figure 2. 26: Structure of Hsp70 and each domain	
Figure 2. 27 : Schematic depiction of domain expression	.73
Figure 2. 28: western blot images and analysis of domain pulldown assay	
Figure 2. 29: C1 and its alanine analogues	
Figure 2. 30: The functional cycle and conformational changes of Hsp70	.85
6	

List of Schemes

Scheme 1. 1: Mechanism of coupling reaction using DIC and HOAt	18
Scheme 2. 1 The synthesis scheme for A1 and A2.	
Scheme 2. 2: The synthesis scheme for B1 and B2	41
Scheme 2. 3: The synthesis scheme for C1 and C2.	44
Scheme 2. 4: Decomposed of DMTMM to an inactive molecule	47
Scheme 2. 5: The synthesis scheme for C4	49
Scheme 2. 6: The synthesis scheme for C1-Tag	64
Scheme 2. 7: The synthesis scheme for SY14.	78
Scheme 2. 8: The synthesis scheme for SY15	80
Scheme 2. 9: The synthesis scheme for SY16.	
J	

List of Abbreviations and Symbols

°C	Degrees Celsius
Å	Ångström; 10 ⁻¹⁰ m
ADP	Adenosine diphosphate
Ala, A	Alanine
ATP	Adenosine triphosphate
Boc	Di-tert-butyl dicarbonate
D	Doublet
D2O	Deuterium oxidexxxi
Da	Dalton
DCM, CH ₂ Cl ₂	Dichloromethane
dd	Doublet of doublet
DIC	N,N'-diisopropylcarbodiimide
DIPEA	N,N-Diisopropylethylamine
DMF	Dimethylformamide
DMSO	Dimethylsulfoxide
DMTMM	4-(4,6-Dimethoxy-1,3,5-triazin-2-yl)-4- methylmorpholinium

chloride

DPBS	Dulbecco's Phosphate Buffer Saline
eq.	Equivalents
Fmoc	Fluorenomethoxycarbonyl
g	Grams
Gln, Q	Glutamine
Glu, E	Glutamic acid
Gly, G	Glycine
HATU	1-[Bis(dimethylamino)methylene]-1H-1,2,3-triazolo[4,5-
	b]pyridinium 3-oxid hexafluorophosphate
HCl	Hydrochloric acid
His,	H Histidine
HOAt	1-hydroxy-7-azabenzotriazole
НОР	Heat shock organizing protein
HPLC	High performance liquid chromatography
hr	Hour
Hs	Heat shock
Hsp	Heat shock protein
kDa	KiloDalton

L	Liter
LC/MS	Liquid chromatography mass spectrometry
Leu, L	Leucine
LP	Linear protected
Lys, K	Lysine
m	Multiplet
М	Molar
m/z	Mass-to-charge ratio
MeOH	Methanol
Met, M	Methionine
mg	Milligrams
min	Minute
mL	Milliliter
mmol	Millimole
MW	Molecular weight
NaCl	Sodium chloride
nM	Nanomolar
OMe	Methyl ester
PEG	Polyethylene glycol
Phe, F	Phenylalanine xiii

Ppm	Parts per million
Pro, P	Proline
PVDF	Polyvinylidene fluoride
q	Quartet
RP-HPLC	Reversed phase-high performance liquid chromatography
Rt	Room temperature
S	Singlet
SAR	Structure-activity relationship
Ser, S	Serine
SPPS	Solid-phase peptide synthesis
t	Triplet
Tag	PEG biotin
TBST	Tris buffered saline with 0.1% Tween-20
TBTU	O-(Benzotriazol-1-yl)-N,N,N',N'-tetramethyluronium
	tetrafluoroborate
t-Bu	tert-Butyl
TFA	Trifluoroacetic acid
TPR	Tetratricopeptide repeat
UV	Ultraviolet
Val, V	Valine xiv

v:v	Volume to volume
μL	Microlitres
μΜ	Micromolar
μm	Micrometre
Δ	Difference
α	Alpha
β	Beta
γ	Gamma
δ	Delta

Acknowledgements

Firstly, I would like to express my sincere appreciation to my supervisor A/Professor Shelli McAlpine. Thank you for always support me. You have been an outstanding inspiration to me. Without your guidance, motivation and support, none of this would have been possible. Thank you from the bottom of my heart.

I would also like to thank all the McAlpine lab members, past and present, for their support and encouragement. It has been a great pleasure knowing you guys! Most importantly, thank you to Samantha Zaiter for being a great friend and an inspiring colleague. Thank you for passing your knowledge and skills on to me, I truly enjoyed our time working together.

To my family and friends, thank you for your endless love and encouragement. For my late grandma, I missed you so much. To my Dad and Mum, thank you for always being there for me and thanks for the constant, love, support and encouragement through every research endeavor.

Yuantao Huo

September 2018

Abstract of the thesis

Design, synthesis, and evaluation of pentapeptides that inhibit the function of heat shock protein 70

By

Yuantao Huo

Master of Science by Research in Chemistry

Supervisor: Associate Professor Shelli R. McAlpine

School of Chemistry, Faculty of Science

The University of New South Wales

Australia

September 2018

Protein-protein interactions (PPIs) regulate the cell's protein-folding machinery, which

relies on a multiprotein complex formed with heat shock protein 70 (Hsp70). Hsp70 is a molecular chaperone responsible for partially folding nascent peptides and refolding misfolded proteins, whereupon it transfers the partially folded proteins to Hsp90. The transfer process is mediated by the co-chaperone heat shock organising protein (HOP). HOP binds to Hsp70 via its tetratricopeptide repeat 1 (TPR1) domain. Hence, the PPI between HOP and Hsp70 is critical for the Hsp70's function. This interaction is particularly important in cancer cells, where Hsp70 is overexpressed to fold the rapidly produced proteins and facilitate cancer growth.

This thesis describes the de-novo design, synthesis and biological evaluation of molecules aimed to regulate the interaction between Hsp70 and HOP. Peptides were designed based on the sequence HOP's TPR1 domain. The aim was to mimics the HOP interaction with Hsp70 and inhibits Hsp70's function by modulating Hsp70-HOP interaction. The author synthesized seven molecules in this series. Using solid phase peptide synthesis, the seven peptides were purified by HPLC and verified by LCMS, ¹H NMR and 2D NMR. These compounds were then tested in a binding assay and a functional luciferase refolding assay. A structurally unique Hsp70 inhibitor, C1, was identified as lead molecule, which is the first molecule to directly regulate PPI and inhibit protein folding events.

The author then synthesized tagged version of C1 and tested in a protein pulldown assay against Hsp70 to assess its ability to bind to Hsp70. To identify the domain binding site, a pulldown assay was run using the C1-Tag against Hsp70's substrate binding domain (SBD). The author demonstrated that C1 bound to Hsp70 at the SBD. Finally, a structure-activity relationship study on C1 was carried out by producing molecules to perform alanine. C1 is a pentapeptide, and each amino acid residue was substituted for alanine in the backbone. Of the five derivatives produced, the author synthesized three.

This project is demonstrating a proof of a successful approach for designing new small molecules that will modulate protein-protein interactions and interfere in large dynamic protein complexes.

xviii

Chapter 1: Introduction

1.1 Heat Shock Proteins (Hsps)

Heat shock proteins (Hsps) are a family of proteins that have been conserved throughout evolution and they are present in a diversity of species ranging from protozoa to humans. Members of the Hsp family, are classified according to their molecular weight in kilodaltons: Hsp90, Hsp70, Hsp40, and the small Hsp family (typically 20 to 27 kDa) (**Figure 1.1**).¹



Figure 1.1: A schematic representation of the members of the heat shock protein family

Hsps were first discovered in the mid-1960s, and were identified in cells exposed to heat shock, where the levels of Hsps increase when cells are heated or under stress.² All normal cells contain basal levels of Hsps, and these basal levels perform the primary cellular function of folding of proteins, often referred to as client proteins, into their correct three-dimensional conformation.³ Hsps are also referred to as molecular chaperones, and they perform a cytoprotective mechanism, where cells upregulate the expression of Hsps in response to physical and chemical stresses including heat shock, nutrient deprivation and oxidative conditions,⁴ in order to ensure that under these stress conditions, the proteins are not being misfolded.⁵ If misfolded proteins accumulate, they

aggregate and become insoluble, which leads to cell death.⁶ Thus, Hsps are upregulated under stressor conditions in order to ensure aggregated client proteins are refolded or degraded. This function protects the cell from becoming overwhelmed with aggregated proteins, and can stop the cell from subsequently triggering apoptosis under these stressor conditions.⁷

The intracellular function of Hsps is not only restricted to protein refolding, other roles include: transport of functional proteins into specific subcellular compartments assembly of protein-protein complexes, and cell cycle control.⁸ The Hsps are also central to regulating protein folding events, where these folding events are involved in many diseases, including cancer.⁹ Hsps are overexpressed in cancer cells, as these cells are under high levels of stress due to rapid cell division and limited nutrients. The increased expression of Hsps are observed in many tumor types compared to adjacent normal tissues.¹⁰ The rapid production of proteins, and increased cell division in cancer cells requires excess Hsps in order to ensure prompt refolding of mutant client proteins and overexpressed nascent proteins, all of which are involved in most aspects of tumor cell progression.¹¹ As such, the excess Hsps allow tumor cells to tolerate mutations that would otherwise lead to cell apoptosis.¹²

1.2 Heat shock protein 70 (Hsp70)

1.21 The functions of Hsp70

Heat Shock Protein 70 (Hsp70) is one of the most important members of the Hsp family.¹³ In humans, Hsp70 usually exists as a monomeric protein under physiological conditions and is found in multiple parts of the cell including: the cytosol, nuclei,

endoplasmic reticulum, mitochondria,¹⁴ as well as on the cell membrane and on the outer membrane of the cell.¹⁵ Depending on its localisation, Hsp70 mediates different cellular functions.¹⁶ Extracellular Hsp70 stays in a soluble form, complexed with antigenic peptides, and moderates the immune responses in the body.¹⁷ Hsp70 could also be released from intact cells after stress in a membrane-associated form, which could act as a signal activator for other cells.¹⁸ Intracellular Hsp70 guards cells against damages caused by multiple types of stress,¹⁹ and it is involved in the folding of newly synthesised polypeptides, refolding of misfolded proteins, as well as the delivery of partially folded proteins to other chaperones, in order to complete the folding process.²⁰



Figure 1.2: The proteostasis network and Hsp70 chaperone pathways

Hsp70 interacts with several members from heat shock protein family to form a

chaperone network and control cellular protein homeostasis (**Figure 1.2**).²² In the pathway 2 and 3, Hsp70 interact with small heat shock proteins like Hsp27 to refold the misfolded or aggregated proteins.²³ In the pathway 4, Hsp70 delivers the misfolded protein to it, then Hsp104 uses the energy from ATP hydrolysis to drive protein degradation.²⁴ The Hsp60 and Hsp70 chaperone systems play a central role in the steady state of mitochondrial protein level.²⁵ Hsp40 could regulate the ATPase activity of Hsp70 and also delivery the unfolded proteins to it.²⁶



Figure 1.3: The protein folding function of Hsp70. The figure was modified from Hartl. ²¹. Hsp70 stabilized unfolded protein on ribosomes and in initiating folding alone with Hsp40 that acts downstream in completing folding 20% of nascent peptides. 80 % of Substrates were transfer from Hsp70 to Hsp90 by the coupling protein HOP.

The most important interaction between Hsps is the assembly of Hsp70 and Hsp90, which is critical for the folding the newly formed peptides to their native state (**Figure 1.3**).²⁷ All proteins that are released from the ribosome are firstly folded by Hsp70, and 80% of these are passed onto Hsp90 for the final folding process (**Figure 1.3**).²¹ These

folding processes are facilitated by secondary proteins or co-chaperones that bind to Hsp70 and regulate it's function.²⁸

1.22 Hsp70 as a promising target

Hsp70 is critical to the normal function of cells and has emerged as a highly attractive therapeutic target because it is involved in several diseases including viral infections⁹, neurodegenerative diseases²⁹, especially in cancer.¹⁴ Hsp70 is over-expressed in many cancer cell lines.¹⁴ In tumour cells, uncontrollable proliferation leads to a decline in regulatory processes in the cell, and increase in mutations that result in the accumulation of misfolded proteins and their aggregation, which normally would trigger cell death.⁶ In order to survive, the stress associated with the high levels of unfolded and aggregated proteins trigger cancer cells to over-express Hsp70. Hsp70 folds nascent peptides and refolds misfolded proteins that are critical for cancer proliferation and survival. Although other members of the Hsp family including Hsp27, Hsp40 and Hsp90 are also over-expressed in cancer cells, Hsp70 is the central chaperone directing these processes. Hsp70 cooperates with each of these Hsps and refolds misfolded proteins in order to regulate oncogenic client proteins that are involved in multiple cancer cell survival pathways.^{19, 30-32}

Separate to its chaperone function, Hsp70 also directly interacts with proteins involved in the apoptosis pathways and inhibits apoptosis in cancer cells. Therefore tumour cells that over-express Hsp70 are resistant to cell death and chemotherapy.³³ Hsp70 knock down studies, using siRNA against Hsp70, showed that when Hsp70 levels were decreased in cancer cells, there was a corresponding decrease in tumour growth rate and resistance to chemotherapy, while apoptosis levels were increased.³⁴ Thus,

decreasing Hsp70 function decreases tumour growth, and chemotherapeutic resistance, while increasing cell death. Inhibition of Hsp70 in normal cell lines did not result in obvious apoptosis.³⁵ The high impact of depleting Hsp70 on cancer cells, while low impact on normal cells makes Hsp70 an excellent and highly promising anti-cancer approach over traditional chemotherapeutic drugs.³⁶

1.22 The structure of Hsp70

Hsp70 contains two major structural domains: The nucleotide binding domain (NBD) and the substrate binding domain (SBD) (**Figure 1.4**) ^{*37, 38*}. The NBD is 44 kDa in size and is involved in binding to and hydrolyzing ATP; this supplies energy needed for Hsp70 to change its conformation and fold proteins.³⁹ Hsp40 and some nucleotide exchange factors (NEFs) directly bind to the NBD and assist Hsp70 in carrying out its chaperone function. NEFs are proteins that stimulate the exchange of ADP for ATP bound to Hsp70, which is necessary for the functional cycle of Hsp70.⁴⁰ The 28 kDa SBD contains the substrate binding pocket and a C-terminal lid (CTL).³⁸ The CTL is approximately 3 kDa, with the rest of the SBD binding pocket comprised of the remaining 25 kDa.

Several types of co-chaperones bind to Hsp70, with TPR-containing cochaperones being perhaps the most important..⁴¹ The tetratrico-peptide repeat (TPR) domains contain at least two TPR motifs, which are ~34 amino acids repeated and form two anti-parallel α -helices.⁴² The TPR-containing co-chaperones include HOP and Cterminus of Hsc70-interacting protein (CHIP), which directly interact with C-terminal lid of Hsp70.⁴³ The major function of the TPR-containing co-chaperones is to tripper Hsp70 to perform a specific function that is designated by the specific TPR-containing cochaperone that is forming a complex (**Figure 1.4**).⁴⁴



Figure 1.4: (a)The Figure was adapted from Bertelsen et al.³⁷ The crystal structure of the E.coli Hsp70 protein (Dank). (b) A schematic representation the structure of Hsp70 and the interactions of Hsp70 with HOP

HOP is the TPR co-chaperone that binds to Hsp70 and regulates its protein folding function (**Figure 1.4**).⁴⁵ Hsp70 binds to HOP via its C-terminal IEEVD motif,⁴⁶ which is the last five amino acids located on the CTL. IEEVD stands for the single letter code of the following residues: Isoleucine – Glutamic acid – Glutamic acid – Valine – Aspartic acid. This IEEVD motif is highly conserved among all Hsp70 isoforms (**Figure 1.4b**).⁴⁴

1.3 Hsp70 and HOP interaction

1.31 HOP and TPR1

HOP is one of the most well-studied TPR-containing co-chaperones of Hsp70. HOP, also known as Stress-induced Phosphoprotein 1 (STIP1) is 60 KDa in size and contains 477 amino acids in total. As one of the major co-chaperone of heat shock protein family, HOP is composed of three distinct tetratrico-peptide repeat (TPR) domains TPR1, TPR2A and TPR2B (**Figure 1.5**).⁴³



Figure 1.5 Schematic of the HOP and the crystal structure of the TPR1 domain

Each TPR domain contains at least three tandem-repeat TPR motifs. A TPR motif is a ~34 amino acid sequence that forms two anti-parallel α -helices, and a TPR domain is where 3 of these motifs, ie. 3 x 34 amino acids = 6~7 helices, are repeated to form the domain.⁴² There is sequence diversity between TPR motifs within a domain.⁴⁷ The TPR motif was first reported in yeast (1990) as a protein-protein interaction module involved in cell cycle.⁴⁸ The TPR motifs sit at regular angles and form a groove with a large surface area that allows proteins to bind to that region.⁴³ The TPR1 domain from HOP, contains 7 helices that consists of 3 TPR motifs and forms a cradle-shaped binding pocket (**Figure 1.5**).⁴⁹

1.32 Hsp70-HOP interaction

HOP acts as a scaffolding protein, mediating the interaction of the molecular chaperones Hsp70 and Hsp90.⁵⁰ Specifically, the TPR1 domain of HOP binds to the C-terminal motif of Hsp70 and the TPR2A domain binds to the Hsp90 (**Figure 1.6**). Through the direct interaction at the C-terminus of Hsp70 and Hsp90, HOP is able to bind to Hsp70 and Hsp90 simultaneously allowing Hsp70 to transfer proteins to Hsp90 for completion of the protein folding complex (**Figure 1.6**). This transfer process is not only responsible for folding the newly formed peptides to their native state but also for refolding damaged proteins during cellular stress and in cancer. ²⁷



Figure 1.6 The Hsp70-HOP-Hsp90 complex facilitates the transfer of unfolded proteins from Hsp70 to Hsp90 for folding. The C-terminus of Hsp70 binds to the TPR1 domain of HOP and the C-terminal domain of Hsp90 binds to the TPR2A domain.

Under the physiological condition, the binding between Hsp70 and HOP is relatively weak in order to allow for the dynamic assemble of the Hsp70-HOP-Hsp90 complex. ATP hydrolysis and the conformational changes of Hsp70 is critical for assembly and disassembly of Hsp70-HOP-Hsp90 complex. When Hsp70 is bound to ATP in the open conformation (**Figure 1.7**), the binding affinity between Hsp70 and HOP is low (Kd = 1.3μ M).⁴⁹ When the ATP is hydrolysed to ADP, the C-terminal lid of Hsp70 closes and the client protein is locked in the substrate binding domain, where this complex of Hsp70-

substrate binds more tightly to HOP than without the substrate . When ADP is released from Hsp70, and ATP binds again, Hsp70 forms an open conformation and releases the client protein to Hsp90^{21,51} During the changing of Hsp70's different conformations, the association and dissociation of Hsp70-HOP-Hsp90 complex also dynamically switches over.⁴⁹ In order for oncogenic proteins to be utilised by cancer cells, they must be correctly folded in to their native state, which requires Hsp70 to pick them up and transfer them via the Hsp70, Hsp90 and HOP complex (**Figure 1.6-7**).⁵² Thus, the Hsp70-HOP interaction is likely a good target to inhibit, as this interaction specifically enables cancer cell growth.



Figure 1.7 The functional cycle and conformational changes of Hsp70

1.4 A novel strategy for inhibiting function of Hsp70

1.41 Hsp70's Inhibitors

Currently, there are more than 20 molecules that have been reported to inhibit Hsp70. More than half of them interact with the NBD, seven interact with the SBD and the remaining compounds' binding sites are unknown.^{53, 54} Although Hsp70 is a promising target for several serious diseases such as cancer, to date there have been no Hsp70 inhibitors that have gone through clinical trials.⁵⁵⁻⁵⁷ The lack of Hsp70 inhibitors in the clinic is related to the fact that all Hsp70 inhibitors reported to date are either non-selective and target multiple proteins in the cell, or are highly toxic, likely the result of a non-specific mechanism. Thus, there is a need to develop highly selective Hsp70 inhibitors.



Figure 1.8: Structures of published Hsp70 inhibitors. VER-155008 is an ATP analogue targeting the NBD of Hsp70. YK-5 binds to the NBD and blocks interactions of Hsp70 with HOP. PES is an allosteric inhibitor that targets the SBD of Hsp70. 15-DSG interacts to the C-terminus of Hsp70 and impact with ATPase activity.

Most published molecules act on the NBD of Hsp70. These molecules bind to an allosteric site on NBD or the ATP binding site of Hsp70 and inhibit protein-folding function of Hsp70.⁵⁸⁻⁶¹ VER -155008 is one of the most well studied Hsp70 inhibitors (**Figure 1.8**)., and is an ATP analogue that acts as competitive inhibitor for the ATP

binding site, and therefore inhibits the essential ATPase activity of Hsp70 and blocks ATP/ADP nucleotide binding/exchange.³⁷ VER -155008 prevents proliferation in multiple cancer cell lines,⁶⁰ but has a low bioavailability as it is rapidly degraded *in vivo*.⁴⁴ This molecule also binds to Hsp90 and produces a heat shock response in the cells, making it unsuitable as a cancer therapeutic.⁶² The heat shock response (HSR), is a classic cellular response when stress threatens the cell, this response produces an increase in multiple proteins that protect the cell and induce resistance, making chemotherapeutics that produce this effect problematic^{63,64}

YK-5 is another well studied inhibitor (**Figure 1.8**) that binds to the NBD of Hsp70. Evidence indicates that YK-5 allosterically disrupts the interaction between Hsp70 and HOP, which prevents their interaction with Hsp90 and subsequently leads to apoptosis.⁶⁵ Although it could bind to Hsp70 in the biochemical setting assay, it also binds to other proteins producing a non-specific effect in a cellular setting. It is a good example of inhibiting protein's function through protein-protein interaction, but poor selectivity has limited its pharmaceutical development.⁶⁶

2-phenylethynesulfonamide (PES), as well as its derivative PES-Cl (**Figure 1.8**) bind to the SBD of Hsp70, however its small size already suggests there will be a lack of selectivity for Hsp70. In a biochemical setting, PES allosterically reduces the degree of interaction between HSP70 and its co-chaperones Hsp40, C-terminus of Hsp70 Interacting Protein (CHIP) and BAG-1. ^{65, 67} PES also induces apoptosis in cancer cells and it is suggested this is a result of its ability to inhibit Hsp70 function, although this has not been proven.⁶⁸

Only one compound, 15-deoxyspergualin (15-DSG) binds to the EEVD region at Cterminus of Hsp70 and inhibits its ATPase activity (**Figure 1.8**).⁶⁹ Despite binding to the C-terminus of Hsp70, its impact on TPR co-chaperones has not been investigated. However, 15-DSG also binds to other cellular targets including Hsp90, suggesting that it acts via multiple mechanisms in the cell.³⁹ It is ineffective when tested in the animal models because has a very low bioavailability and is unstable in aqueous solution.⁴¹ Thus, modulating Hsp70's C-terminus has not yet been accomplished effectively despite the promising phenotype observed when using siRNA knockdown studies against Hsp70.

1.42 Targeting PPIs as a promising approach

Protein-protein interactions (PPIs) control the association and dissociation of multiprotein complexes and co-regulate the dynamic signalling pathways that govern basic activities of cells and allows them to function accurately.^{37, 70-75} Modulating PPIs is becoming a highly selective and specific approach for both drug discovery and for developing a mechanistic understanding of cellular processes.

Despite the advances made in understanding of pathology about cancer, it remains a leading cause of death, with more than 7 million deaths per year worldwide. The poor selectivity of normal drugs used in chemotherapy results in high toxicity to normal tissues and this toxicity triggers cell protection mechanisms including the heat shock response, which leads to drug resistance. Hence, new cancer therapies should aim to inhibit specific proteins that are involved in vital pathways relevant to cancer.⁷⁶ PPIs play a key role in individual pathways, and as such selectively targeting a specific PPI is a promising therapeutic approach for cancer, likely to eliminate off-target effects and lower chemotherapeutic resistance.⁷⁷

Developing molecules that modulate PPIs has been a significant challenge and there has been little success relative to the high production of molecules regulating ATP binding events.^{70, 73, 77} There are several well-described challenges to targeting PPIs. First,

proteins typically interact with other proteins via a relatively large contact surface area (1150–10000Å), which is much larger than the contact area between small molecules and proteins (100–600Å).⁷⁷ PPIs usually lack clear grooves or deep binding pockets at their interaction surface, rather a series of weak interactions across a large surface results in a high binding specificity and affinity.⁷⁰ Given these challenges, appropriate design strategies for molecules that can block these large shallow surfaces are limited. High throughput evaluation methods using small molecule libraries are unable to identify druggable molecules that effectively target PPIs.⁷⁸ New strategies are required to produce molecules that will block these surfaces, and one such approach is explored in this thesis, targeting the Hsp70-HOP interface.

1.43 Peptides Drug Development

Roughly 100 peptide therapeutics are evaluated in clinical trials each year. The global peptide drug market is predicted to increase from \$21 billion in 2015 to \$46.6 billion in 2024,⁷⁸ with the increase in revenue forecast to come from the development of new peptide drugs.⁷⁹ Peptides are uniquely suited for inhibiting protein-protein interactions.⁷⁹ Compared with small molecules or antibody therapies, peptide-based drugs have many advantages and their effectiveness is attributed to several characteristics: 1) stereochemistry every 3 atoms on the backbone, which produces unique 3D structures and offers high selectivity against a specific protein surface⁸⁰ 2) peptides have low toxicity since they are not accumulated in the body and they are biocompatible lowering the possibility of an elicit immune response compared to antibody therapies.^{81 78}, ⁸² 3) peptides typically have a large surface area, which is ideal for blocking proteins from interacting.⁸³ 4) Peptides are also relatively straightforward to synthesize and modify, with some variants able to penetrate tumor cells easily.⁸⁴

15

Cyclic peptides present significantly improvement of binding affinity relative to their linear counterparts because they have all the advantages of linear peptides but also have restricted conformational flexibility. The restricted movement means that they have decreased initial entropy and upon binding they will have a higher binding affinity relative to a linear peptide with the same structure. However, the disadvantage is that cyclic peptides may be restricted into a single conformation that cannot bind to the protein surface, making it ineffective, when the linear peptide can still successfully bind. Cyclic peptides no longer have free N and C terminus, making them less chemically inert and better cell membrane permeability properties compared to their linear counterparts.⁸⁵ However, because linear molecules have more flexibility they have greater potential to mold themselves to the targeted shallow protein surface, and adopt a suitable conformation. In summary, peptides are good drug-like candidates, therapeutic agents and biochemical tools.⁸⁶

1.44 Peptides synthesis

Many strategies and reagents are used to synthesize peptide molecules. Solid phase peptide synthesis (SPPS) was used in this project. SPPS is a method of synthesizing peptide that uses solid supports such as polystyrene. SPPS allows the peptides to be created in a rapid, cheap way and it is easy to remove by-products and excess reagents.⁸⁷


Figure 1.9 PS-1% DVB resin with a CTC linker and attached desired peptide

SPPS generate the peptide chain by a series of sequential coupling reactions started at the C-terminus of the peptide. A 2-chlorotrityl-chloride(CTC) linked with 1 % DVB crosslinked resin was used and gave this synthesis a solid support (**Figure 1.9**). This PS-DVB resin is now the most commonly used support for SPPS. The CTC linker allows peptides to be cleaved using mild condition. (50% trifluoroethanol in CH_2Cl_2), which does not affect protecting groups used on sidechains. Thus, SPPS performed in this thesis utilized CTC resin as linker to link the resin and the first amino acid residue and further to generate desired peptides (**Figure 1.9**)



Figure 1.10: Structure of coupling agents, HOAt and DIC.

There are a number of standard coupling agents used for solid-phase peptide synthesis. This synthesis used 1-hydroxy-7-azabenzotriazole (HOAt) as a primary coupling agent (**Figure 1.10**), because it is very effective and prevents racemisation from occurring. High coupling efficiency of HOAt is due to the neighbouring group effect of the pyridine nitrogen located at the aromatic system, which could activates the amine to couple to the acid. Diisopropylcarbodiimide (DIC) was also used to activate the carboxylic acid of the Fmoc-protected amino acids. Adding HOAt to DIC produces a benzotriazoyl ester, which is less reactive than the O-acylisourea intermediate for acid activation. Thus, using HOAt with the DIC, reduces racemization of the protected amino acid (**Scheme 1.1**). Deprotection of the amine in Fmoc-protected amino acids was done in the presence of a nucleophilic base, in this case 20 % piperidine in DMF.



Scheme 1. 1: Mechanism of coupling reaction using DIC and HOAt

After sequences finished, peptides were cleaved from resin under mild condition (50% trifluoroethanol in CH₂Cl₂). The linear peptide then can be cyclised by joining its 'head' and 'tail' terminus to produce a macrocycle (**Figure 1.11**). In this project, protecting groups have been kept to ensure only head to tail macrocycles are generated.



Figure 1.11: Macrocyclization strategies

Cyclisation of peptides shorter than 5 amino acids can be difficult as the peptide must undergo a conformational folding with high entropic cost.⁸⁸ The McAlpine group has well established procedures for cyclisation of short chain peptides,⁶⁴ using coupling agents O-(7-Azabenzotriazol-1-yl)-N,N,N',N' -tetramethyluronoium hexafluorphosphate (HATU), O-(Benzotriazol-1-yl) -N,N,N',N' - tetram- ethyluronium tetrafluoroborate (TBTU), and 4-(4,6-Dimethoxy-1,3,5-triazin-2-yl)-4-methylmorpholinium chloride (DMTMM) (**Figure 1.12**).⁸⁹ The N,N -Diisopropylethylamine (DIPEA) was added as base. The reaction was running under very dilute conditions in CH₂Cl₂.



Figure 1. 12: Structure of coupling agents, HATU, TBTU and DMTMM

1.45 The TPR mimics

Work done by Kawakami and co-workers in 2011, showed that the interaction between Hsp90 and HOP could be inhibited using a peptide sequence derived from HOP that binds to Hsp90.⁹⁰ This was an excellent demonstration of concept that a sequence from HOP can be used to inhibit PPIs between the chaperone Hsp90 and the co-chaperone HOP. Buckton et al, extended this work and made smaller peptides (5 – 8 amino acids in length) based on Kawakami's sequence.⁹¹ The most potent inhibitor generated was a five amino acid cyclic peptide, which disrupted the interaction between Hsp90 and the co-chaperone CYP40 (**Figure 1.13**).⁹¹ This work showed that a small peptide containing only five amino acids still contains bio-activity from larger molecule and could be used to disrupt the binding of co-chaperones to chaperones and inhibit their functions.



Figure 1.13 : A cyclic pentapeptide was synthesised base on the TPR peptide made by Kawakami and Co,⁹⁰ and identified as the hit.⁹¹

1.5 Project aim



Figure 1.14: Design and strategy. A small molecule designed from the TPR1 domain of HOP can be used to prevent the folding function of Hsp70. Hsp70 interacts with three of the seven helices in the TPR1 domain of HOP, these three helices were used as a design scaffold for the first generation Hsp70 inhibitors.

In this project, the author implemented Buckton's strategy on designing Hsp70 modulators.⁹¹ Based on X-ray crystallography,⁹² three helices from the HOP TPR1 domain interacted with Hsp70: Helices A, B and C (**Figure 1.14**). With this knowledge, the author and colleagues designed molecules starting from these three helices in the TPR1 domain, with the aim of producing an inhibitor that would block the transfer of

partially folded protein from Hsp70 to Hsp90. This thesis outlines the synthesis of molecules that were based on these three helices and their subsequent evaluation in biochemical binding assays and functional assays in order to assess the compounds' ability to modulate the PPI between Hsp70 and HOP.

1.6 Reference

1. Oskay, H. S.; Halacli, B.; Altundag, K., The significance of heat shock proteins in breast cancer therapy. *Med. Oncol.* **2013**, *30*, 575-580.

2. Ritossa, F., A new puffing pattern induced by temperature shock and DNP in drosophila. *Experientia* **1962**, *18*, 571-573.

3. Whitesell, L.; Lindquist, S. L., HSP90 and the chaperoning of cancer. *Nat Rev Cancer* **2005**, *5*, 761-772.

4. Eletto, D.; Maganty, A.; Dersh, D.; Makarewich, C.; Biswas, C.; Paton, J. C.; Paton, A. W.; Doroudgar, S.; Glembotski, C. C.; Argon, Y., Limitation of individual folding resources in the ER leads to outcomes distinct from the unfolded protein response. *J Cell Sci* **2012**.

5. Chiti, F.; Dobson, C. M., Protein misfolding, functional amyloid, and human disease. *Annu. Rev. Biochem.* **2006**, *75*, 333-366.

6. Agostinis, P.; Berg, K.; Cengel Keith, A.; Foster Thomas, H.; Girotti Albert, W.; Gollnick Sandra, O.; Hahn Stephen, M.; Hamblin Michael, R.; Juzeniene, A.; Kessel, D.; Korbelik, M.; Moan, J.; Mroz, P.; Nowis, D.; Piette, J.; Wilson Brian, C.; Golab, J., Photodynamic therapy of cancer: An update. *CA: A Cancer Journal for Clinicians* **2011**, *61*, 250-281.

7. Sreedhar, A. S.; Csermely, P., Heat shock proteins in the regulation of apoptosis: new strategies in tumor therapy: a comprehensive review. *Pharmacol Ther* **2004**, *101*, 227-57.

8. Li, Z.; Srivastava, P., Heat-Shock Proteins. *Current Protocols in Immunology* **2004**, *58*, A.1T.1-A.1T.6.

9. Mayer, M. P., Recruitment of Hsp70 chaperones: a crucial part of viral survival strategies. In *Reviews of Physiology, Biochemistry and Pharmacology*, Springer Berlin Heidelberg: Berlin, Heidelberg, 2005; pp 1-46.

10. Neckers, L., Heat shock protein 90: the cancer chaperone. J. Biosci. 2007, 32, 517-30.

11. Riggs, D. L.; Cox, M. B.; Cheung-Flynn, J.; Prapapanich, V.; Carrigan, P. E.; Smith, D. F., Functional Specificity of Co-Chaperone Interactions with Hsp90 Client Proteins. *Crit. Rev. Biochem. Mol. Biol.* **2004**, *39*, 279-295.

12. Beere, H. M.; Wolf, B. B.; Cain, K.; Mosser, D. D.; Mahboubi, A.; Kuwana, T.; Tailor, P.; Morimoto, R. I.; Cohen, G. M.; Green, D. R., Heat-shock protein 70 inhibits apoptosis by preventing recruitment of procaspase-9 to the Apaf-1 apoptosome. *Nat. Cell Biol.* **2000**, *2*, 469-475.

13. Zeng, X. C., Bhasin, S., Wu, X., Lee, J. G., Maffi, S. Nicols, C. J., Lee, K. J., Taylor, J. P., Green, L. E., Eisenberg, E., Hsp70 dynamics in vivo: effect of heat shock

and protein aggregation. J. Cell Sci. 2004, 117, 4991-5000.

14. Rérole, A. L.; Jego, G.; Garrido, C., Hsp70: anti-apoptotic and tumorigenic protein. *Methods Mol Biol* **2011**, *787*, 205-30.

15. Faught, E.; Henrickson, L.; Vijayan, M. M., Plasma exosomes are enriched in Hsp70 and modulated by stress and cortisol in rainbow trout. *Journal of Endocrinology* **2017**, *232*, 237-246.

16. Goloudina, A. R.; Demidov, O. N.; Garrido, C., Inhibition of HSP70: a challenging anti-cancer strategy. *Cancer Lett* **2012**, *325*, 117-24.

17. Fong, J. J.; Sreedhara, K.; Deng, L.; Varki, N. M.; Angata, T.; Liu, Q.; Nizet, V.; Varki, A., Immunomodulatory activity of extracellular Hsp70 mediated via paired receptors Siglec - 5 and Siglec - 14. *The EMBO Journal* **2015**, *34*, 2775-2788.

18. Vega, V. L.; Rodríguez-Silva, M.; Frey, T.; Gehrmann, M.; Diaz, J. C.; Steinem, C.; Multhoff, G.; Arispe, N.; De Maio, A., Hsp70 Translocates into the Plasma Membrane after Stress and Is Released into the Extracellular Environment in a Membrane-Associated Form that Activates Macrophages. *The Journal of Immunology* **2008**, *180*, 4299.

19. Zhang, L.; Fok, J. J. L.; Mirabella, F.; Aronson, L. I.; Fryer, R. A.; Workman, P.; Morgan, G. J.; Davies, F. E., Hsp70 inhibition induces myeloma cell death via the intracellular accumulation of immunoglobulin and the generation of proteotoxic stress. *Cancer Letters* **2013**, *339*, 49-59.

20. Carrigan, P. E.; Nelson, G. M.; Roberts, P. J.; Stoffer, J. N.; Riggs, D. L.; Smith, D. F., Multiple Domains of the Co-chaperone Hop Are Important for Hsp70 Binding. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* **2004**, *279*, 16185-16193.

21. Hartl, F. U., Bracher, A., Hayer-Hartl, M., Molecular chaperones in protein folding and proteostasis. *Nature* **2011**, *475*, 324-332.

 Freilich, R.; Arhar, T.; Abrams, J. L.; Gestwicki, J. E., Protein–Protein Interactions in the Molecular Chaperone Network. *Accounts of Chemical Research* 2018, *51*, 940-949.
 Wang, X.; Chen, M.; Zhou, J.; Zhang, X., Hsp27, 70, and 90, anti-apoptotic

proteins in clincial cancer therapy. *Intl. J. Onco.* **2014**, *45*, 18-30.

24. Lee, J.; Kim, J.-H.; Biter, A. B.; Sielaff, B.; Lee, S.; Tsai, F. T. F., Heat shock protein (Hsp) 70 is an activator of the Hsp104 motor. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* **2013**, *110*, 8513.

25. Hsp60 and Hsp70 Chaperones: Guardians of Mitochondrial Proteostasis. In *eLS*.

Greene, M. K.; Maskos, K.; Landry, S. J., Role of the J-domain in the cooperation of Hsp40 with Hsp70. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 1998, *95*, 6108.
Chen, S.; Smith, D. F., Hop as an Adaptor in the Heat Shock Protein 70 (Hsp70) and Hsp90 Chaperone Machinery. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 1998, *273*, 35194-35200.

28. Muller, P.; Ruckova, R.; Halada, P.; Coates, P. J.; Hrstka, R.; Lane, D. P.; Vojtesek, B., C-terminal phosphorylation of hsp70 and hsp90 regulates alternate binding to cochaperones CHIP and HOP to determine cellular protein folding/degradation balances. *Oncogene.* **2013**, *32*, 3101-3110.

29. Lackie, R. E.; Maciejewski, A.; Ostapchenko, V. G.; Marques-Lopes, J.; Choy, W.-Y.; Duennwald, M. L.; Prado, V. F.; Prado, M. A. M., The Hsp70/Hsp90 Chaperone Machinery in Neurodegenerative Diseases. *Frontiers in Neuroscience* **2017**, *11*.

30. Li, X.; Colvin, T.; Rauch, J. N.; Acosta-Alvear, D.; Kampmann, M.; Dunyak, B.; Hann, B.; Aftab, B. T.; Murnane, M.; Cho, M.; Walter, P.; Weissman, J. S.; Sherman, M. Y.; Gestwicki, J. E., Validation of the Hsp70-Bag3 protein-protein interaction as a potential therapeutic target in cancer. *Mol. Cancer Ther.* **2015**, *14*, 642-648.

31. Leu, J. I.; Pimkina, J.; Pandey, P.; Murphy, M. E.; George, D. L., HSP70 inhibition

by the small-molecule 2-phenylethynesulfonamide impairs protein clearance pathways in tumor cells. *Mol Cancer Res* **2011**, *9*, 936-47.

32. Dobbelstein, M.; Moll, U., Targeting tumour-supportive cellular machineries in anticancer drug development. *Nature Reviews Drug Discovery* **2014**, *13*, 179.

33. Kumar, S.; Stokes, J.; Singh, U. P.; Gunn, K. S.; Acharya, A.; Manne, U.; Mishra, M., Targeting Hsp70: a possible therapy for cancer. *Cancer Lett* **2016**, *374*, 156-166.

34. Yaglom, J. A.; Gabai, V. L.; Sherman, M. Y., High Levels of Heat Shock Protein Hsp72 in Cancer Cells Suppress Default Senescence Pathways. *Cancer Research* **2007**, *67*, 2373.

35. Powers, M. V.; Clarke, P. A.; Workman, P., Dual Targeting of HSC70 and HSP72 Inhibits HSP90 Function and Induces Tumor-Specific Apoptosis. *Cancer Cell* **2008**, *14*, 250-262.

36. Daniels, G. A.; Sanchez-Perez, L.; Diaz, R. M.; Kottke, T.; Thompson, J.; Lai, M.; Gough, M.; Karim, M.; Bushell, A.; Chong, H.; Melcher, A.; Harrington, K.; Vile, R. G., A simple method to cure established tumors by inflammatory killing of normal cells. *Nature Biotechnology* **2004**, *22*, 1125.

37. Wisen, S.; Bertelsen, E. B.; Thompson, A. D.; Patury, S.; Peter Ung; Chang, L.; Evans, C. G.; Walter, G. M.; Wipf, P.; Carlson, H. A.; Brodsky, J. L.; Zuiderweg, E. R. P.; Gestwicki., J. E., Binding of a small molecule at a protein-protein interface regulates the chaperone activity of hsp70-hsp40. *Acs Chem. Bio.*). **2010**, *5*, 6-15.

38. Sharma, D.; Masison, D. C., Hsp70 Structure, Function, Regulation and Influence on Yeast Prions. *Protein and peptide letters* **2009**, *16*, 571-581.

39. Fewell, S. W.; Smith, C. M.; Lyon, M. A.; Dumitrescu, T. P.; Wipf, P.; Day, B. W.; Brodsky, J. L., Small molecule modulators of endogenous and co-chaperone-stimulated Hsp70 ATPase activity. *J Biol Chem* **2004**, *279*, 51131-40.

40. Li, X.; Colvin, T.; Rauch, J. N.; Acosta-Alvear, D.; Kampmann, M.; Dunyak, B.; Hann, B.; Aftab, B. T.; Murnane, M.; Cho, M.; Walter, P.; Weissman, J. S.; Sherman, M. Y.; Gestwicki, J. E., Validation of the Hsp70–Bag3 Protein–Protein Interaction as a Potential Therapeutic Target in Cancer. *Molecular Cancer Therapeutics* **2015**, *14*, 642.

41. Patury, S.; Miyata, Y.; Gestwicki, J. E., Pharmacological Targeting of the Hsp70 Chaperone. *Current topics in medicinal chemistry* **2009**, *9*, 1337-1351.

42. Blatch, G. L.; Lassle, M., The tetratricopeptide repeat: a structural motif mediating protein-protein interactions. *BioEssays* **1999**, *21*, 932-939.

43. Scheufler, C.; Brinker, A.; Bourenkov, G.; Pegoraro, S.; Moroder, L.; Bartunik, H.; Hartl, F. U.; Moarefi, I., Structure of TPR domain-peptide complexes: critical elements in the assembly of the Hsp70-Hsp90 multichaperone machine. *Cell* **2000**, *101*, 199-210.

44. Radons, J., The human HSP70 family of chaperones: where do we stand? *Cell Stress & Chaperones* **2016**, *21*, 379-404.

45. Gobbo, J.; Gaucher-Di-Stasio, C.; Weidmann, S.; Guzzo, J.; Garrido, C., Quantification of HSP27 and HSP70 molecular chaperone activities. *Methods Mol Biol* **2011**, *787*, 137-43.

46. Muller, P.; Ruckova, R.; Halada, P.; Coates, P. J.; Hrstka, R.; Lane, D. P.; Vojtesek, B., C-terminal phosphorylation of hsp70 and hsp90 regulates alternate binding to cochaperones CHIP and HOP to determine cellular protein folding/degradation balances. *Oncogene.* **2013**, *32*, 3101-3110.

47. Blatch Gregory, L.; Lässle, M., The tetratricopeptide repeat: a structural motif mediating protein - protein interactions. *BioEssays* **1999**, *21*, 932-939.

48. Sikorski, R. S.; Boguski, M. S.; Goebl, M.; Hieter, P., A repeating amino acid motif in CDC23 defines a family of proteins and a new relationship among genes required

for mitosis and RNA synthesis. Cell 1990, 60, 307-317.

49. Hernández, M. P.; Sullivan, W. P.; Toft, D. O., The assembly and intermolecular properties of the hsp70-Hop-hsp90 molecular chaperone complex. *J Biol Chem* **2002**, *277*, 38294-304.

50. Daniel, S.; Bradley, G.; Longshaw, V. M.; Söti, C.; Csermely, P.; Blatch, G. L., Nuclear translocation of the phosphoprotein Hop (Hsp70/Hsp90 organizing protein) occurs under heat shock, and its proposed nuclear localization signal is involved in Hsp90 binding. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Molecular Cell Research* **2008**, *1783*, 1003-1014.

51. Wegele, H.; Wandinger, S. K.; Schmid, A. B.; Reinstein, J.; Buchner, J., Substrate transfer from the chaperone Hsp70 to Hsp90. *J Mol Biol* **2006**, *356*, 802-11.

52. Southworth, D. R.; Agard, D. A., Client loading conformation of the Hsp90 molecular chaperone revealed in the Cryo-EM structure of the human Hsp90:HOP complex. *Mol. Cell* **2011**, *42*, 771-781.

53. Proisy, N.; Sharp, S. Y.; Boxall, K.; Connelly, S.; Roe, S. M.; Prodromou, C.; Slawin, A. M.; Pearl, L. H.; Workman, P.; Moody, C. J., Inhibition of Hsp90 with synthetic macrolactones: synthesis and structural and biological evaluation of ring and conformational analogs of radicicol. *Chem. Biol.* **2006**, *13*, 1203-15.

54. Whetstone, H.; Lingwood, C., 3'Sulfogalactolipid binding specifically inhibits Hsp70 ATPase activity in vitro. *Biochemistry* **2003**, *42*, 1611-7.

55. Balaburski, G. M.; Leu, J. I. J.; Beeharry, N.; Hayik, S.; Andrake, M. D.; Zhang, G.; Herlyn, M.; Villanueva, J.; Dunbrack, R. L.; Yen, T.; George, D. L.; Murphy, M. E., A Modified HSP70 Inhibitor Shows Broad Activity as an Anticancer Agent. *Molecular Cancer Research* **2013**, *11*, 219.

56. Rodina, A.; Taldone, T.; Kang, Y.; Patel, P. D.; Koren, J.; Yan, P.; DaGama Gomes, E. M.; Yang, C.; Patel, M. R.; Shrestha, L.; Ochiana, S. O.; Santarossa, C.; Maharaj, R.; Gozman, A.; Cox, M. B.; Erdjument-Bromage, H.; Hendrickson, R. C.; Cerchietti, L.; Melnick, A.; Guzman, M. L.; Chiosis, G., Affinity Purification Probes of Potential Use To Investigate the Endogenous Hsp70 Interactome in Cancer. *ACS Chemical Biology* **2014**, *9*, 1698-1705.

57. Massey, A. J.; Williamson, D. S.; Browne, H.; Murray, J. B.; Dokurno, P.; Shaw, T.; Macias, A. T.; Daniels, Z.; Geoffroy, S.; Dopson, M.; Lavan, P.; Matassova, N.; Francis, G. L.; Graham, C. J.; Parsons, R.; Wang, Y.; Padfield, A.; Comer, M.; Drysdale, M. J.; Wood, M., A novel, small molecule inhibitor of Hsc70/Hsp70 potentiates Hsp90 inhibitor induced apoptosis in HCT116 colon carcinoma cells. *Cancer Chemother. Pharmacol.* **2010**, *66*, 535-545.

58. Fewell, S. W.; Day, B. W.; Brodsky, J. L., Identification of an inhibitor of hsc70mediated protein translocation and ATP hydrolysis. *J. Biol. Chem.* **2001**, *276*, 910-914.

59. Li, X.; Srinivasan, S. R.; Connarn, J.; Ahmad, A.; Young, Z. T.; Kabza, A. M.; Zuiderweg, E. R. P.; Sun, D.; Gestwicki, J. E., Analogues of the Allosteric Heat Shock Protein 70 (Hsp70) Inhibitor, MKT-077, As Anti-Cancer Agents. *ACS Med. Chem.Lett.* **2013**, *4*, 1042-1047.

60. Williamson, D. S.; Borgognoni, J.; Clay, A.; Daniels, Z.; Dokurno, P.; Drysdale, M. J.; Foloppe, N.; Francis, G. L.; Graham, C. J.; Howes, R., Novel adenosine-derived inhibitors of 70 kDa heat shock protein, discovered through structure-based design. *J. Med. Chem.* **2009**, *52*, 1510-1513.

61. Schlecht, R.; Scholz, S. R.; Dahmen, H.; Wegener, A.; Sirrenberg, C.; Musil, D.; Bomke, J.; Eggenweiler, H.-M.; Mayer, M. P.; Bukau, B., Functional Analysis of Hsp70 Inhibitors. *PLoS ONE* **2013**, *8*, e78443.

62. Sharp, S. Y.; Prodromou, C.; Boxall, K.; Powers, M. V.; Holmes, J. L.; Box, G.;

Matthews, T. P.; Cheung, K. M.; Kalusa, A.; James, K.; Hayes, A.; Hardcastle, A.; Dymock, B.; Brough, P. A.; Barril, X.; Cansfield, J. E.; Wright, L.; Surgenor, A.; Foloppe, N.; Hubbard, R. E.; Aherne, W.; Pearl, L.; Jones, K.; McDonald, E.; Raynaud, F.; Eccles, S.; Drysdale, M.; Workman, P., Inhibition of the heat shock protein 90 molecular chaperone in vitro and in vivo by novel, synthetic, potent resorcinylic pyrazole/isoxazole amide analogues. *Mol Cancer Ther.* **2007**, *6*, 1198-1211.

63. Shamovsky, I.; Nudler, E., New insights into the mechanism of heat shock response activation. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences* **2008**, *65*, 855-861.

64. Koay, Y. C.; McConnell, J. R.; Wang, Y.; Kim, S. J.; McAlpine, S. R., Chemically accessible Hsp90 inhibitor that does not induce a heat shock response. *ACS Med. Chem. Lett.* **2014**, *5*, 771-776.

65. Rodina, A.; Patel, P. D.; Kang, Y.; Patel, Y.; Baaklini, I.; Wong, M. J. H.; Taldone, T.; Yan, P.; Yang, C.; Maharaj, R.; Gozman, A.; Patel, M. R.; Patel, H. J.; Chirico, W.; Erdjument-Bromage, H.; Talele, T. T.; Young, J. C.; Chiosis, G., Identification of an Allosteric Pocket on Human Hsp70 Reveals a Mode of Inhibition of This Therapeutically Important Protein. *Chem. biol.* **2013**, *20*, 1469-1480.

66. Moscicki, R. A.; Tandon, P. K., Drug-Development Challenges for Small Biopharmaceutical Companies. *New England Journal of Medicine* **2017**, *376*, 469-474.

67. Leu, J. I. J.; Pimkina, J.; Frank, A.; Murphy, M. E.; George, D. L., A Small Molecule Inhibitor of Inducible Heat Shock Protein 70 (HSP70). *Molecular cell* **2009**, *36*, 15-27.

68. Powers, M. V.; Jones, K.; Barillari, C.; Westwood, I.; Montfort, R. L. M. v.; Workman, P., Targeting HSP70: The second potentially druggable heat shock protein and molecular chaperone? *Cell Cycle*. **2010**, *9*, 1542-1550.

69. Dhingra, K.; Fritsche, H.; Murray, J. L.; LoBuglio, A. F.; Khazaeli, M.; Kelley, S.; Tepper, M. A.; Grasela, D.; Buzdar, A.; Valero, V., Phase I clinical and pharmacological study of suppression of human antimouse antibody response to monoclonal antibody L6 by deoxyspergualin. *Cancer Res.* **1995**, *55*, 3060-3067.

70. Smith, M. C.; Gestwicki, J. E., Features of protein-protein interactions that translate into potent inhibitors: topology, surface area and affinity. *Expert reviews in molecular medicine* **2012**, *14*.

71. Aeluri, M.; Chamakuri, S.; Dasari, B.; Guduru, S. K. R.; Jimmidi, R.; Jogula, S.; Arya, P., Small molecule modulators of protein–protein interactions: selected case studies. *Chemical reviews* **2014**, *114*, 4640-4694.

72. Watkins, A. M.; Bonneau, R.; Arora, P. S., Modeling and Design of Peptidomimetics to Modulate Protein–Protein Interactions. In *Methods in Molecular Biology*, Ora Schueler-Furman and Nir London (eds.), Ed.: Springer Science+Business Media LLC 2017, 2017; Vol. vol. 1561, pp DOI 10.1007/978-1-4939-6798-8_17.

73. Cesa, L. C.; Mapp, A. K.; Gestwicki, J. E., Direct and propagated effects of small molecules on protein–protein interaction networks. *Frontiers in Bioeng. and Biotech.* **2015**, *3*, doi: 10.3389/fbioe.2015.00119.

74. Taylor, I. R.; Dunyak, B. M.; Komiyama, T.; Shao, H.; Ran, X.; Assimon, V. A.; Kalyanaraman, C.; Rauch, J. N.; Jacobson, M. P.; Zuiderweg, E. R. P.; Gestwicki, J. E., High Throughput Screen for Inhibitors of Protein-Protein Interactions in a Reconstituted Heat Shock Protein 70 (Hsp70) Complex *J. Biol. Chem.* **2018**, *In press as of Feb 2nd doi/10.1074/jbc.RA117.001575*

75. Arkin, M. R.; Tang, Y.; Wells, J. A., Small-Molecule Inhibitors of Protein-Protein Interactions: Progressing toward the Reality. *Chem. Biol.* **2014**, *21*, 1102-1114.

76. Troy, A. B., Targeted Cancer Therapy: The Next Generation of Cancer Treatment. *Current Drug Discovery Technologies* **2015**, *12*, 3-20.

77. Ivanov, A. A.; Khuri, F. R.; Fu, H., Targeting protein–protein interactions as an anticancer strategy. *Trends in pharmacological sciences* **2013**, *34*, 393-400.

78. Fosgerau, K.; Hoffmann, T., Peptide therapeutics: current status and future directions. *Drug Discov Today* **2015**, *20*, 122-128.

79. Gongor-Benitez, M.; Tulla-Puche, J.; Albericio, F., Multifacet roles of disulfide bonds. Peptides as therapeutics. *Chemical Reviews* **2014**, *114*, 901-926.

80. Krause, S. W.; Gastpar, R.; Andreesen, R.; Gross, C.; Ullrich, H.; Thonigs, G.; Pfister, K.; Multhoff, G., Treatment of colon and lung cancer patients with ex vivo heat shock protein 70-peptide-activated, autologous natural killer cells: a clinical phase i trial. *Clin Cancer Res* **2004**, *10*, 3699-707.

81. Bjugstad, K. B.; Redmond, D. E.; Lampe, K. J.; Kern, D. S.; Sladek, J. R.; Mahoney, M. J., Biocompatibility of PEG-based hydrogels in primate brain. *Cell Transplant* **2008**, *17*, 409-423.

82. Davis, M. R.; Styers, T. J.; Rodriguez, R. A.; Pan, P.-S.; Vasko, R. C.; McAlpine, S. R., Synthesis and cytotoxicity of a new class of potent decapeptide macrocycles. *Org. Lett.* **2008**, *10*, 177-180.

83. Prenner, E. J.; Lewis, R. N.; McElhaney, R. N., The interaction of the antimicrobial peptide gramicidin S with lipid bilayer model and biological membranes. *Biochimica et biophysica acta* **1999**, *1462*, 201-21.

84. Schwochert, J.; Lao, Y.; Pye, C. R.; Naylor, M. R.; Desai, P. V.; Gonzalez Valcarcel, I. C.; Barrett, J. A.; Sawada, G.; Blanco, M.-J.; Lokey, R. S., Stereochemistry Balances Cell Permeability and Solubility in the Naturally Derived Phepropeptin Cyclic Peptides. *ACS Med Chem Lett* **2016**, *7*, 757-761.

85. Rezai, T.; Yu, B.; Millhauser, G. L.; Jacobson, M. P.; Lokey, R. S., Testing the Conformational Hypothesis of Passive Membrane Permeability Using Synthetic Cyclic Peptide Diastereomers. *J Am Chem Soc* **2006**, *128*, 2510-2511.

86. Joo, S. H., Cyclic Peptides as Therapeutic Agents and Biochemical Tools. *Biomolecules & Therapeutics* **2012**, *20*, 19-26.

87. Merrifield, R. B., Solid Phase Peptide Synthesis. I. The Synthesis of a Tetrapeptide. *Journal of the American Chemical Society* **1963**, *85*, 2149-2154.

88. White, C. J.; Yudin, A. K., Contemporary strategies for peptide macrocyclization. *Nature Chemistry* **2011**, *3*, 509.

89. A. G. N. Montalbetti, C.; Falque, V., *Amide Bond Formation and Peptide Coupling*. 2005; Vol. 61, p 10827-10852.

90. Horibe, T.; Kohno, M.; Haramoto, M.; Ohara, K.; Kawakami, K., Designed hybrid TPR peptide targeting Hsp90 as a novel anticancer agent. *J. Transl. Med.* **2011**, *9*.

91. Buckton, L. K.; Wahyudi, H.; McAlpine, S. R., The first report of direct inhibitors that target the C-terminal MEEVD region on heat shock protein 90. *Chem. Commun.* **2016**, *52*, 501-504.

92. Scheufler, C.; Brinker, A.; Bourenkov, G.; Pegoraro, S.; Moroder, L.; Bartunik, H.; Hartl, F. U.; Moarefi, I., Structure of TPR Domain–Peptide Complexes: Critical Elements in the Assembly of the Hsp70–Hsp90 Multichaperone Machine. *Cell* **2000**, *101*, 199-210.

Chapter 2: Synthesis and biological evaluation of Hsp70 inhibitors

2.1 Introduction

2.1.1 Background

Peptides and peptidomimetics have been evolutionarily designed to modulate protein-protein interactions (PPI).¹ Designing peptides to mimic the sequence of one protein domain that binds to another protein has been utilized successfully by several labs, and has produced molecules that impact a protein's function.²⁻⁵

As discussed in the introduction, Kawakami identified a 12-amino acid TPR peptide (**Figure 2.1**) that mimicked the TPR2A domain of the co-chaperone HOP and bound to Hsp90.⁵⁻⁸ The McAlpine group utilised this strategy to design and synthesise a library of peptides that effectively bound to Hsp90.^{9, 10} McAlpine and co-workers generated derivatives of the TPR peptide (**Figure 2.1**), and developed a successful derivative that incorporated the last 5 residues of the TPR peptide.^{9, 10} The most effective molecule produced via this strategy was LB51, a cyclic structure that inhibited the Hsp90-co-chaperone interaction *in vitro*. LB51 had an IC₅₀ of ~ 4 μ M against the Hsp90 and co-chaperone CYP40 binding interaction and higher cell membrane permeability than the parent TPR peptide, making it good lead structure (**Figure 2.1**).⁹



Figure 2. 1: a cyclic pentapeptide was synthesised based on the TPR peptide made by Kawakami and Co,⁶ and identified as the hit.⁹, which could directly block co-chaperone access to Hsp90's C-terminus.⁹

The similarity of the interaction between Hsp70 and HOP versus Hsp90 and HOP, suggested that this design strategy may successfully produce Hsp70 inhibitors. This thesis describes the author's work on the first mimics of the HOP TRP1 domain that was designed to bind to Hsp70 (**Figure 2.2**). Based on the crystal structure of HOP's TRP1 domain, three out of seven helices, A, B, and C, bind directly to Hsp70's C-terminus.¹¹ Hsp70 binds to HOP via its C-terminal IEEVD motif,¹² which is the last five amino acids located on the C-terminus of Hsp70. The complex formed between Hsp70, HOP and Hsp90 could be inhibited if the binding site between Hsp70 and HOP was inhibited. This strategy should block the transfer of protein between Hsp70 and Hsp90 and stop the final folding event. Ultimately this strategy should lead to accumulation of unfolded protein

and cell death.



Figure 2. 2: The substrate binding domain (SBD) of Hsp70 interacts with three of the seven helices in the TPR1 domain of HOP (A, B, and C), where this figure of the HOP TPR1 domain is based on a crystal structure from *Scheufler and co-workers*.¹³ These three helices were used to design the Hsp70 modulators.

Sequences from helices A, B, and C were used as scaffolds for designing the Hsp70

inhibitors because these sequences contained residues that, based on the crystal structure,

interacted with Hsp70 via electrostatic, hydrophobic, or hydrogen bonding interactions

(Figure 2.3).¹³

(a)





Figure 2. 3: Critical peptide sequences from the three TPR1 helices (A,B and C) of HOP that bind to Hsp70. The residues in red, from electrostatic, hydrogen bonding or hydrophobic interactions with the C-terminus of Hsp70.¹³

2.1.2 Compound Design Strategy

The sequences of helices A, B, and C are 8, 10, and 12 amino acids in length respectively, and where these 3 peptide regions contain the key residues involved in binding with Hsp70 (**Figure 2.4**). However, these peptides are too long to be considered as lead structures in developing new small molecule drugs. Thus, we opted to utilize a similar strategy that was successful for Hsp90.^{9, 14} The most effective inhibitor of Hsp90 was a pentapeptide, **LB51**. Thus, 5 amino acid peptides were used as the starting point for designing small molecule inhibitors based on helix sequences of A, B and C (**Figure 2.3**). Linear sequences were produced as those mimicked the linear helix, however, when

producing Hsp90 inhibitors, the most successful were cyclic variants. Thus, both linear and cyclic molecules were generated (**Figure 2.4** and **Figure 2.5**).



Figure 2. 4: Structure of analogues that were designed based on the N-terminus of helices A, B and C. Final structures produced were molecules *A1*, *A2*, *B1*, *B2*, C1 and C2.



Figure 2. 5: Structure of analogues that were designed based on the C-terminus of helices A, B and C. Final structures produced were molecules A3, A4, B3, B4, **C3** and **C4**.

In addition to the successful precedent of cyclic peptides being successful at inhibiting the Hsp90 and HOP interaction, cyclic and linear pentapeptides have unique advantages when binding to a protein.^{9, 15} Cyclic molecules can bind more tightly than linear molecules because their conformational rigidity results in a lower entropic cost

compared to the same sequence of a linear peptide. However, linear molecules are flexible and therefore they have greater binding opportunities because they can adopt the most effective conformation when binding to the protein target. The linear peptides **A1**, **B1** and **C1** and their cyclic variants, **A2**, **B2**, and **C2**, were designed based on the five amino acids from the N-terminus of helices A, B and C (*Figure 2.4*). The linear peptides **A3**, B3, and **C3** along with their cyclic analogues, **A4**, **B4**, and **C4**, were synthesized based on the sequence of the C-terminus of helices A, B and C (*Figure 2.5*).

2.2 Results and Discussions

2.2.1 Compound Synthesis

In the first generation of Hsp70 inhibitors, the author synthesised the seven compounds shown in black, where the five compounds shown in grey were synthesised by my colleague Samantha Zaiter (**Figure 2.6**).



Figure 2. 6: The library of 1st generation Hsp70 C-terminus inhibitors. Structures in black (A1, A2, B1, B2, C1, C2 and C4) were completed by the author.

2.2.1.1 Synthesis of A1 and A2

The synthesis of the first generation TPR1 mimics (**Figure 2.6**) was achieved utilizing solid phase peptide synthesis (SPPS). Synthesis of compounds **A1** and **A2** are described (**Scheme 2.1**) SPPS was performed in a 60 mL polypropylene solid-phase extraction cartridge with a 20 μ m polyethylene frit. Agitation of the reaction tube was performed by a tube shaker.

Before loading, 2-chlorotrityl chloride (2-ClTrt) resin was swelled in dichloromethane for 30 minutes. The first amino acid, Fmoc-protected asparagine was dissolved and added to the drained resin using a solution of 0.1 M diisopropyl ethyl amine (DIPEA) in dichloromethane. A sample of resin was removed, and the resin loading was determined to be 0.565 mmol/g. The Fmoc protecting group was removed by adding a solution of 20 % piperidine in dimethyl formamide (DMF) to the resin for 10 minutes, draining and then adding fresh solution for another 10 minutes. In order to confirm the Fmoc removal, a ninhydrin test was used, and upon the indication that it was positive, the peptide bound resin was taken onto the next reaction. Following the deprotection, the coupling of Fmoc protected glycine was achieved using both the coupling agents 1hydroxy-7-azabenzotriazole (HOAt) and diisopropylcarbodiimide (DIC). The reaction vessel was agitated on the shaker for at least 2 hours at room temperature. The coupling reaction was confirmed using negative ninhydrin test, followed by amine deprotection using 20% piperidine N,N-dimethylformamide solution. This same procedure was used to sequentially couple Fmoc-protected lysine, Fmoc-protected glutamate, and Fmocprotected lysine, which finally generated the desired protected linear peptide A (LP_A).



Scheme 2. 1 The synthesis scheme for A1 and A2.

LP_A was cleaved from the resin under mildly acidic conditions over 24 hours using 50% (v/v) trifluoroethanol (TFE) in dichloromethane. LCMS was performed in order to monitor the reaction progress. After complete cleavage the resin slurry was filtered under vacuum, and the filtrate containing the cleaved linear peptide was collected. The solvent was removed under reduced pressure to afford the LP_A as a fine off-white powder

precipitate. The LP_A was then split into two groups, where the first batch was globally deprotected using trifluoracetic acid (TFA) and anisole (as a carbocation scavenger) in order to produce the deprotected linear peptide, A1. The crude A1 was purified using flash chromatography and high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC). The mobile consisted of milli-Q water with 0.1% (v/v) formic acid, and HPLC grade acetonitrile with 0.1% (v/v) formic acid. From every injection, all obvious peaks were collected as individual fractions and checked by LC/MS. All fractions with identical traces, as indicated in LC/MS, were combined and lyophilised.

The second batch of LP_A was cyclised for under dilute conditions (0.001 M) in anhydrous dichloromethane, using DIPEA and a mixture cocktail composed of the following coupling agents: 4-(4,6-dimethoxy-1,3,5-triazin-2-yl)-4-methyl-morpholin-4ium chloride (DMTMM), 2-(1H-7-azabenzotriazol-1-yl)-1,1,3,3-tetramethyluronium hexafluorophosphate (HATU), and O-(benzotriazol-1-yl)-N,N,N',N'-tetramethyluronium tetrafluoroborate (TBTU). LP_A and coupling agents were dissolved separately anhydrous dichloromethane in order to make each a solution of 0.001 M. The dissolved peptide was injected into coupling agent cocktail solution dropwise. The reaction mixture was stirred at room temperature for at least 4 hours. Then the protected A2 was globally deprotected using TFA and anisole to produce the crude deprotected A2. The crude mixture was then purified using HPLC under the same condition as used on A1. Both A1 (11% yield) and A2 (15% yield) were characterized for purity and structure using LC-MS, ¹HNMR, and 2D NMR.

2.2.1.2 Synthesis of B1 and B2

Scheme 2.2 shows the synthesis of compounds B1 and B2 in detail. Before loading, 2-CITrt resin was swelled in dichloromethane for 30 minutes. The first amino acid, Fmocprotected serine was dissolved and added to the drained resin using a solution of 0.1 M DIPEA in dichloromethane. A sample of resin was removed, and the resin loading was determined to be 0.63 mmol/g. The Fmoc protecting group was removed by adding a solution of 20 % piperidine in DMF to the resin for 10 minutes, draining and then adding fresh solution for another 10 minutes. In order to confirm the Fmoc removal, a ninhydrin test was used and upon the indication that it was positive, the peptide bound resin was taken onto the next reaction. Following the deprotection, the coupling of Fmoc protected arginine was achieved using both the coupling agents HOAt and DIC. The reaction vessel was agitated on the shaker for at least 2 hours at room temperature. The coupling reaction was confirmed using negative ninhydrin test, followed by amine deprotection using 20% piperidine N,N-dimethylformamide solution. This same procedure was used to sequentially couple Fmoc-protected asparagine, Fmoc-protected serine and Fmocprotected tyrosine, which finally generated the desired protected linear peptide, LP_B



Scheme 2. 2: The synthesis scheme for B1 and B2.

LP_B was cleaved from the resin under mildly acidic conditions over 24 hours using 50% (v/v) TFE in dichloromethane. LCMS was performed in order to monitor the reaction progress. The resin slurry was filtered under vacuum, and the filtrate containing

the cleaved linear peptide was collected. The solvent was removed under reduced pressure to afford the LP_B as a fine off-white powder precipitate. The LP_B was then split into two groups, where the first batch was globally deprotected using TFA and anisole (as a carbocation scavenger) in order to produce the deprotected linear peptide, B1. The crude B1 was purified using HPLC. The mobile consisted of milli-Q water with 0.1% (v/v) formic acid, and HPLC grade acetonitrile with 0.1% (v/v) formic acid. From every injection, all obvious peaks were collected as individual fractions and checked by LC/MS. All fractions with identical traces as indicated in LC/MS were combined and lyophilised.

The second batch of LP_B was cyclised for under dilute conditions (0.001 M) in anhydrous dichloromethane, using DIPEA and a mixture cocktail composed of the following coupling agents: DMTMM, HATU, and TBTU. LP_B and coupling agents were dissolved separately in order to make each solution of 0.001 M. The dissolved peptide was injected into coupling agent cocktail solution dropwise. The reaction mixture was stirred at room temperature for at least 4 hours. Then the protected B2 was globally deprotected using TFA and anisole to produce the crude deprotected B2. The crude mixture was then purified using HPLC under the same conditions used on B1. Both B1 (13 % yield)and B2 (17 % yield) were characterized for purity and structure using LC-MS, ¹HNMR, and 2D NMR.

2.2.1.3 Synthesis of C1 and C2

The synthesis of compounds **C1** and **C2** are described (**Scheme 2.3**). Before loading, 2-CITrt resin was swelled in dichloromethane for 30 minutes. The first amino acid, Fmocprotected arginine was dissolved and added to the drained resin using a solution of 0.1 M DIPEA in dichloromethane. A sample of resin was removed, and the resin loading was determined to be 0.39 mmol/g. The Fmoc protecting group was removed by adding a solution of 20 % piperidine in dimethyl formamide (DMF) to the resin for 10 minutes, draining and then adding fresh solution for another 10 minutes. In order to confirm the Fmoc removal, a ninhydrin test was used, and upon the indication that it was positive, the peptide bound resin was taken onto the next reaction.

Following the deprotection, the coupling of Fmoc protected serine was achieved using both the coupling agents HOAt and DIC. The reaction vessel was agitated on the shaker for at least 2 hours at room temperature. The coupling reaction was confirmed using negative ninhydrin test, followed by amine deprotection using 20% piperidine N,N-dimethylformamide solution. This same procedure was used to sequentially couple Fmoc-protected asparagine, Fmoc-protected serine and Fmoc-protected tyrosine, which generated the desired protected linear peptide, LP_C.

LP_C was cleaved from the resin under mildly acidic conditions over 24 hours using 50% (v/v) TFE in dichloromethane. LCMS was performed in order to monitor the reaction progress. The resin slurry was filtered under vacuum, and the filtrate containing the cleaved linear peptide was collected. The solvent was removed under reduced pressure to afford the LP_C as a fine off-white powder precipitate. The LP_C was then split into two groups, where the first batch was globally deprotected using TFA and anisole (as a carbocation scavenger) in order to produce the deprotected linear peptide, C1. The crude C1 was purified using HPLC. The mobile consisted of milli-Q water with 0.1% (v/v) formic acid, and HPLC grade acetonitrile with 0.1% (v/v) formic acid. From every injection, all obvious peaks were collected as individual fractions and checked by LC/MS. All fractions with identical traces as indicated in LC/MS were combined and lyophilized.



Scheme 2. 3: The synthesis scheme for C1 and C2.

The second batch of **LP_C** was cyclised for under dilute conditions (0.001 M) in anhydrous dichloromethane, using DIPEA and a mixture cocktail composed of the following coupling agents: DMTMM, HATU, and TBTU. **LP_C** and coupling agents were dissolved separately in order to make each a solution of 0.001 M. The dissolved peptide was injected into coupling agent cocktail solution dropwise. The reaction mixture was stirred at room temperature for at least 4 hours. Then the protected **C2** was globally deprotected using TFA and anisole to produce the crude deprotected **C2**. The crude mixture of **C2** was purified using HPLC.

C2 was the most challenging molecule challenging to purify, because it was highly polar and was not retained on the C18 column used to purify the compound. C2 always eluted with the solvent front, which caused co-elution with an impurity. C2 required a second purification via HPLC, using a modified method that had a much slower gradient and a very low loading of the peptide onto the column. This allowed C2 to be separated from the impurity, and the same method was used to successfully purify the other hydrophilic compounds. Finally, Both C1 (7% yield) and C2 (4% yield) were fully characterized using LC-MS, ¹HNMR, and 2D NMR.

2.2.1.4 Synthesis of C4

While I was synthesizing compounds based on the N-terminus of these three helices, my colleague, Samantha Zaiter, was synthesizing compounds based on the C-terminus (A3, A4, B3, B4, C3, and C4). Technical issues arose during her synthesis of C4 (Figure 2.7a). The compound appeared pure by LCMS, however, impurities were very observed in NMR. The ¹H NMR spectra had the following additional peaks: ¹H NMR (600 MHz, D₂O) δ 3.946(s, 17H), 3.886-3.869(m, 12H), 3.745-3.728(m, 12H) (Figure 2.7b). Based on the HSQC and COSY spectra, the additional peaks do not connect with the backbone of C4, nor were they a solvent impurity. The impurity was not observed in the UV spectrum or the total ion count of the LCMS or the HPLC trace and therefore it was not possible to separate it via HPLC. The synthesis of C4 was replicated and monitored by both LC-MS and NMR at each step for the impurity, and it was only upon cyclization that the impurity was observed by ¹H NMR.



Figure 2. 7: Structure and ¹H NMR spectrum of C4. The highlight peaks belong to impurity

Cyclisation reactions are run using anhydrous solvent and a mixture of coupling agents in order to enhance the formation of the amide bond required for macrocyclization. The McAlpine group typically uses three different coupling reagents for solution phase macrocyclization but usually in less than 1 equivalent each: HATU, TBTU, and DMTMM (Figure 2.8).¹⁶ This method, reported by the McAlpine lab suggested that different conformations of the linear peptide were in solution and the individual conformations were activated by different coupling agents¹⁷.



Figure 2. 8: Structure of HATU, TBTU and DMTMM.

All three reagents appeared to provide benefits, and generally the by-products could be easily removed.¹⁸ However, under anhydrous conditions, DMTMM can be demethylated and yield methyl chloride and non-reactive 2-(morpholi-4-yl)-4,6-dimethoxy-1,3,5-triazine (**Scheme 2. 4**).¹⁸ This process gives the exact NMR spectra as the impurity observed in **C4** (**Figure 2.7b**).



Scheme 2. 4: Decomposed of DMTMM to an inactive molecule.

To test this hypothesis, the synthesis of C4 was carried out again. Scheme 2. 5 shows the synthesis of compounds C4 in detail. Before loading, 2-CITrt resin was swelled in dichloromethane for 30 minutes. Then the first amino acid, Fmoc-protected alanine was dissolved and added to the drain resin using a solution of 0.1 M DIPEA in dichloromethane. A sample of resin was removed, and the resin loading was determined to be 0.63 mmol/g. Fix using same language I used The Fmoc protecting group was removed using 20 % piperidine in DMF for 2 times 10 minutes. To confirm the Fmoc removal, a positive ninhydrin test was used. Following the deprotection, the coupling of Fmoc protected phenylalanine was achieved using both the coupling agents HOAt and DIC. The reaction vessel was agitated on the shaker for at least 2 hours at room temperature. The coupling reaction was confirmed using negative ninhydrin test, followed by amine deprotection using 20% piperidine N,N-dimethylformamide solution. This same procedure was used to sequentially couple Fmoc-protected glutamate, Fmoc-protected leucine and Fmoc-protected alanine, and finally generate the desired protected linear peptide, LP_C4.

LP_C4 was cleaved from the resin under mildly acidic conditions using 50% (v/v) TFE in dichloromethane for 24 hours. LCMS was performed to monitor the reaction progress. The slurry was filtered under vacuum, and the filtrate containing the cleaved linear peptide was collected. The solvent was removed under reduced pressure to afford the LP_C4 to precipitation as a fine off-white powder.



Scheme 2. 5: The synthesis scheme for C4

LP_C4 was then cyclised without DMTMM. The reaction was carried out under dilute conditions (0.001 M) in anhydrous dichloromethane, using DIPEA and a mixture cocktail composed of the following coupling agents: HATU, and TBTU. LP_C4 and coupling agents were dissolved separately in order to make each a solution of 0.001 M. The dissolved peptide was injected into coupling agent cocktail solution dropwise. Although the cyclisation took a longer time to go to completion, the impurity was not present in the crude cyclised product. Then the protected C4 was globally deprotected using TFA and anisole to produce the crude deprotected **C4.** Pure **C4** was obtained after a single round of HPLC purification, as confirmed by ¹H NMR in the final yield of 12% (**Figure 2.9**). Interestingly, **C4** was the only compound that had the impurity associated with DMTMM, all other compounds used DMTMM during the cyclization without producing the impurity.



Figure 2. 9: ¹H NMR spectrum of **C4**. a) The highlighted peaks belong to impurity when the compound was first synthesized. b) spectrum belongs to **C4** when the compound was synthesized without DMTMM. This spectrum lacks impurity peaks.

2.2.2 Binding assay

2.2.2.1 Compound Screen

With these twelve TPR1 peptides in hand, the author performed an *in vitro* protein binding assay in order to evaluate the compound's impact on the Hsp70–HOP interaction. This assay involved a pulldown technique, followed by western blot quantification, which is a well-established and "gold-standard" method used to determine the physical interaction between two proteins (**Figure 2. 10**).¹⁹ All the compounds were screened at 5 and 50 μ M against 200 nM Hsp70 and 100 nM HOP.



Figure 2. 10 : Schematic for pulldown assay

In the pulldown binding assay, Hsp70 was incubated with each compound in binding buffer for two hours. The control comprised of 1% DMSO in place of the compounds, due to all compounds were dissolved in DMSO and for each reaction 1% of DMSO were added. His-tagged HOP was added to each reaction, and incubating for another hour at room temperature, allowing it to bind to Hsp70. Talon-metal affinity resin to immobilise the His-tagged proteins, was added to all of the reactions and incubated for additional one hour. All of above steps were carried out in a buffer containing 1% Triton-X-100 at room temperature with gentle agitation to ensure that all binding events were specific, and not a function of random aggregation effects. The resin was then isolated and washed 5 times with washing buffer to remove non-specific binding.

The resin-bound proteins were then eluted by boiling in sample buffer, which contains 0.5 M DTT and 10% SDS to cleave the protein from resin and also denature the protein. The supernatant was loaded on a 4-8 % SDS-PAGE gel to allow the HOP and Hsp70 bound to HOP to be separated using gel electrophoresis. Subsequent transfer to PVDF membrane and detection using antibodies via western blot gave bands that could be quantified for both proteins. Detection and quantitation of Hsp70 bound to HOP in the presence and absence of each compound, relative to the DMSO control showed how effectively the compounds impacted the binding interaction (**Figure 2.10**).


Figure 2. 11: The activity of the 12 TPR1 peptides on the binding interaction between Hsp70 and HOP. (a) Representative western blot images of Hsp70 from one replicate of each compound series (A1-4, B1-4, C1-4) with a representative image of HOP shown. (b) The fold of Hsp70 bound to HOP, relative to the control (1% DMSO). The data represent the mean \pm SEM, from at least three independent experiments.

By comparing their efficacy to the DMSO control, compounds that showed a similar ratio of Hsp70 bound to HOP would be considered inactive. All of the compounds that were designed from Helix A showed no activity in disrupting the Hsp70-HOP interaction (**Figure 2.11**). Compounds from the B series showed some binding disruptions, where

B2 and **B3** were inactive, but **B1** and **B4** showed a small increase in the amount of Hsp70 bound to HOP. Unexpectedly these compounds behaved as enhancers of the interaction between Hsp70 and HOP (**Figure 2.11**). Compounds based on Helix C, were very active enhancers, where **C1**, **C3** and **C4** were the most effective. At 50 μ M, **C1**, **C3** and **C4** showed a minimum of 4-fold increase in the Hsp70-HOP interaction relative to the control. Based on the results of the compound screen, **C1**, **C3** and **C4** were chosen as potential leads for the future evaluation, while **C2** was used as negative controls (**Figure 2.12**).



Figure 2. 12 Structure of Helix C, and all C-series compounds C2 was used as negative control.

2.2.2.2 Concentration dependent assay

These four compounds were tested in the binding assays at multiple concentrations

to determine if their activity was concentration dependant. The author tested compounds **C1-C4** at five concentrations ranging from 0.5 to 50 μ M, using the same conditions described in the binding assay (**Figure 2.10**). Each compound was incubated with Hsp70 at different concentrations, followed by the addition of His-tagged HOP. The control comprised of 1% DMSO in place of the compounds. All reactions were conducted in a buffer containing 1% Triton-X-100 as well. TALON resin was used to immobilise His-tagged protein. Detection and quantitation of Hsp70 bound to HOP in the presence of each compound, relative to the DMSO control.

These concentration studies showed a clear trend: compounds **C1**, **C3**, and **C4** all increased the amount of Hsp70 that bound to HOP in a concentration dependent manner (**Figure 2.13**). Despite being the cyclic variant of **C1**, and comprised of the same exact 5 amino acids, **C2** was not active at any concentration. **C2** was therefore be considered as a negative control for all future studies because it was sequentially identical to **C1** but was inactive. These data indicate that the cyclic peptide **C2** is locked in the wrong conformation for binding (**Figure 2.13**). The results from the concentration dependent assay match the trends observed from the initial compound screen, which clearly showed that compounds **C1**, **C3**, and **C4** could effectively stabilise and enhance the Hsp70-HOP interaction. These results were intriguing because peptides were derived from helices of HOP's TPR1 domain and we had anticipated that the mimics we synthesized would competitively bind to Hsp70 and prevent HOP from forming an interaction. Instead, these molecules promoted the binding interaction. Therefore, it was important to understand how this enhanced binding affinity translated to a functional assay that involved Hsp70 and HOP.



Figure 2. 13: Concentration dependent assay of the two most active compounds (C1-4) (A) Representative western blot images of Hsp70 from one replicate of each compound series (C1-4) with a representative image of HOP shown. (B) The fold of Hsp70 bound to HOP, relative to the control (1% DMSO). The data represent the mean \pm SEM, from at least three independent experiments.

2.2.3 Luciferase Refolding Assay

Compounds **C1**, **C3** and **C4** all stabilized the Hsp70-HOP complex, and therefore it was possible they would enhance the protein-folding function of Hsp70. Enhancing Hsp70's protein folding function would potentially allow nascent or misfolded proteins

to be refolded more effectively into their native state in the presence of compounds. As a result, these molecules could be used for some degenerative diseases, such as Alzheimer's or Parkinson's disease.²⁰ In both diseases, proteins are denatured and misfolded protein, and there is a decrease in the protein folding machinery that is regulated by Hsp70. Another hypothesis is that these three peptides may lock Hsp70 and HOP together, halting their dynamic assembly and disassembly. Trapping the proteins into a single conformation would lead to their inability to fold proteins, and the molecules would be essentially protein-folding inhibitors. As a result, the cellular would aggregate, and precipitate out under physiological conditions, resulting in cell death, an optimal outcome for a cancer cell.



Figure 2. 14: Schematic depiction of a luciferase refolding assay.

Evaluating how the stabilisation of Hsp70-HOP by the C-series (C1-C4) impacted protein folding was accomplished using a luciferase re-folding assay (Figure 2.14). The luciferase refolding assay was adapted from established literature methods²¹ The whole chaperone refolding system was replaced from bacteria protein to recombinant human protein in order to keep all proteins consistent with binding assay. The ratio of Hsp70/Hsp40/GrpE constant at 1.0:0.2:0.1 was kept. Although Hsp70 /Hsp40/GrpE could accomplish very efficient refolding, With the addition of Hsp90 and HOP, the refolding of denatured luciferase protein was dramatically increased that is ~40% higher when using the same concentration of Luciferase (**Figure 2.15**). This result indicated that luciferase protein could be transferred from Hsp70 to Hsp90 via a HOP binding, and therefore more luciferase could be refolded and produce higher luminescent signal.



Figure 2. 15: Impact of Hsp90 and HOP on Luciferase refolding. Compared the signal produced by luciferase in the presence of DNAJ, Hsp90, HOP, Hsp70, GrpE versus DNAJ, Hsp70, and GrpE, the experiment that has Hsp90 and HOP produces a signal that is ~40% higher when using the same concentration of Luciferase.

All compounds from the C series were screened in the luciferase assay. To start with, luciferase was denatured by 6 M Guanidine for 60 mins at room temperature. Native luciferase was used as a control and kept at room temperature for 60 mins as well. Both

the native and denatured luciferase were then diluted 1 in 40 using diluting buffer on ice for 20 minutes.

The compounds (50 μ M) were pre-incubated with 0.5 μ M Hsp70 in refolding buffer for 30 minutes on ice, followed by the addition of 50 nM Hsp90, 50 nM HOP, 50 nM GrpE, 100 nM DnaJ, and denatured luciferase. Following the addition of denatured luciferase, the reactions were incubated at room temperature. 2 μ L aliquots of each reaction were taken at various time points and were combined with 23 μ L of Bright-Glo reagent in a white 384-well polystyrene microplate. The luminescence of the respective wells was measured using a Tecan F200 Pro multimode plate reader. The final data was plotted as the % of luciferase refolded over time relative to the maximum luminescence signal from DMSO at 5 hours. The luminescence of these wells was measured, and the raw luminescence values were plotted.



Figure 2. 16: impact of compounds C1, C2, C3 and C4 on luciferase refolding. Each treatment was made relative to the raw luminescence value of 1% DMSO at the 5-hour period as this represented 100% refolding.

Despite the stabilization effect that C1, C3 and C4 had on the binding event between Hsp70 and HOP, C4 showed comparable activity to DMSO and C2, the negative control (Figure 2.16). C3 was slightly active in this assay and inhibited luciferase refolding by ~30%. C1 was the most active in the re-folding assay and at 50 μ M, C1 inhibited luciferase refolding by ~60% (Figure 2.16).



Figure 2. 17: Control experiment to determine if compound C interact with either denatured or native luciferase. C1 at 50 μ M were incubated with native or denatured luciferase on ice for hour in the absence of chaperones, then the luminescence of each treatment was measured. Data were plotted as raw luminesce for each treatment.

The C1 were evaluated with native and denatured luciferase in the absence of chaperones and measured with luminescence over time (Figure 2.17). This control

experiment was important in order to ensure that the molecule is inhibiting the refolding process and not acting as a quenching agent. Based on the data in Figure (**Figure 2.17**), **C1** didn't impact native or denatured luciferase in the absence of chaperones, indicating that the influence of **C1** on the denatured luciferase refolding was via their regulation of the chaperone system. Hence, the decrease in luciferase protein folding with the present of **C1** is related to the stabilization of the Hsp70-HOP interaction and not a luminescence quenching effect.

In order to confirm that C1 was actively inhibiting the luciferase refolding event, the author evaluated C1 in a concentration dependent assay (Figure 2.20). Even at concentrations as low as 10 μ M, C1 impacted the ability of the Hsp70 chaperone machinery to fold luciferase demonstrating that the protein folding machinery of the Hsp70 was responding to the effects of C1 treatment (Figure 2.20).



Figure 2. 18: The impact of C1 at multiple concentrations on luciferase refolding after 5 hours. The graphs represent the mean \pm SEM, from at least three independent experiments.

The binding assay results (**Figure 2.11 & 2.13**) and luciferase data (**Figures 2.16 & 2.18**) indicate that **C1**, and to a lesser extent **C3**, effectively impacted the Hsp70-HOP interaction and inhibited the Hsp70 chaperone folding event. However, it was not yet clear if these molecules produced the effects by binding to Hsp70 or via binding to HOP. Synthesising tagged variants of these two compounds would allow the author to evaluate whether the compounds pulled out Hsp70 or HOP or both proteins.

2.2.4 Tagged Compounds Pulldown and Competitive Assay

The PEG4-Biotin was chosen as the tag to label **C1**. Biotin is a small natural vitamin that binds with high affinity to avidin proteins. Biotinylated molecules typically retain biological activity because the biotin group is relatively small (**Figure 2.19**). The resin the author used was Neutravidin, which is a chemically modified version of avidin with higher capacity and minimal nonspecific binding. The bound formation between biotin and the resin is rapid and stable. PEG spacer arm increases solubility of the peptide and also prevents the labelled peptide aggregating with each other. The extra-long linker arm reduces steric hindrance, which could maintain the binding activity of **C1** in the tagged compounds.



Figure 2. 19: Structure of C1-Tag

2.2.4.1 Synthesis of C1-Tag

Scheme 2.6 shows the synthesis of compounds C1-Tag in detail. The synthesis of C1-Tag (Figure 2.19) was achieved utilising SPPS. Before loading, 2-CITrt resin was swelled in dichloromethane for 30 minutes. Then the first amino acid, Fmoc-protected arginine was dissolved and added to the drain resin using a solution of 0.1 M DIPEA in dichloromethane. A sample of resin was removed, and the resin loading was determined to be 0.73 mmol/g. The Fmoc protecting group was removed adding a solution of 20 % piperidine in 20 % piperidine in DMF for 10 minutes, draining and then adding fresh solution for another 10 minutes. To confirm the Fmoc removal, a positive ninhydrin test was used. Following the deprotection, the coupling of Fmoc protected serine was achieved using both the coupling agents HOAt and DIC. The reaction vessel was agitated on the shaker for at least 2 hours at room temperature. The coupling reaction was confirmed using negative ninhydrin test, followed by amine deprotection using 20% piperidine N,N-dimethylformamide solution. This same procedure was used to sequentially couple Fmoc-protected asparagine, Fmoc-protected serine and Fmoc-protected tyrosine, and finally generate the desired protected linear peptide, LP_C.



Scheme 2. 6: The synthesis scheme for C1-Tag

The resin-bound **LP_C** was then dried in vacuo overnight. All biotin-coupling reactions were carried out under nitrogen in a final concentration of 0.05 M in anhydrous DCM (**Scheme 2.6**). The EZ-Link NHS-PEG4-Biotin was coupled to the resin bound linear peptide using DIPEA. N-hydroxysuccinimide (NHS) group is the most commonly used biotinylation reagents. In weakly basic buffers, like DIPEA. NHS-biotin reagents

react efficiently with primary amino groups (-NH2) by nucleophilic attack, forming an amide bond and releasing the NHS group. The mixture was stirred at room temperature for 2 hours and reactions were monitored by negative ninhydrin test and LCMS. The Tagged peptide was then cleaved from the resin, deprotected and purified in a similar manner to **C1** and final compounds were characterised using LC/MS, 1H NMR and 2D NMR in the yield of 15% (**Scheme 5**). **C3-Tag** (**Figure 2.20**) was synthesised by my colleague Samantha Zaiter following the same synthetic route as **C1-Tag**.



Figure 2. 20: Structure of C3-Tag

2.2.4.2 Protein pulldown assay

With **C1-Tag** and **C3-Tag** in hand, a pulldown assay was carried out to determine whether these compounds could directly interact with Hsp70 or HOP. All pulldown experiments were run using similar conditions. Biotin-Tagged compounds were dissolved in 100% DMSO and were diluted to a final concentration of 1% DMSO in each reaction. The Tagged compound at various concentrations ($0 - 200 \mu$ M) were incubated with the protein in binding buffer at a final volume of 100 μ L for 1 hour at room temperature. The proteins were then added at a final concentration of 200 nM to each reaction. Pulldown of the biotin tagged compounds was achieved by incubating each reaction with Neutravidin[®] for an hour. The Neutravidin[®] Agarose Resins were pre-blocked with 1.3% w/v of Bovine Serum Albumin (BSA) in binding buffer for 1 hour at room temperature. Following the incubation with Neutravidin®, the supernatant was removed from each reaction, and the resin was washed six times with wash buffer. Finally, the beads were boiled with 5 x Laemmli sample buffer. The supernatant of each sample was loaded onto an 8% Tris-Glycine gel following the Gel electrophoresis procedure. Proteins were transferred onto a PVDF membrane and imaged following the Western blotting procedure. Hsp70 protein was detected using Hsp70 primary antibody, followed by HRP-conjugated secondary antibody. HOP protein was detected using HOP primary anti-body. Then the membrane was incubated with the HRP-conjugated secondary antibody as well. The relative amount of protein pulled down were analysed via Image J and transformed to a fold of protein pulled down relative to 1% DMSO control.

For the Hsp70 pulldown assay, as the amount of **C3-Tag** was increased, there was not a corresponding increase in Hsp70 bound to the molecule (**Figure 2.21**), showing that **C3** didn't directly bond to Hsp70. In contrast, as the amount of **C1-Tag** increased, more Hsp70 was pulled out, establishing that **C1** bound to Hsp70 (**Figure 2.21**) in a concentration dependent manner. Given the fact that the **C3-Tag** didn't show any activity, the Tagged variant of **C3** could be treated as a perfect negative control which demonstrated that the Peg4-Biotin is not forming any non-selective interactions with Hsp70, proving that the bound Hsp70 was due to the interaction between compound **C1** and Hsp70 (**Figure 2.21**). A pulldown experiment with the Tagged compounds and HOP, showed that **C1-Tag** was also able to pull out HOP, and **C3-Tag** was treated as a negative control in this assay and all only pulled out background levels of HOP (**Figure 2.22**).



Figure 2. 21: (a) A western blot image of the pulldown assay with Hsp70 in the presence of C1-Tag and C3-Tag at increasing concentrations. The DMSO control is 1% DMSO in place of tagged compound. (b) A western blot image of the pulldown assay with HOP in the presence of C1-Tag and C3-Tag at increasing concentrations. (c) Graph showing the average fold Hsp70 pulled down using C1-Tag and C3-Tag compared to DMSO. (d) Graph showing the average fold HOP pulled down using C1-Tag and C3-Tag compared to DMSO. All treatments were subtracted from the raw signal of DMSO and were subsequently divided by the raw signal of DMSO control. The data represent the mean \pm SEM, from at least two independent experiments

A direct comparison between the fold of Hsp70 versus HOP pulled down by **C1-Tag** demonstrates that **C1** is forming a tight interaction with Hsp70, and a weak interaction with HOP (**Figure 2.22**). These data account for the observed trends described above, where **C1**'s ability to stabilise the interaction between Hsp70 and HOP comes from a strong interaction with Hsp70 and a moderate interaction with HOP. The strong interaction with Hsp70 are likely electrostatic interactions between basic residues on **C1** (Arg and Lys) forming ionic bonds with the EEVD, which is the acidic region of the SBD on Hsp70. Hydrophobic interactions have less strength and are likely responsible for forming weak binding connections with HOP, hence the stabilisation observed.



Figure 2. 22: HOP and Hsp70 pulled down using C1-Tag. All treatments were subtracted from the raw signal of DMSO and were subsequently divided by the raw signal of DMSO control. The data represent the mean \pm SEM, from at least three independent experiments.

2.2.4.3 Competitive binding assay

In order to verify these results, a competitive binding assay was performed using C1

-Tag, tagged-free **C1** and Hsp70 (**Figure 2.24**). This assay was carried out under the identical conditions performed in the pulldown assay mentioned before. After **C1-Tag** was incubated with Hsp70, increasing amounts of **C1** ranging from 10 to 200 μ M were added in order to displace **C1-Tag** and competitively bind to Hsp70.

Consistent with a molecule that binds to Hsp70, as more **C1** was added and bound to Hsp70, there was a corresponding decrease in the amount of Hsp70 being pulled out by **C1-Tag** because there was less Hsp70 available (**Figure 2.25**). These data suggest that **C1-Tag** is binding to the same place as **C1**.



Figure 2. 23: Schematic depiction of protein pulldown and competitive binding assay

Based on the pulldown data (**Figure 2.21, 2,22**) and competitive binding assay (**Figure 2.23**), it appears that **C1** and **C3** stabilise the Hsp70-HOP interaction via different mechanisms. **C1** stabilises the Hsp70-HOP interaction via binding to both Hsp70 and

HOP, albert stronger with Hsp70 than HOP. In contrast, only little amount of Hsp70 or HOP was pulled out by **C3-Tag** compared to **C1-Tag** (**Figure 2.23**) indicating that **C3** has little affinity for Hsp70 and HOP in isolated systems, therefore it is likely that **C3** needs both Hsp70 and HOP present in the system.



Figure 2. 24: (a)A western blot image of the pulldown of **Hsp70** with **C1-Tag** (left side), here 1% DMSO control is used as a control in place of **C1-Tag**. The competitive binding of **C1** to Hsp70 (right) is shown, the DMSO control replaces **C1** and represents 100% binding. **(b)** Competitive binding data plotted as the mean \pm SEM, n = 3.

2.2.5 Domain Expression and Pulldown assay

Given the results we got, **C1** could selectively bond to Hsp70 and effectively enhance the interaction between Hsp70 and HOP, so the question will be does **C1** bind to the same site as HOP does on Hsp70, or **C1** bind to different spots and play allosteric modulation on Hsp70? To answer this question, figuring out the exact binding site of compound **C1** on Hsp70 is required. To explore that , different domains of Hs70 will be expressed in bacteria and tested with compounds in binding assay.



Figure 2. 25: The crystal structure of the E.coli Hsp70 protein

Hsp70 consists of two different domains, N-terminal nucleotide binding domain (NBD), and C-terminal substrate binding domain (SBD) (**Figure 2.25**).²² HOP binds to this heat shock protein through the direct interaction between its TPR1 domain and IEEVD (Isoleucine, Glutamic acid, Glutamic acid, Valine, Aspartic acid) region on Hsp70's C-terminal lid (**Figure 2.26**).





2.2.5.1 Domain expression

SBD of human Hsp72 (**Figure 2.26**) was expressed and purified according to published schemes²³ and the protocols from Jason E. Gestwicki. The pMCSG7 plasmid, which carried the gene of Hsc70 391-646 residues and N-terminal 6xHis tag, was designed and produced by Jason E. Gestwicki's lab. The domain was expressed in BL21(DE3) cells (**Figure 2.27**).

Proteins were transformed into Escherichia coli (*E.coli*) strain BL21(DE3) for expression. The *E.coli* cells were made chemically competent using CaCl₂, then the plasmid coding the SBD was transformed into the bacteria using heat shock. The transformed cells were streaked on an agar plate supplemented with ampicillin. A single colony of transformed cells was cultured on a small scale (200 mL) in LB media supplemented with ampicillin at a final concentration of 100 µg/mL. Then 200 mL culture was scaled up to 15 L using a 19 L New Brunswick TM Bioflo 415 fermenter. The growth of the large-scale culture was monitored via UV-VIS spectroscopy, where the optical density of the culture at 600 nm (OD₆₀₀) was montired overtime, till a value of 0.6-0.8 was reached indicating that the bacteria where at their optimal growth phase. Once the bacteria were at their optimal growth phase, isopropyl β-D-thiogalactoside (IPTG) at a final concentration of 200 µM was added to induce the expression of the SBD. The IPTG induction was carried out at 30 °C for 16 hrs. Then the cells were harvested from the fermenter and the cells were centrifuged at 10,000 g for 30 minutes at 4 °C, to afford 200 g of wet cells containing the SBD protein.



Figure 2. 27: Schematic depiction of domain expression

Bacterial cell pellets containing His-tagged SBD were suspended in 50 mM Tris-HCl pH 8.0, 500 mM NaCl, 10 mM imidazole, and lysed using a ultrasonic homogenizer sonicator. Crude lysate was clarified by centrifugation at 10,000 x g for 30 minutes. The supernatant, which was the cell lysate was collected, filtered and loaded onto a 5mL Ni-NTA Superflow cartridge. The His-Tagged SBD was then eluted via a linear gradient up to 300mM imidazole. The SBD was purified via two rounds of FPLC with Ni-NTA affinity purification. The fractions were concentrated, and the protein was dialysed against ddH₂O overnight, followed by buffer exchange with 25mM Tris-HCl, 5mM MgCl₂ and 10mM KCl buffer.

2.2.5.2 Domain pulldown assay

With the pure SBD in hand, the domain pulldown experiment was run using similar conditions as protein pulldown assay (Figure 2.23). C1-Tag and C3-Tag were dissolved in 100% DMSO and were diluted to a final concentration of 1% DMSO in each reaction. The tagged compounds at various concentrations $(0 - 200 \,\mu\text{M})$ were incubated with the protein in binding buffer at a final volume of 100 µL for 1 hour at room temperature. The proteins were then added at a final concentration of 5 µM to each reaction. Pulldown of the biotin tagged compounds was achieved by incubating each reaction with Neutravidin[®] for an hour. The Neutravidin[®] Agarose Resins were pre-blocked with 1.3% w/v of Bovine Serum Albumin (BSA) in binding buffer for 1 hour at room temperature. Following the incubation with Neutravidin[®], the supernatant was removed from each reaction, and the resin was washed six times with wash buffer. Finally, protein was eluted from the resin and the supernatant of each sample was analysed using SDS-PAGE gel electrophoresis. Proteins were transferred onto a PVDF membrane. The SBD was detected using anti-6X His-tag antibody followed by a chemiluminescent detection using Horse Raddish Peroxidase (HPR) conjugated secondary anti-body. The relative amount of protein pulled down were analysed via Image J and transformed to a fold of protein pulled down relative to 1% DMSO control.

74



Figure 2. 28: (A) A western blot image of the pulldown assay with SBD in the presence of C1-Tag and C3-Tag at increasing concentrations. (B) Graph showing the average fold Hsp70 pulled down using C1-Tag and C3-Tag compared to DMSO.

Evidence that C1 bound to the SBD was produced by pulling down the SBD protein in a concentration dependent manner using C1-Tag (Figure 2. 28). At 200 μ M C1-Tag pulled down Hsp70's SBD more effectively compared to C3-Tag. Based on these data, the SBD is a likely binding for C1 on Hsp70. Given that C1 is able to bind to the SBD of Hsp70 it directly stabilising the Hsp70-HOP interaction, and this leads to an inhibition of Hsp70 's folding function. Therefore, from the library of 12 TPR1 peptides, C1 was identified as the lead molecule in the series. SAR was then conducted on C1 to develop a more potent analogue and to identify which residues are critical for the activity of the peptide.

2.2.6 Analogues of C1: Alanine Scan



Figure 2. 29: C1 and its alanine analogues (a) Sequence of C1 and its alanine analogues. (K: Lysine, G: Glycine, Y: Tyrosine, S: Serine, R: Arginine, A, Alanine). (b) Structure of C1 and all alanine compounds (SY13-17). The alanine in each compound is highlight in red.

An alanine scan was designed and carried out to determine which residue of C1 is more significant for the binding with Hsp70 (Figure 2.21). An aniline scan involves substituting each residue on C1 with alanine, as this amino acid has methyl side chain that is a small, non-bulky and chemically inert.²⁴ Furthermore, substitution with an alanine has minimal impacts on the conformation of the backbone of a peptide, in

comparison to glycine, which is the simplest amino acid, but introduces conformational flexibility into the peptide backbone.²⁵ The alanine scan library comprised of 5 peptides (**Figure 2.29**), 3 compounds (**SY14 , 15 and 16**) were synthesised by the author, the compounds **SY13** and **SY17** were synthesised by colleagues Alex Valois and Xandria Ong respectively (**Figure 2.29**).

2.2.6.1 Synthesis of SY14

The synthesis of all of these alanine scanning compounds (Figure 2.29) was achieved utilizing SPPS. Scheme 2.7 shows the synthesis of SY14 in detail. SPPS was performed in a 60 mL polypropylene solid-phase extraction cartridge with a 20 µm polyethylene frit. Agitation of the reaction tube was performed by a tube shaker. Before loading, 2chlorotrityl chloride (2-ClTrt) resin was swelled in dichloromethane for 30 minutes. Then the first amino acid, Fmoc-protected arginine was dissolved and added to the drain resin using a solution of 0.1 M diisopropyl ethyl amine (DIPEA) in dichloromethane. A sample of resin was removed, and the resin loading was determined to be 0.47 mmol/g. The Fmoc protecting group was removed using 20 % piperidine in dimethyl formamide (DMF) to the resin for 10 minutes, draining and then adding fresh solution for another 10 minutes. To confirm the Fmoc removal, a positive ninhydrin test was used. Following the deprotection, the coupling of Fmoc protected serine was achieved using both the coupling agents 1-Hydroxy-7-azabenzotriazole (HOAt) and diisopropylcarbodiimide (DIC). The reaction vessel was agitated on the shaker for at least 2 hours at room temperature. The coupling reaction was confirmed using negative ninhydrin test, followed by amine deprotection using 20% piperidine N,N-dimethylformamide solution. This same procedure was used to sequentially couple Fmoc-protected tyrosine, Fmoc-protected alanine and Fmoc-protected lysine, and finally generate the desired protected linear

77

peptide, LP_14.



Scheme 2. 7: The synthesis scheme for SY14.

LP_14 was cleaved from the resin under mildly acidic conditions using 50% (v/v) trifluoroethanol (TFE) in dichloromethane for 24 hours. LCMS was performed to monitor the reaction progress. The slurry was filtered under vacuum, and the filtrate containing the cleaved linear peptide was collected. The solvent was removed under reduced pressure to afford the LP_14 to precipitation as a fine off-white powder. The LP_14 was then globally deprotected using TFA and anisole (as a carbocation scavenger) in order to produce the deprotected linear peptide, SY14. The crude SY14 was purified using high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC). The mobile consisted of milli-Q water with

0.1% (v/v) formic acid, and HPLC grade acetonitrile with 0.1% (v/v) formic acid. From every injection, all obvious peaks were collected as individual fraction and checked by LC/MS. All fractions with identical traces as indicated in LC/MS were combined and lyophilised. The final product was characterized using LC-MS, ¹HNMR, and 2D NMR in the yields of 16%.

2.2.6.2 Synthesis of SY15

Scheme 2.8 shows the synthesis of SY15 in detail. SPPS was performed in a 60 mL polypropylene solid-phase extraction cartridge with a 20 µm polyethylene frit. Agitation of the reaction tube was performed by a tube shaker. Before loading, 2-chlorotrityl chloride (2-ClTrt) resin was swelled in dichloromethane for 30 minutes. Then the first amino acid, Fmoc-protected arginine was dissolved and added to the drain resin using a solution of 0.1 M diisopropyl ethyl amine (DIPEA) in dichloromethane. A sample of resin was removed, and the resin loading was determined to be 0.49 mmol/g. The Fmoc protecting group was removed using 20 % piperidine in dimethyl formamide (DMF) for 2 times 10 minutes. To confirm the Fmoc removal, a positive ninhydrin test was used. Following the deprotection, the coupling of Fmoc protected serine was achieved using both the coupling agents HOAt and DIC. The reaction vessel was agitated on the shaker for at least 2 hours at room temperature. The coupling reaction was confirmed using negative ninhydrin test, followed by amine deprotection using 20% piperidine N,Ndimethylformamide solution. This same procedure was used to sequentially couple Fmocprotected alanine, Fmoc-protected glycine and Fmoc-protected lysine, and finally generate the desired protected linear peptide, LP_15.



Scheme 2. 8: The synthesis scheme for SY15.

LP_15 was cleaved from the resin under mildly acidic conditions using 50% (v/v) trifluoroethanol (TFE) in dichloromethane for 24 hours. LCMS was performed to monitor the reaction progress. The slurry was filtered under vacuum, and the filtrate containing the cleaved linear peptide was collected. The solvent was removed under reduced pressure to afford the LP_15 to precipitation as a fine off-white powder. The LP_15 was then globally deprotected using TFA and anisole (as a carbocation scavenger) in order to produce the deprotected linear peptide, SY15. The crude SY15 was purified using high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC). The mobile consisted of milli-Q water with 0.1% (v/v) formic acid, and HPLC grade acetonitrile with 0.1% (v/v) formic acid. From

every injection, all obvious peaks were collected as individual fraction and checked by LC/MS. All fractions with identical traces as indicated in LC/MS were combined and lyophilised. The final product was characterized using LC-MS, ¹HNMR, and 2D NMR in the yields of 12%.

2.2.6.3 Synthesis of SY16

Scheme 2.9 shows the synthesis of SY16 in detail. SPPS was performed in a 60 mL polypropylene solid-phase extraction cartridge with a 20 µm polyethylene frit. Agitation of the reaction tube was performed by a tube shaker. Before loading, 2chlorotrityl chloride (2-ClTrt) resin was swelled in dichloromethane for 30 minutes. Then the first amino acid, Fmoc-protected arginine was dissolved and added to the drain resin using a solution of 0.1 M diisopropyl ethyl amine (DIPEA) in dichloromethane. A sample of resin was removed, and the resin loading was determined to be 0.49 mmol/g. The Fmoc protecting group was removed using 20 % piperidine in dimethyl formamide (DMF) for 2 times 10 minutes. To confirm the Fmoc removal, a positive ninhydrin test was used. Following the deprotection, the coupling of Fmoc protected alanine was achieved using both the coupling agents HOAt and DIC. The reaction vessel was agitated on the shaker for at least 2 hours at room temperature. The coupling reaction was confirmed using negative ninhydrin test, followed by amine deprotection using 20% piperidine N,Ndimethylformamide solution. This same procedure was used to sequentially couple Fmocprotected tyrosine, Fmoc-protected glycine and Fmoc-protected lysine, and finally generate the desired protected linear peptide, LP 16.



Scheme 2. 9: The synthesis scheme for SY16.

LP_16 was cleaved from the resin under mildly acidic conditions using 50% (v/v) trifluoroethanol (TFE) in dichloromethane for 24 hours. LCMS was performed to monitor the reaction progress. The slurry was filtered under vacuum, and the filtrate containing the cleaved linear peptide was collected. The solvent was removed under reduced pressure to afford the LP_16 to precipitation as a fine off-white powder. The LP_16 was then globally deprotected using TFA and anisole (as a carbocation scavenger) in order to produce the deprotected linear peptide, SY16. The crude SY16 was purified using high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC). The mobile consisted of milli-Q water with 0.1% (v/v) formic acid, and HPLC grade acetonitrile with 0.1% (v/v) formic acid. From every injection, all obvious peaks were collected as individual fraction and checked by

LC/MS. All fractions with identical traces as indicated in LC/MS were combined and lyophilised. The final product was characterized using LC-MS, ¹HNMR, and 2D NMR in the yields of 11%. With these 5 molecules in hand, binding assays and functional assay are currently ongoing in order to evaluate the molecules bioactivity. The inactivity of a molecule with alanine replacing a specific residue will inform us which residue is critical in order for **C1** to bind to Hsp70.

2.3 Conclusions

Effectively modulating protein-protein interactions is a significant challenge. This chapter has outlined the design, synthesis and evaluation of new Hsp70 modulators. These molecules are the first in class that inhibit Hsp70's function by stabilising a Hsp70-HOP binding event. Based on the sequences located within HOP's TPR1 domain, the author designed a library of molecules that was derived from Helices in this domain. During my master's thesis project, I synthesized six linear peptides (A1, B1, C1, SY14, SY15, and SY16), four cyclic pentapeptides (A2, B2, C2 and C4) and a biotin-labelled compound (C1-Tag). After screening the first series of compounds, I successfully identified a hit, C1, which directly bound to Hsp70 and effectively eliminated its protein folding function by stabilising the Hsp70-HOP complex.

Previous work had suggested cyclic peptides might be more effective as inhibitors, but in this case, the cyclic peptides were not as effective in modulating the Hsp70-HOP interaction compared to their linear counterparts. Specifically comparing C2, which is the cyclic version of C1, the cyclisation induced a dramatic decrease in binding activity between Hsp70 and HOP compared to its linear analogue C1. These data suggest that the residues in C2 are fixed in an undesirable conformation, which results in the loss of activity. Compounds **C3** and C4 are both active in the binding activity yet they are not effective in the protein folding functional assay. These data suggested that they molecules bind to Hsp70 or HOP, but in such a way that still allows Hsp70 to function.

Analysis of **C3**'s ability to bind to the protein, indicated that the molecule did not bind to Hsp70 or HOP alone but required the presence of both proteins to bind effectively. These data suggest that a specific conformation of Hsp70 is needed in order for **C3** to find a suitable binding site. This conformation is only induced once HOP has bound to Hsp70. Studies examining this hypothesis are ongoing.

The conformational changes of Hsp70 is the key factor for the function of this chaperone. Complete Hsp70 activity requires the functional cycle of Hsp70, which is driven by ATP hydrolysis.²⁶ The ATP bound state of Hsp70 forms a closed C-terminus conformation and binds to client proteins through the substrate binding domain (SBD) (**Figure 2.30**).²⁷ The ADP bound state of Hsp70 is an open conformation for the release of client proteins and transferring them to Hsp90. During the changing of Hsp70's different conformations, the association and dissociation of Hsp70-HOP-Hsp90 complex also dynamically switches over.²⁸ My hypothesis on how **C1, C3** and **C4** effectively enhance binding between Hsp70 and HOP is the following: conformational flexibility of Hsp70 is restricted to a single conformation during the binding assay, where Hsp70 is bound to HOP. The HOP bound state of Hsp70 is forced to expose some hidden residues onto the surface, which allow **C3** to bind to the protein. The binding event between **C3** and Hsp70 then increases the binding affinity between Hsp70 and HOP.



Figure 2. 30: The functional cycle and conformational changes of Hsp70

My hypothesis of how **C1** enhances binding between Hsp70 and HOP but inhibits protein folding the binding between Hsp70 and HOP is the following: Unlike the binding assay, the protein folding assay requires the dynamic assembly of the Hsp70-HOP-Hsp90 complex. The initial binding affinity between Hsp70 and HOP is low (Kd = 1.3 μ M) compared to binding between Hsp90 and HOP (Kd = 90 nM). ^{29 30} Thus, in the protein folding assay, only a small amount of Hsp70 (~10%) is bound to Hop, making **C3** and **C4** ineffective.

However, unlike **C3**, the pulldown data suggests that **C1** has a binding site on Hsp70 that is available when Hsp70 is not bound to HOP. Thus, I propose that **C1** binds to Hsp70, facilitates HOP binding, and stabilizes the complex making it harder for the dynamic disassembly to occur. This stabilized binding complex between Hsp70-**C1**-HOP

inhibits the protein folding process Hsp70 and HOP must have a dynamic relationship, where they can behave separately or as a complex if needed (**Figure 2.31**). This stabilized binding event that is driven by **C1** is likely responsible for halting the dynamic assembly between Hsp70-HOP, which impacts the binding and release of client proteins such as luciferase, and consequently block the entire Hsp70 folding cycle.

This stabilised binding mechanism is similar to the mechanism by which the drug Taxol performs. Taxol, ³¹ an effective chemotherapy medication, triggers the apoptosis of cancer cells by suppressing the dynamic assembly of mitotic spindles. By stabilising the microtubule polymer, Taxol blocks the proliferation and division of tumours and induces the cancer autolysis.³² Thus, compound **C1** has proven to bind to Hsp70, while inhibiting its protein folding function. Understanding the key residues that form the interaction between Hsp70 and **C1** is the next step of the project and is ongoing using the alanine scan molecules. Performing additional mechanistic assays including binding affinity for specific domains and evaluating these compounds in cells will offer a deeper understanding of how these molecules impact the cellular role of Hsp70.

2.4 References

1. Cunningham, A. D.; Qvit, N.; Mochly-Rosen, D., Peptides and peptidomimetics as regulators of protein–protein interactions. *Current Opinion in Structural Biology* **2017**, *44*, 59-66.

2. Fletcher, J. M.; Hughes, R. A., Modified low molecular weight cyclic peptides as mimetics of BDNF with improved potency, proteolytic stability and transmembrane *Bio. Org. Med. Chem* **2009**, *17*, 2695-2702.

3. Pelay-Gimeno, M.; Glas, A.; Koch, O.; Grossmann, T. N., Structure-Based Design of Inhibitors of Protein–Protein Interactions: Mimicking Peptide Binding Epitopes. *Angewandte Chemie International Edition* **2015**, *54*, 8896-8927.

4. Fosgerau, K.; Hoffmann, T., Peptide therapeutics: current status and future directions. *Drug Discov Today* **2015**, *20*, 122-128.

5. Craik, D. J., Fairlie, D. P., Liras, S., Price, D., The Future of Peptide-based Drugs. . *Chem. Biol. Drug Des.* **2013**, *81*, 136-147.

6. Horibe, T.; Kohno, M.; Haramoto, M.; Ohara, K.; Kawakami, K., Designed hybrid

TPR peptide targeting Hsp90 as a novel anticancer agent. J. Transl. Med. 2011, 9.

7. Horibe, T.; Kawamoto, M.; Kohno, M.; Kawakami, K., Cytotoxic activity to acute myeloid leukemia cells by Antp-TPR hybrid peptide targeting Hsp90. *J. Biosci. Bioeng.* **2012**, *114*, 96-103.

8. Horibe, T.; Torisawa, A.; Kohno, M.; Kawakami, K., Molecular mechanism of cytotoxicity induced by Hsp90-targeted Antp-TPR hybrid peptide in glioblastoma cells. *Mol. Cancer* **2012**, *11*, DOI: 10.1186/1476-4598-11-59.

9. Buckton, L. K.; Wahyudi, H.; McAlpine, S. R., The first report of direct inhibitors that target the C-terminal MEEVD region on heat shock protein 90. *Chem. Commun.* **2016**, *52*, 501-504.

10. Koay, Y. C.; Wahyudi, H.; McAlpine, S. R., Reinventing Hsp90 inhibitors: Blocking C-terminal binding events to Hsp90 using dimerized inhibitors. *Chem. Eur. J.* **2016**, *22*, 18572-18582.

11. Carrigan, P. E.; Nelson, G. M.; Roberts, P. J.; Stoffer, J. N.; Riggs, D. L.; Smith, D. F., Multiple Domains of the Co-chaperone Hop Are Important for Hsp70 Binding. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* **2004**, *279*, 16185-16193.

12. Muller, P.; Ruckova, R.; Halada, P.; Coates, P. J.; Hrstka, R.; Lane, D. P.; Vojtesek, B., C-terminal phosphorylation of hsp70 and hsp90 regulates alternate binding to cochaperones CHIP and HOP to determine cellular protein folding/degradation balances. *Oncogene.* **2013**, *32*, 3101-3110.

13. Scheufler, C.; Brinker, A.; Bourenkov, G.; Pegoraro, S.; Moroder, L.; Bartunik, H.; Hartl, F. U.; Moarefi, I., Structure of TPR domain-peptide complexes: critical elements in the assembly of the Hsp70-Hsp90 multichaperone machine. *Cell* **2000**, *101*, 199-210.

14. Rahimi, M. N.; Buckton, L. K.; Zaiter, S. S.; Kho, J.; Chan, V.; Guo, A.; Konesan, J.; Kwon, S.; Lam, L.; Lawler, M. F.; Leong, M.; Moldovan, G.; Neale, D.; Thornton, G.; McAlpine, S. R., Synthesis and structure activity relationships of inhibitors that target the C-terminal MEEVD region on heat shock protein 90 *Submitted* **2017**.

15. Rahimi, M. N.; Buckton, L. K.; Zaiter, S. S.; Kho, J.; Chan, V.; Guo, A.; Konesan, J.; Kwon, S.; Lam, L.; Lawler, M. F.; Leong, M.; Moldovan, G.; Neale, D.; Thornton, G.; McAlpine, S. R., Synthesis and structure activity relationships of inhibitors that target the C-terminal MEEVD region on heat shock protein 90 *ACS Med. Chem. Lett.* **2018**, *9*, 73-77.

16. A. G. N. Montalbetti, C.; Falque, V., *Amide Bond Formation and Peptide Coupling*. 2005; Vol. 61, p 10827-10852.

17. Styers, T. J.; Rodriguez, R. A.; Pan, P.-S.; McAlpine, S. R., High-yielding macrocyclization conditions used in the synthesis of novel Sansalvamide A derivatives. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2006**, *47*, 515-517.

18. Fraczyk, J.; Kaminski Zbigniew, J.; Katarzynska, J.; Kolesinska, B., 4 - (4,6 - Dimethoxy - 1,3,5 - triazin - 2 - yl) - 4 - methylmorpholinium Toluene - 4 - sulfonate (DMT/NMM/TsO-) Universal Coupling Reagent for Synthesis in Solution. *Helvetica Chimica Acta* **2017**, *101*, e1700187.

19. Mohammed, H.; Carroll, J. S., Approaches for assessing and discovering protein interactions in cancer. *Molecular cancer research : MCR* **2013**, *11*, 10.1158/1541-7786.MCR-13-0454.

20. Eisele, Y. S.; Monteiro, C.; Fearns, C.; Encalada, S. E.; Wiseman, R. L.; Powers, E. T.; Kelly, J. W., Targeting protein aggregation for the treatment of degenerative diseases. *Nature Reviews Drug Discovery* **2015**, *14*, 759.

21. Wilsen, S.; Gestwicki, J. E., Identification of small molecules that modify the protein folding activity of heat shock protein 70 (Hsp70). *Anal. Biochem.* **2008**, *374*, 371-

376.

22. Deepak, S.; Daniel, C. M., Hsp70 Structure, Function, Regulation and Influence on Yeast Prions. *Protein & Peptide Letters* **2009**, *16*, 571-581.

23. Chang, L.; Thompson, A. D.; Ung, P.; Carlson, H. A.; Gestwicki, J. E., Mutagenesis Reveals the Complex Relationships between ATPase Rate and the Chaperone Activities of Escherichia coli Heat Shock Protein 70 (Hsp70/DnaK). *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* **2010**, *285*, 21282-21291.

24. Morrison, K. L.; Weiss, G. A., Combinatorial alanine-scanning. *Current Opinion in Chemical Biology* **2001**, *5*, 302-307.

25. London, N.; Movshovitz-Attias, D.; Schueler-Furman, O., The Structural Basis of Peptide-Protein Binding Strategies. *Structure* **2010**, *18*, 188-199.

26. Woo, H.-J.; Jiang, J.; Lafer, E. M.; Sousa, R., ATP-Induced Conformational Changes in Hsp70: Molecular Dynamics and Experimental Validation of an in Silico Predicted Conformation. *Biochemistry* **2009**, *48*, 11470-11477.

27. Kityk, R.; Kopp, J.; Sinning, I.; Mayer, Matthias P., Structure and Dynamics of the ATP-Bound Open Conformation of Hsp70 Chaperones. *Molecular Cell* **2012**, *48*, 863-874.

28. Clerico, E. M.; Tilitsky, J. M.; Meng, W.; Gierasch, L. M., How Hsp70 Molecular Machines Interact with Their Substrates to Mediate Diverse Physiological Functions. *Journal of Molecular Biology* **2015**, *427*, 1575-1588.

29. Alvira, S.; Cuéllar, J.; Röhl, A.; Yamamoto, S.; Itoh, H.; Alfonso, C.; Rivas, G.; Buchner, J.; Valpuesta, J. M., Structural characterization of the substrate transfer mechanism in Hsp70/Hsp90 folding machinery mediated by Hop. *Nature Communications* **2014**, *5*, 5484.

30. Hernández, M. P.; Sullivan, W. P.; Toft, D. O., The assembly and intermolecular properties of the hsp70-Hop-hsp90 molecular chaperone complex. *J Biol Chem* **2002**, *277*, 38294-304.

31. Bollag, D. M.; McQueney, P. A.; Zhu, J.; Hensens, O.; Koupal, L.; Liesch, J.; Goetz, M.; Lazarides, E.; Woods, C. M., Epothilones, a new class of microtuble-stablizing agenst with a taxol-like mechanism of action. *Cancer Res.* **1995**, *55*, 2325-2333.

32. Bharadwaj, R.; Yu, H., The spindle checkpoint, aneuploidy, and cancer. *Oncogene* **2004**, *23*, 2016.
Chapter 3: Methods and experimental

3.1 General Remarks

All chemicals were purchased from commercial suppliers (Chem-Impex International and Sigma Aldrich) and used without further purification. All moisture sensitive reactions were performed using anhydrous solvents under nitrogen gas. Removal of solvent was carried out under reduced pressure using a Buchi R-210 rotary evaporator.

Semi-preparative HPLC for purification was performed using a GRACE VisionHT C18 column (5 μ m, 22 x 150 mm) or a Phenomenex Aeris XB-C18 column (5 μ m, 21.2 x 150 mm) on a Shimadzu Prominence High Performance LCMS 2010EV system. The mobile phase consisted of milli-Q water with 0.1% (v/v) formic acid (Mobile Phase A), and HPLC grade acetonitrile with 0.1% (v/v) formic acid (Mobile Phase B) at a flow rate of 5 mL/min, starting at 95% or 98% Mobile Phase A and 5% or 2% Mobile Phase B.

LC/MS analyses were performed using a Phenomenex Aeris XB-C18 column (3.6 µm, 2.1 x 100 mm) on either a Shimadzu LCMS 2020, Shimadzu LCMS 8030 or LCQ Deca XP Plus (Thermo Finnigan). The mobile phase consisted of milli-Q water with 0.1% (v/v) formic acid (Mobile Phase A), and HPLC grade acetonitrile with 0.1% (v/v) formic acid (Mobile Phase B) at a flow rate of 0.2 mL/min, starting at 95% Mobile Phase A and 5% Mobile Phase B.

1H and 13C NMR spectra were obtained on Bruker Avance III 600 MHz. Multiplicity of NMR signals were represented by the following abbreviations: s = singlet, d = doublet, t = triplet, q = quartet, m = multiplet, br = broad, dd = doublet of doublet. Assignment of

resonances for each residue was accomplished using 1H, HSQC, HMBC and COSY spectra.

3.2 General Synthetic Procedures

Solid-Phase Peptide Synthesis

Stepwise SPPS was performed in a polypropylene solid-phase extraction cartridge fitted with a 20 µm polyethylene frit purchased from Applied Separations (Allentown, PA).

Resin Loading

The resin was weighed, transferred to the cartridge and swelled in CH_2Cl_2 for 1 hour prior to the resin loading reaction. The appropriate Fmoc-protected amino acid was dissolved in the minimum amount of 0.4M DIPEA in CH_2Cl_2 . The swelled resin was then drained, and the dissolved amino acid was added to resin in the cartridge. The suspension was agitated for a minimum of 6 hours at room temperature. The resin was washed 3 times with CH_2Cl_2 , 3 times with DMF and 3 times with CH_2Cl_2 . The resin was then dried *in vacuo* overnight. A ~ 5 mg sample of resin was used to determine the amino acid loading. 20% piperidine in DMF was added to the sample to cleave the Fmoc protecting group. The resin was filtered away and the remaining solution was diluted 1 in 20 and the UV absorbance measured at 301 nm using a Cary 50 Bio UV-Vis instrument. DMF was used as a blank and samples were measured in a 1 mL quartz cuvette. The resin loading was then determined using the following formula:

Resin loading (mmol/g)

= (Abs x cleavage volume x dilution factor)/(extinction coefficient x cuvette width x resin mass)

= $(Abs x 1 mL x 20)/(7800 mL mmol^{-1} cm^{-1} x 1 cm x resin mass in g)$

= $(Abs \times 20 \text{ mL})/(7800 \text{ mL mmol}^{-1} \text{ x resin mass in g})$

Coupling Reaction

Prior to each coupling reaction, the resin was swelled in DMF for 0.5 - 1 hr, then the DMF was drained. Couplings were performed in DMF at a concentration of 0.3 M. Fmocprotected amino acid (2 equiv.) and either 1-hydroxybenzotriazole hydrate (HOBt) or 1hydroxy-7-azabenzotriazole HOAt (2 equiv.) were mixed with the resin. N, N'diisopropylcarbodiimide (DIC) (4 equiv.) was then added to activate the reaction. Coupling reaction was run for a minimum of 2 hours while shaking (Labquake tube shaker, Thermo Fisher Scientific) at room temperature. A negative ninhydrin test was used to confirm reaction completion. Once completed, the reaction mixture was drained, and the resin was subjected to *Fmoc Removal*.

Fmoc Removal

The Fmoc protecting group was removed using the following washes: DMF (3 x 1 min), 20% piperidine in DMF (1 x 5 min), 20% piperidine in DMF (1 x 10 min), DMF (2 x 1 min),

*i*PrOH (1 x 1 min), DMF (1 x 1 min), *i*PrOH (1 x 1 min) and DMF (3 x 1 min). The resin was then ready for the next coupling reaction.

On-resin Biotinylation

Once the desired peptide was generated, the final Fmoc protecting group was removed following *Fmoc Removal* procedure with the following additional washes by CH₂Cl₂. The resin-bound peptide was then dried *in vacuo* overnight. All biotin-coupling reactions were carried out under nitrogen in a final concentration of 0.05 M anhydrous CH₂Cl₂. The resin bound peptide (1.0 equivalent) was stirred in 50% of the final CH₂Cl₂ volume and then DIPEA (8 equivalent) was added. The EZ-Link NHS-PEG4-Biotin (1.5 equivalents) was dissolved in the remaining CH₂Cl₂ volume and was added to the reaction mixture. The solution was stirred at room temperature and reactions were monitored by negative ninhydrin test and LCMS. Once completed, the reaction mixture was drained, and the resin was subjected to *Resin Cleavage of Linear Peptide*

Resin Cleavage of Linear Peptide

Once the desired peptide was generated, the final Fmoc protecting group was removed following *Fmoc Removal* procedure with the following additional washes: DMF (3 x 1 min), *i*PrOH (3 x 1 min) and MeOH (3 x 1 min). The resin-bound peptide was then dried *in vacuo* overnight. The resin was then cleaved from the linear peptide using TFE and CH₂Cl₂ (1:1 v/v) at a concentration of 10 mL/g resin. The reaction mixture was stirred at room temperature for 24 hours before filtering the resin. The filtrate was concentrated and washed at least 10 times with CH₂Cl₂ to remove residual entrapped TFE. The product was then dried *in vacuo* overnight to produce the linear peptide.

Macrocyclisation

Macrocyclisation of the linear peptide was achieved using a cocktail of 3 coupling reagents: HATU (1 eq.), TBTU (0.8 equiv.) and DMTMM (0.8 equiv.). A special case occurred where macrocyclisation was achieved using only HATU (1 equiv.) and TBTU

(1 equiv.). DMTMM was removed as the methylmorpholinium by-product from the cyclisation formed a stable complex with the peptide and this by-product was inseparable by HPLC and was only detected via NMR. The reaction was performed under nitrogen and in dilute conditions using anhydrous solvents at concentration of 0.001 M. The linear peptide and coupling reagents were dissolved separately in CH₂Cl₂, where 20% of the final volume was used to dissolve the linear peptide and the other 80% dissolved the coupling reagents. DIPEA (4 equiv.) was added to each solution. The linear peptide solution was then added drop-wise to the coupling reagents solution via a syringe pump over approximately 2 hours. The reaction was stirred overnight and monitored via LC/MS. (Note: if the reaction failed to reach completion after stirring overnight, additional HATU (1 equiv.) was added and the reaction was monitored using LC/MS.) Upon completion, the reaction mixture was evaporated and the dry solid was redissolved in CH₂Cl₂ and extracted 3 times with milli-Q water. The aqueous layers were combined and extracted 3 times with fresh CH₂Cl₂. All organic layers were combined and dried over Na₂SO₄, filtered and evaporated under reduced pressure before the compound was dried in vacuo overnight.

Side Chain Deprotection

Amino acid side chain protecting groups were removed using TFA in CH_2Cl_2 (9:1 v/v) with anisole (at least 2 equiv. per protecting group). Anisole was added to the peptide, whilst stirring, followed by the TFA solution at a concentration of 4 mL/g compound. The reaction was left stirring at room temperature for at least 6 hours. The reaction was monitored using LC/MS and once complete the reaction solution was dried under a stream of nitrogen before redissolving in CH_2Cl_2 and evaporating multiple times to remove

residual entrapped TFA. The product was precipitated using diethyl ether, collected *via* centrifugation and lyophilised to produce the crude linear and cyclic peptide.

3.3 Biology Methods

3.3.1 Protein binding assay

All test compounds were dissolved in 100% DMSO and were diluted to a final concentration of 1% DMSO in each reaction. Each reaction consisted of Human native Hsp72 (ENZO, ADI-NSP-555) at a final concentration of 200 nM, the compound at various concentrations $(0 - 100 \,\mu\text{M})$ and binding buffer (150 mM NaCl, 20 mM Tris HCl, Triton X-100 (1% v/v), pH 7.4) at a final volume of 100 µL. The reactions were rocked at room temperature for 2 hours, then His-tagged HOP (StressMarg Biosciences, SPR-302-C) at a final concentration of 100 nM was added to each reaction, followed by an hour incubation. Protein pull-down was achieved by incubating each reaction with Talon-Metal Affinity Resin (Clontech, 635501), for an hour. The supernatant was removed, and the resin was washed six times with wash buffer (300 mM NaCl, 20 mM Tris HCl, 1% Triton X-100). Finally, the beads were boiled with 5 x Laemmli sample buffer (10% SDS, 30% glycerol, 0.5 M DTT, 0.05% bromophenol blue, 250 mM Tris HCl, pH 6.8). The supernatant of each sample was loaded onto an 8% Tris-Glycine gel. The gel was made using the SureCast Gel Handcast system (Invitrogen, HC1000S) according to the manufacturer's protocol. The proteins were separated using SDS-PAGE gel electrophoresis.

Proteins were transferred onto a PVDF membrane which was blocked with 5% non-fat milk in TBS-T (Tris-buffered saline containing 0.1% Tween-20) for 1 hr at 4 0C. The

membrane was then incubated with Hsp70 primary antibody (ENZO, ADI-SPA-811F, 1:6000 dilution) in 2.5% non-fat milk (in TBS-T) at 4 °C overnight. After wash with cold TBS-T, the membrane was incubated with the respective HRP-conjugated secondary antibody (abcam, ab6721, 1:1000 dilution) at 4 °C for 30 min, followed by five washes with cold TBS-T. Immunoblotting was performed using West Pico chemiluminescent substrate (Thermo scientific, 34580) and the images were captured by ImageQuant LAS 4010 digital imaging system (GE Healthcare). Following the detection of Hsp70, the membrane was then washed with cold TBS-T five times. Then the membrane was incubated with HOP primary antibody (abcam, ab126724,1:15000 dilution) in 2.5% non-fat milk (in TBS-T) at 4 °C overnight. The previous steps were repeated to detect HOP on the PVDF membrane. The respective ratio of Hsp70 to HOP was analysed via Image J and transformed to a fold Hsp70 bound to HOP. Each experiment was completed at least n=3.

3.3.2 Protein pulldown assay

Biotin-tagged compounds were dissolved in 100% DMSO and were diluted to a final concentration of 1% DMSO in each reaction. Each reaction consisted of Recombinant Human Hsp70 protein (ab48997) at a final concentration of 200 nM, the tagged compound at various concentrations (0 – 200 μ M) and binding buffer (150 mM NaCl, 20 mM Tris HCl, Triton X-100 (1% v/v), pH 7.4) at a final volume of 100 μ L. The reactions were rocked at room temperature for 1 hour. Protein pull-down was achieved by incubating each reaction with NeutrAvidin® Agarose Resins (Thermo Scientific, 29201 or 29204), for an hour. The NeutrAvidin® Agarose Resins were pre-blocked with 1.3% w/v of Bovine Serum Albumin (Sigma, A2153) in binding buffer for 1 hour at room temperature. Following the incubation with NeutrAvidin®, the supernatant was removed

from each reaction, and the resin was washed six times with wash buffer (300 mM NaCl, 20 mM Tris HCl, 1% Triton X-100). Finally, the beads were boiled with 5 x Laemmli sample buffer (10% SDS, 30% glycerol, 0.5 M DTT, 0.05% bromophenol blue, 250 mM Tris HCl, pH 6.8). The supernatant of each sample was loaded onto an 8% Tris-Glycine gel. The gel was made using the SureCast Gel Handcast system (Invitrogen, HC1000S) according to the manufacturer's protocol. The proteins were separated using SDS-PAGE gel electrophoresis.

Proteins were transferred onto a PVDF membrane which was blocked with 5% non-fat milk in TBS-T (Tris-buffered saline containing 0.1% Tween-20) for 1 hr at 4 0C. The membrane was then incubated with Hsp70 primary antibody (ENZO, ADI-SPA-811F, 1:4000 dilution) in 2.5% non-fat milk (in TBS-T) at 4 °C overnight. After wash with cold TBS-T, the membrane was incubated with the respective HRP-conjugated secondary antibody (abcam, ab6721, 1:1000 dilution) at 4 °C for 30 min, followed by five washes with cold TBS-T. Immunoblotting was performed using West Pico chemiluminescent substrate (Thermo scientific, 34580) and the images were captured by ImageQuant LAS 4010 digital imaging system (GE Healthcare). The relative amount of Hsp70 was analysed via Image J and transformed to a fold of Hsp70 pulled down relative to 1% DMSO control.

3.3.3 Competitive binding assay

All test compounds and biotin-tagged compounds were dissolved in 100% DMSO and were diluted to a final concentration of 1% DMSO in each reaction. Each reaction consisted of Recombinant Human Hsp70 protein (ab48997) at a final concentration of 200 nM, the tagged compound at finial concentration of 200 μ M and binding buffer (150

mM NaCl, 20 mM Tris HCl, Triton X-100 (1% v/v), pH 7.4) at a final volume of 100 μ L. The reactions were rocked at room temperature for 1 hour. Then the untagged compound was added to each reaction at various concentrations (0 – 200 μ M) and incubated for 1 hour. Protein pull-down was achieved by incubating each reaction with NeutrAvidin® Agarose Resins (Thermo Scientific 29201 or 29204), for an hour. The NeutrAvidin® Agarose Resin was pre-blocked with 1.3% of Bovine Serum Albumins (Sigma, A2153) for 1 hour. Following the incubation with NeutrAvidin®, the supernatant was removed, and the resin was washed six times with wash buffer (300 mM NaCl, 20 mM Tris HCl, 1% Triton X-100). Finally, the beads were boiled with 5 x Laemmli sample buffer (10% SDS, 30% glycerol, 0.5 M DTT, 0.05% bromophenol blue, 250 mM Tris HCl, pH 6.8). The supernatant of each sample was loaded onto an 8% Tris-Glycine gel. The gel was made using the SureCast Gel Handcast system (Invitrogen, HC1000S) according to the manufacturer's protocol. The proteins were separated using SDS-PAGE gel electrophoresis.

Proteins were transferred onto a PVDF membrane which was blocked with 5% non-fat milk in TBS-T (Tris-buffered saline containing 0.1% Tween-20) for 1 hr at 4 0C. The membrane was then incubated with Hsp70 primary antibody (ENZO, ADI-SPA-811F, 1:4000 dilution) in 2.5% non-fat milk (in TBS-T) at 4 °C overnight. After wash with cold TBS-T, the membrane was incubated with the respective HRP-conjugated secondary antibody (abcam, ab6721, 1:1000 dilution) at 4 °C for 30 min, followed by five washes with cold TBS-T. Immunoblotting was performed using West Pico chemiluminescent substrate (Thermo scientific, 34580) and the images were captured by ImageQuant LAS 4010 digital imaging system (GE Healthcare). The relative amount of Hsp70 was

analysed via Image J and transformed to a precent of Hsp70 bound to the tagged molecule relative to DMSO control. Each experiment was completed at least n=3.

3.3.4 Luciferase renaturation assay

The luciferase refolding assay was adapted from literature methods¹. Luciferase (QuantiLum recombinant luciferase, Promega, E1701) was denatured in 2x denaturing buffer (25 mM HEPES (pH 7.2), 50 mM potassium acetate, 5 mM DTT and 6 M Guanidine HCl) at a concentration of 0.5 mg/mL for 60 mins at room temperature. Native luciferase was used as a control and was incubated in 1 x diluting buffer (25 mM HEPES (pH 7.6), 50 mM potassium acetate, 5 mM DTT) at a concentration of 0.5 mg/mL for 60 mins at room temperature. Both the native and denatured luciferase were then diluted 1 in 40 using 1 x diluting buffer on ice for 20 minutes.

Human native Hsp72 (ENZO, ADI-NSP-555) at a final concentration of 0.5 μ M was incubated with each compound at 50 μ M in 1 x refolding buffer (28 mM HEPES (pH 7.6) 120 mM potassium acetate, 12 mM magnesium acetate, 2.2 mM DTT, 0.25 mM ATP, 8.8 mM creatine phosphate, 35 U/mL creatine kinase), for 2 hours on ice. Then each reaction was made up to a final volume of 50 μ L by adding the following proteins at these final concentrations: 100 nM DnaJ (abcam, ab91598), 50 nM GrpE (abcam, ab63839), 50 nM Hsp90 (ENZO ADI-SPP-770-F), 50 nM HOP (StressMarq Biosciences, SPR-302-C) and finally 2 μ L of denatured luciferase. Two control reactions were set up and consisted of 2 μ L of either native or denatured luciferase, 1% DMSO and refolding buffer to a final volume of 50 μ L. The reactions were incubated at room temperature. 2 μ L aliquots of each reaction were taken at various time points and were combined with 23 μ L of Bright-Glo reagent (Promega, E2610) in a white 384-well polystyrene microplate (PerkinElmer, 6007290). The luminescence of the respective wells was measured using a Tecan F200 Pro multimode plate reader. The final data was plotted as the % of luciferase refolded over time relative to the maximum luminescence signal from DMSO at 5 hours. To determine whether the compounds interacted with native or denatured luciferase the following reactions were set-up: 2 μ L of native or denatured luciferase, compound at various concentrations (1, 5, 25 and 50 μ M) and 1 x refolding buffer to final volume of 50 μ L. The reactions were incubated for 20 minutes on ice. 2 μ L aliquots of each reaction was combined with 23 μ L of Bright-Glo reagent (Promega, E2610) in a white 384-well polystyrene microplate. The luminescence of these wells was measured and the raw luminescence values were plotted.

3.3.5 Reference

1. Wilsen, S.; Gestwicki, J. E., Identification of small molecules that modify the protein folding activity of heat shock protein 70 (Hsp70). *Anal. Biochem.* **2008**, *374*, 371-376.

3.4 Experimental Procedures

3.4.1 Experimental Procedures for A1

Resin- O-Asn(Trt)-NH2

The resin bound amino acid Resin-O-Asn(Trt)-NH₂ was synthesized following the *Resin Loading* procedure. A sample of 2-chlorotrityl chloride resin (1.1 g, 1.1 mmol/g loading, 1 equiv.) was placed in a solid phase tube, swelled with CH₂Cl₂ for 1 hour and then drained. 1.44 g Fmoc-Asn(Trt)-OH (2.42 mmol, 2 equiv.) that was pre-dissolved in the minimum volume of DIPEA in CH₂Cl₂ (0.40 M) was added to the swelled resin. The reaction was agitated at room temperature for 8 hours. The reaction mixture was drained, and the resin was washed according to the *Resin Loading* protocol to produce Resin-O-Asn(Trt)-NHFmoc. A sample of resin was removed, and the resin loading was determined to be 0.565 mmol/g. The Fmoc group was then removed using the *Fmoc Removal* procedure to produce Resin-O-Asn(Trt)-NH₂.

Resin-O-Asn(Trt)-Gly-NH₂

Resin-O-Asn(Trt)-Gly-NH₂ was synthesized according to the *Coupling Reaction* procedure, using Resin-O-Leu-NH₂ (0.57 mmol, 1 equiv.), 0.37 g Fmoc-Gly-OH (1.24 mmol, 2 equiv.), 2.1 mL HOAt (1.24 mmol, 2 equiv.), 0.42 mL DIC (2.5 mmol, 4 equiv.) and 0.42 mL of DMF to generate a concentration of 0.1 M. The coupling reaction was run for 5 hours and a negative ninhydrin test was used to confirm reaction completion. The reaction mixture was drained to afford Resin-O-Asn(Trt)-Gly-NHFmoc. The Fmoc group was then removed following the *Fmoc Removal* procedure to afford Resin-O-Asn(Trt)-Gly-NH₂.

Resin-O-Asn(Trt)-Gly-Lys(Boc)-NH2

Resin-O-Asn(Trt)-Gly-Lys(Boc)-NH₂ was synthesized according to the *Coupling Reaction* procedure, using Resin-O-Asn(Trt)-Gly-NH₂ from the previous reaction, 0.69 g Fmoc-Lys(Boc)-OH (1.24 mmol, 2 equiv.), 2.1 mL HOAt (1.24 mmol, 2 equiv.), 0.42 mL DIC (2.5 mmol, 4 equiv.) and 0.42 mL of DMF to generate a concentration of 0.1 M. The coupling reaction was run for 5 hours and a negative ninhydrin test was used to confirm reaction completion. The reaction mixture was drained to afford Resin-O-Asn(Trt)-Gly-Lys(Boc)-NHFmoc. The Fmoc group was then removed following the *Fmoc Removal* procedure to afford Resin-O-Asn(Trt)-Gly-Lys(Boc)-NH₂.

Resin-O-Asn(Trt)-Gly-Lys(Boc)-Glu(tBu)-NH2

Resin-O-Asn(Trt)-Gly-Lys(Boc)-Glu(tBu)-NH₂ was synthesized according to the *Coupling Reaction* procedure, using Resin-O-Asn(Trt)-Gly-Lys(Boc)-NH₂ from the previous reaction, 0.63 g Fmoc-Glu(tBu)-OH (1.49 mmol, 2.4 equiv.), 2.1 mL HOAt (1.24 mmol, 2 equiv.), 0.42 mL DIC (2.5 mmol, 4 equiv.) and 0.42 mL of DMF to generate a concentration of 0.1 M. The coupling reaction was run for 3 hours and a negative ninhydrin test was used to confirm reaction completion. The reaction mixture was drained to afford Resin-O-Asn(Trt)-Gly-Lys(Boc)-Glu(tBu)-NHFmoc. The Fmoc group was then removed following the *Fmoc Removal* procedure to afford Resin-O-Asn(Trt)-Gly-Lys(Boc)-Glu(tBu)-NH₂.

Resin-O-Asn(Trt)-Gly-Lys(Boc)-Glu(tBu)-Lys(Boc)-NH2

Resin-O-Asn(Trt)-Gly-Lys(Boc)-Glu(tBu)-Lys(Boc)-NH₂ was synthesized according to the *Coupling Reaction* procedure, using Resin-O-Asn(Trt)-Gly-Lys(Boc)-Glu(tBu)-NH₂

from the previous reaction, 0.69 g Fmoc-Lys(Boc)-OH (1.24 mmol, 2 equiv.), 2.1 mL HOAt (1.24 mmol, 2 equiv.), 0.42 mL DIC (2.5 mmol, 4 equiv.) and 0.42 mL of DMF to generate a concentration of 0.1 M. The coupling reaction was allowed to run overnight and a negative ninhydrin test was used to confirm reaction completion. The reaction mixture was drained to afford Resin-O-Asn(Trt)-Gly-Lys(Boc)-Glu(tBu)-Lys(Boc)-NHFmoc. The Fmoc group was then removed following the *Fmoc Removal* procedure to afford Resin-O-Asn(Trt)-Gly-Lys(Boc)-NH₂.

HO-Asn(Trt)-Gly-Lys(Boc)-Glu(tBu)-Lys(Boc)-NH2

The protected linear peptide HO-Asn(Trt)-Gly-Lys(Boc)-Glu(tBu)-Lys(Boc)-NH₂ was generated following the *Resin Cleavage* procedure. The linear peptide was cleaved from the resin using a solution of 7.0 mL of trifluoroethanol and 7.0 mL of CH₂Cl₂. The resin containing solution was filtered and dried *in vacuo* to yield the protected linear peptide as a pale-yellow solid (627 mg, 90% overall).

HO-Asn-Gly-Lys-Glu-Lys-NH₂ (Compound A1)

The deprotected linear peptide was generated following the *Global Deprotection* procedure using 0.15 g HO-Asn(Trt)-Gly-Lys(Boc)-Glu(tBu)-Lys(Boc)-NH₂ (0.14 mmol, 1 equiv.), 0.8 mL of a mixed solution of TFA and CH₂Cl₂ (9:1 v/v) and 0.12 mL anisole (1.11 mmol, 8 equiv.) to remove the side chain protecting groups. The reaction mixture was stirred overnight and monitored *via* LC/MS. Upon completion, the reaction mixture was worked up as described in the *Global Deprotection* procedure to afford the crude linear peptide. The crude product was purified using HPLC, then lyophilised to generate pure compound as a white solid (6 mg, 11% overall)

LC/MS (ESI) m/z: [M+H]⁺ calculated for C₂₃H₄₃N₈O₉⁺, 575.30; found 575.40

¹H NMR (600 MHz, D₂O): δ 4.54 (dd, *J* = 4.75, 8.80 Hz, 1H, αH Asn), 4.37 (dd, *J* = 4.99, 9.12 Hz, 1H, αH Glu), 4.28 (t, *J* = 7.11 Hz, 1H, αH Lys), 3.13 (m, 3H, αH Gly, αH Lys), 3.08 -3.00 (m, 4H, εH Lys), 2.87-2.64 (m 2H, βH Asn), 2.49 – 2.21 (m, 2H, γH Glu), 2.22 – 1.79 (m, 6H, βH Glu, βH Lys), 1.87-1.62 (m, 4H, δH Lys), 1.54-1.49 (m, 4H, γH Lys).

3.4.2 Experimental Procedures for A2

cyclo-Asn(Trt)-Gly-Lys(Boc)-Glu(tBu)-Lys(Boc)

The protected cyclic peptide *cyclo*-Asn(Trt)-Gly-Lys(Boc)-Glu(tBu)-Lys(Boc) was synthesised following the *Macrocyclisation* procedure using 0.3 g of HO-Asn(Trt)-Gly-Lys(Boc)-Glu(tBu)-Lys(Boc)-NH₂ (0.28 mmol, 1.0 equiv.), 0.11 g HATU (0.28 mmol, 1 equiv.), 0.07 g TBTU (0.22 mmol, 0.8 equiv.), 0.06 g DMTMM (0.2 mmol, 0.8 equiv.), 0.40 mL DIPEA (2.4 mmol, 8 equiv.) in anhydrous CH₂Cl₂ (280 mL, 0.001 M), The reaction was then stirred overnight and monitored *via* LC/MS. Upon completion, the reaction mixture was worked up as described in the *Macrocyclisation* procedure and dried *in vacuo* to produce the crude, protected, cyclic peptide *cyclo*-Asn(Trt)-Gly-Lys(Boc)-Glu(tBu)-Lys(Boc).

cyclo-Asn-Gly-Lys-Glu-Lys (Compound A2)

The deprotected cyclic peptide *cyclo*-Asn-Gly-Lys-Glu-Lys was synthesised following the *Global Deprotection* procedure using 0.2 g *cyclo*-Asn(Trt)-Gly-Lys(Boc)-Glu(tBu)-Lys(Boc) (0.19 mmol, 1 equiv.), 0.8 mL of a mixed solution of TFA and CH₂Cl₂(9:1 v/v) and 0.16 mL anisole (1.5 mmol, 8 equiv.) to remove the side chain protecting groups. The reaction mixture was stirred for 5 hours and monitored *via* LC/MS. Upon completion, the reaction mixture was worked up as described in the *Global Deprotection* procedure to afford the crude cyclic peptide. The crude product was purified using HPLC, then lyophilised to generate pure compound as a white solid (10.2 mg, 15% overall)

LC/MS (ESI) *m/z*: [M+H]⁺ calculated for C₂₃H₄₁N₈O₈⁺, 557.31; found 557.40

¹H NMR (600 MHz, D₂O): δ 4.71 (t, J = 6.50 Hz, αH Asn), 4.37 (dd, J = 5.2, 9.95 Hz, 1H, αH Lys), 4.3 (dd, J = 5.08, 10.05 Hz, 1H, αH Lys), 4.17 (t, J = 7.38 Hz, 2H, αH Glu), 4.12 – 3.65 (m, 2H, αH Gly), 3.12 -2.94 (m, 4H, εH Lys), 2.93-2.84 (m 2H, βH Asn), 2.42 (t, J = 7.28 Hz, 2H, γH Glu), 2.21 – 2.04 (m, 2H, βH Glu), 2.03 - 1.99 (m, 8H, δH Lys, , βH Lys), 1.60-1.33 (m, 4H, γH Lys).

3.4.3 Experimental Procedures for B1

Resin-O-Ser(tBu)-NH₂

The resin bound amino acid Resin-O-Ser(tBu)-NH₂ was synthesized following the *Resin Loading* procedure. A sample of 2-chlorotrityl chloride resin (1.0 g, 1.1 mmol/g loading, 1 equiv.) was placed in a solid phase tube, swelled with CH_2Cl_2 for 1 hour and then drained. 0.84 g Fmoc-Ser(tBu)-OH (2.2 mmol, 2 equiv.) that was pre-dissolved in the minimum volume of DIPEA in CH_2Cl_2 (0.40 M) was added to the swelled resin. The reaction was agitated at room temperature overnight. The reaction mixture was drained, and the resin was washed according to the *Resin Loading* protocol to produce Resin-O-

Ser(tBu)-NHFmoc. A sample of resin was removed, and the resin loading was determined to be 0.63 mmol/g. The Fmoc group was then removed using the *Fmoc Removal* procedure to produce Resin-O-Ser(tBu)-NH₂.

Resin-O-Ser(tBu)-Arg(Pbf)-NH2

Resin-O-Ser(tBu)-Arg(Pbf)-NH₂ was synthesized according to the *Coupling Reaction* procedure, using 1.0 g Resin-O-Ser(tBu)-Arg(Pbf)-NH₂ (0.72 mmol, 1 equiv.), 0.82 g Fmoc-Arg(Pbf)-OH (1.3 mmol, 2 equiv.), 2.1mL HOAt (1.3 mmol, 2 equiv.), 0.42 mL DIC (2.5 mmol, 4 equiv.) and 2.5 mL of DMF to generate a concentration of 0.1 M. The coupling reaction was run for 5 hours and a negative ninhydrin test was used to confirm reaction completion. The reaction mixture was drained to afford Resin-O-Ser(tBu)-Arg(Pbf)-NHFmoc. The Fmoc group was then removed following the *Fmoc Removal* procedure to afford Resin-O-Ser(tBu)-Arg(Pbf)-NH₂.

Resin-O-Ser(tBu)-Arg(Pbf)-Asn(Trt)-NH2

Resin-O-Ser(tBu)-Arg(Pbf)-Asn(Trt)-NH₂ was synthesized according to the *Coupling Reaction* procedure, using Resin-O-Ser(tBu)-Arg(Pbf)-Ala-NH₂ from the previous reaction, 0.75 g Fmoc-Tyr(tBu)-OH (1.3 mmol, 2 equiv.), 2.1mL HOAt (1.3 mmol, 2 equiv.), 0.42 mL DIC (2.5 mmol, 4 equiv.) and 2.5 mL of DMF to generate a concentration of 0.1 M. The coupling reaction was run overnight, and a negative ninhydrin test was used to confirm reaction completion. The reaction mixture was drained to afford Resin-O-Ser(tBu)-Arg(Pbf)-Asn(Trt)-NHFmoc. The Fmoc group was then removed following the *Fmoc Removal* procedure to afford Resin-O-Ser(tBu)-Arg(Pbf)-Asn(Trt)-NH₂.

Resin-O-Ser(tBu)-Arg(Pbf)-Asn(Trt)-Ser(tBu)-NH2

Resin-O-Ser(tBu)-Arg(Pbf)-Asn(Trt)-Ser(tBu)-NH₂ was synthesized according to the *Coupling Reaction* procedure, using Resin-O-Ser(tBu)-Arg(Pbf)-Asn(Trt)-NH₂ from the previous reaction, 0.49 g Fmoc-Ser(tBu)-OH (1.3 mmol, 2 equiv.), 2.1mL HOAt (1.3 mmol, 2 equiv.), 0.42 mL DIC (2.5 mmol, 4 equiv.) and 2.5 mL of DMF to generate a concentration of 0.1 M. The coupling reaction was run for 5 hours and a negative ninhydrin test was used to confirm reaction completion. The reaction mixture was drained to afford Resin-O-Ser(tBu)-Arg(Pbf)-Asn(Trt)-Ser(tBu)-NHFmoc. The Fmoc group was then removed following the *Fmoc Removal* procedure to afford Resin-O-Ser(tBu)-Arg(Pbf)-Asn(Trt)-Ser(tBu)-NH₂.

Resin-O-Ser(tBu)-Arg(Pbf)-Asn(Trt)-Ser(tBu)-Tyr(tBu)-NH2

Resin-O-Ser(tBu)-Arg(Pbf)-Asn(Trt)-Ser(tBu)-Tyr(tBu)-NH₂ was synthesized according to the *Coupling Reaction* procedure, using Resin-O-Ser(tBu)-Arg(Pbf)-Asn(Trt)-Ser(tBu)-NH₂ from the previous reaction, 0.58 g Fmoc-Tyr(tBu)-OH (1.3 mmol, 2 equiv.), 2.1mL HOAt (1.3 mmol, 2 equiv.), 0.42 mL DIC (2.5 mmol, 4 equiv.) and 2.5 mL of DMF to generate a concentration of 0.1 M. The coupling reaction was allowed to run overnight and a negative ninhydrin test was used to confirm reaction completion. The reaction mixture was drained to afford Resin-O-Ser(tBu)-Arg(Pbf)-Asn(Trt)-Ser(tBu)-Tyr(tBu)-NHFmoc. The Fmoc group was then removed following the *Fmoc Removal* procedure to afford Resin-O-Ser(tBu)-Arg(Pbf)-Asn(Trt)-Ser(tBu)-Tyr(tBu)-NH₂.

$HO-Ser(tBu)-Arg(Pbf)-Asn(Trt)-Ser(tBu)-Tyr(tBu)-NH_2$

The protected linear peptide HO-Ser(tBu)-Arg(Pbf)-Asn(Trt)-Ser(tBu)-Tyr(tBu)-NH₂ was generated following the *Resin Cleavage* procedure. The linear peptide was cleaved from the resin using a solution of 13.0 mL of trifluoroethanol and 13.0 mL of CH₂Cl₂. The resin containing solution was filtered and dried *in vacuo* to yield the protected linear pentapeptide as a pale-yellow solid (600 mg, 88% overall).

HO-Ser-Arg-Asn-Ser-Tyr-NH₂ (Compound B1)

The deprotected linear peptide HO-Ser-Arg-Asn-Ser-Tyr-NH₂ was generated following the *Global Deprotection* procedure using 0.08 g HO-Ser(tBu)-Arg(Pbf)-Asn(Trt)-Ser(tBu)-Tyr(tBu)-NH₂ (0.06 mmol, 1 equiv.), 1 mL of a mixed solution of TFA and CH_2Cl_2 (9:1 v/v) and 0.5 mL anisole (0.05 mmol, 8 equiv.) to remove the side chain protecting groups. The reaction mixture was stirred overnight and monitored *via* LC/MS. Upon completion, the reaction mixture was worked up as described in the *Global Deprotection* procedure to afford the crude linear peptide. The crude product was purified using HPLC, then lyophilised to generate pure compound as a white solid (18.3 mg, 13% overall).

LC/MS (ESI) m/z: [M+H]⁺ calculated for C₂₅H₄₀N₉O₁₀⁺, 626.29; found 626.35

¹H NMR (600 MHz, D₂O): δ 7.27 – 6.84 (m, 4H, Tyr), 4.73 (dd, J = 5.2, 9.95 Hz,1H, αH Asn), 4.52 (t, J = 5.93 Hz, 1H, αH Lys), 4.44 (dd, J = 5.63, 6.65 Hz, 1H, αH Arg), 4.31 (t, J = 4.87 Hz, 1H, αH Ser), 4.28 (t, J = 7.8 Hz, 1H, αH Ser), 3.97 – 3.73 (m, 4H, βH Ser), 3.34 – 3.05 (m, 4H, βH Tyr, δH Arg), 2.95 – 2.74 (m, 2H, βH Asn), 2.02 - 1.72 (m, 2H, βH Arg), 1.70-1.58 (m, 2H, γH Arg).

3.4.4 Experimental Procedures for B2

cyclo-Ser(tBu)-Arg(Pbf)-Asn(Trt)-Ser(tBu)-Tyr(tBu)

The protected cyclic peptide *cyclo*-Ser(tBu)-Arg(Pbf)-Asn(Trt)-Ser(tBu)-Tyr(tBu) was synthesised following the *Macrocyclisation* procedure using 0.3 g HO-Ser(tBu)-Arg(Pbf)-Asn(Trt)-Ser(tBu)-Tyr(tBu)-NH₂ (0.23 mmol, 1 equiv.), 0.089 g HATU (0.23 mmol, 1 equiv.), 0.06 g TBTU (0.19 mmol, 0.8 equiv.), 0.52 g DMTMM (0.19 mmol, 1 equiv.), 0.32 mL DIPEA (2.4 mmol, 8 equiv.) in anhydrous CH₂Cl₂ (233 mL, 0.001 M), The reaction was then stirred for 5 hours and monitored *via* LC/MS. Upon completion, the reaction mixture was worked up as described in the *Macrocyclisation* procedure and dried *in vacuo* to produce the crude, protected, cyclic peptide *cyclo*-Ser(tBu)-Arg(Pbf)-Asn(Trt)-Ser(tBu)-Tyr(tBu).

cyclo-Ser-Arg-Asn-Ser-Tyr (Compound B2)

The deprotected cyclic peptide *cyclo*-Ser-Arg-Asn-Ser-Tyr was synthesised following the *Global Deprotection* procedure using 0.3 g *cyclo*-Ser(tBu)-Arg(Pbf)-Asn(Trt)-Ser(tBu)-Tyr(tBu)(0.18 mmol, 1 equiv.), 1.2 mL of a mixed solution of TFA and CH_2Cl_2 (9:1 v/v) and 0.2 mL anisole (2.0 mmol, 10 equiv.) to remove the side chain protecting groups. The reaction mixture was stirred for 4 hours and monitored *via* LC/MS. Upon completion, the reaction mixture was worked up as described in the *Global Deprotection* procedure to afford the crude cyclic peptide. The crude product was purified using HPLC, then lyophilised to generate pure compound as a white solid (19 mg, 17% overall).

LC/MS (ESI) *m/z*: [M+H]⁺ calculated for C₂₅H₃₈N₉O₉⁺, 608.28; found 608.30

¹H NMR (600 MHz, D₂O): δ 7.35 – 6.72 (m, 4H, Tyr), 4.57 (t, J = 6.93 Hz,1H, αH Asn), 4.52 – 4.42 (m, 1H, αH Lys), 4.41 – 4.31 (m, 2H, αH Ser), 4.26 (q, J = 5.13 Hz, 1H, αH Arg), 3.96 – 3.67 (m, 4H, βH Ser), 3.34 – 3.05 (m, 4H, βH Tyr, δH Arg), 3.04 – 2.84 (m, 2H, βH Asn), 2.06 - 1.82 (m, 2H, βH Arg), 1.78-1.58 (m, 2H, γH Arg).

3.4.5 Experimental Procedures for C1

Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-NH₂

The resin bound amino acid Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-NH₂ was synthesized following the *Resin Loading* procedure. A sample of 2-chlorotrityl chloride resin (1.0 g, 1.1 mmol/g loading, 1 equiv.) was placed in a solid phase tube, swelled with CH₂Cl₂ for 1 hour and then drained. 1.5 g Fmoc-Arg(Pbf)-OH (2.3 mmol, 2 equiv.) was pre-dissolved in the minimum volume of DIPEA in CH₂Cl₂ (0.40 M) and was added to the swelled resin. The reaction was agitated at room temperature overnight. The reaction mixture was drained, and the resin was washed according to the *Resin Loading* protocol to produce Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-NHFmoc. A sample of resin was removed, and the resin loading was determined to be 0.39 mmol/g. The Fmoc group was then removed using the *Fmoc Removal* procedure to produce Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-NH₂.

Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-Ser(tBu)-NH₂

Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-Ser(tBu)-NH₂ was synthesized according to the *Coupling Reaction* procedure, using 1.0 g Resin-O- Arg(Pbf)-NH₂ (0.39 mmol, 1 equiv.), 0.32 g Fmoc-Ser(tBu)-OH (0.83 mmol, 2 equiv.), 1.4 HOAt (0.83 mmol, 2 equiv.), 0.28 mL DIC (1.7 mmol, 4 equiv.) and 0.7 mL of DMF to generate a concentration of 0.1 M. The coupling reaction was run for 5 hours and a negative ninhydrin test was used to confirm reaction completion. The reaction mixture was drained to afford Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-Ser(tBu)-

NHFmoc. The Fmoc group was then removed following the *Fmoc Removal* procedure to afford Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-Ser(tBu)-NH₂.

Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-Ser(tBu)-Tyr(tBu)-NH2

Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-Ser(tBu)-Tyr(tBu)-NH₂ was synthesized according to the *Coupling Reaction* procedure, using Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-Ser(tBu)-NH₂ from the previous reaction, 0.38 g Fmoc-Tyr(tBu)-OH (0.83 mmol, 2 equiv.), 1.4 HOAt (0.83 mmol, 2 equiv.), 0.28 mL DIC (1.7 mmol, 4 equiv.) and 0.7 mL of DMF to generate a concentration of 0.1 M. The coupling reaction was run overnight, and a negative ninhydrin test was used to confirm reaction completion. The reaction mixture was drained to afford Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-Ser(tBu)-Tyr(tBu)-NHFmoc. The Fmoc group was then removed following the *Fmoc Removal* procedure to afford Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-Ser(tBu)-Tyr(tBu)-NH₂.

Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-Ser(tBu)-Tyr(tBu)-Gly-NH2

Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-Ser(tBu)-Tyr(tBu)-Gly-NH₂ was synthesized according to the *Coupling Reaction* procedure, using Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-Ser(tBu)-Tyr(tBu)-NH₂ from the previous reaction, 0.25 g Fmoc-Gly -OH (0.83 mmol, 2 equiv.), 1.4 HOAt (0.83 mmol, 2 equiv.), 0.28 mL DIC (1.7 mmol, 4 equiv.) and 0.7 mL of DMF to generate a concentration of 0.1 M. The coupling reaction was run overnight and a negative ninhydrin test was used to confirm reaction completion. The reaction mixture was drained to afford Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-Ser(tBu)-Tyr(tBu)-Gly -NHFmoc. The Fmoc group was then removed following the *Fmoc Removal* procedure to afford Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-Ser(tBu)-Tyr(tBu)-Gly -NHFmoc.

Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-Ser(tBu)-Tyr(tBu)-Gly-Lys(Boc)-NH2

Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-Ser(tBu)-Tyr(tBu)-Gly-Lys(Boc)-NH₂ was synthesized according to the *Coupling Reaction* procedure, using Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-Ser(tBu)-Tyr(tBu)-Gly -NH₂ from the previous reaction, 0.39 g Fmoc-Lys(Boc)-OH (0.83 mmol, 2 equiv.), 1.4 HOAt (0.83 mmol, 2 equiv.), 0.28 mL DIC (1.7 mmol, 4 equiv.) and 0.7 mL of DMF to generate a concentration of 0.1 M. The coupling reaction was run overnight and a negative ninhydrin test was used to confirm reaction completion. The reaction mixture was drained to afford Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-Ser(tBu)-Tyr(tBu)-Gly-Lys(Boc)-NHFmoc. The Fmoc group was then removed following the *Fmoc Removal* procedure to afford Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-Ser(tBu)-Tyr(tBu)-Gly-Lys(Boc)-NH₂.

HO-Arg(Pbf)-Ser(tBu)-Tyr(tBu)-Gly-Lys(Boc)-NH2

The protected linear peptide HO-Arg(Pbf)-Ser(tBu)-Tyr(tBu)-Gly-Lys(Boc)-NH₂ was generated following the *Resin Cleavage* procedure. The linear peptide was cleaved from the resin using a solution of 13.0 mL of trifluoroethanol and 13.0 mL of CH₂Cl₂. The resin containing solution was filtered and dried *in vacuo* to yield the protected linear peptide as a pale yellow solid (324 mg, 72% overall).

HO-Arg-Ser-Tyr-Gly-Lys-NH₂ (Compound C1)

The deprotected linear peptide HO-Arg(Pbf)-Ser(tBu)-Tyr(tBu)-Gly-Lys(Boc)-NH₂ was generated following the *Global Deprotection* procedure using 0.06 g of Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-Ser(tBu)-Tyr(tBu)-Gly-Lys(Boc)-NH₂ (0.05 mmol, 1 equiv.), 0.55 mL of a mixed solution of TFA and CH₂Cl₂ (9:1 v/v) and 0.05 mL anisole (0.4 mmol, 8 equiv.) to simultaneously cleave the linear peptide from the resin and remove side chain protection groups. The reaction mixture was stirred overnight and monitored *via* LC/MS. Upon completion, the reaction mixture was worked up as described in the *Global*

Deprotection procedure to afford the crude linear peptide. The crude product was purified using HPLC, then lyophilised to generate pure compound as a white solid (8 mg, 7% overall)

LC/MS (ESI) m/z: [M+H]⁺ calculated for C₂₆H₄₄N₉O₈⁺, 610.33; found 610.30

¹H NMR (600 MHz, D₂O): δ 7.15 (d, J = 8.91 Hz, 2H, Tyr), 6.846 (d, J = 8.54 Hz, 2H, Tyr), 4,63 (t, J = 6.9 Hz, 1H, αH Tyr), 4.435 (t, J = 5.66 HZ, 1H, αH Ser), 4.2056 (dd, J = 5.26, 7.67 Hz, 1H, αH Arg), 4.09 – 3.88 (m, 3H, αH Lys, 2βH Ser), 3.86-3.71 (m, 2H, αH Gly), 3.25-2.92 (m, 6H, 2βH Tyr, 2εH Lys, 2δH Arg), 2.01-1.84 (m, 2H, βH Lys), 1.83 – 1.38 (m, 8H, 2γH 2δH Lys, 2βH 2γH Arg)

3.4.6 Experimental Procedures for C1-Tag

Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-NH₂

The resin bound amino acid Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-NH₂ was synthesized following the *Resin Loading* procedure. A sample of 2-chlorotrityl chloride resin (0.504 g, 1.1 mmol/g loading, 1 equiv.) was placed in a solid phase tube, swelled with CH₂Cl₂ for 1 hour and then drained.0.719 g Fmoc-Arg(Pbf)-OH (1.1 mmol, 2 equiv.) was pre-dissolved in the minimum volume of DIPEA in CH₂Cl₂ (0.40 M) and was added to the swelled resin. The reaction was agitated at room temperature overnight. The reaction mixture was drained, and the resin was washed according to the *Resin Loading* protocol to produce Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-NHFmoc. A sample of resin was removed, and the resin loading was

determined to be 0.73 mmol/g. The Fmoc group was then removed using the *Fmoc Removal* procedure to produce Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-NH₂.

Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-Ser(tBu)-NH2

Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-Ser(tBu)-NH₂ was synthesized according to the *Coupling Reaction* procedure, using 0.504 g Resin-O- Arg(Pbf)-NH₂ (0.73 mmol, 1 equiv.), 0.28 g Fmoc-Ser(tBu)-OH (0.73 mmol, 2 equiv.), 1.3 mL HOAt (0.73 mmol, 2 equiv.), 0.25 mL DIC (1.5 mmol, 4 equiv.) and 0.7 mL of DMF to generate a concentration of 0.1 M. The coupling reaction was run for 5 hours and a negative ninhydrin test was used to confirm reaction completion. The reaction mixture was drained to afford Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-Ser(tBu)-NHFmoc. The Fmoc group was then removed following the *Fmoc Removal* procedure to afford Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-Ser(tBu)-NH₂.

Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-Ser(tBu)-Tyr(tBu)-NH₂

Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-Ser(tBu)-Tyr(tBu)-NH₂ was synthesized according to the *Coupling Reaction* procedure, using Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-Ser(tBu)-NH₂ from the previous reaction, 0.34 g Fmoc-Tyr(tBu)-OH (0.73 mmol, 2 equiv.), 1.3 mL HOAt (0.73 mmol, 2 equiv.), 0.25 mL DIC (1.5 mmol, 4 equiv.) and 0.7 mL of DMF to generate a concentration of 0.1 M. The coupling reaction was run overnight, and a negative ninhydrin test was used to confirm reaction completion. The reaction mixture was drained to afford Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-Ser(tBu)-Tyr(tBu)-NHFmoc. The Fmoc group was then removed following the *Fmoc Removal* procedure to afford Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-Ser(tBu)-Tyr(tBu)-NH₂.

Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-Ser(tBu)-Tyr(tBu)-Gly-NH2

Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-Ser(tBu)-Tyr(tBu)-Gly-NH₂ was synthesized according to the *Coupling Reaction* procedure, using Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-Ser(tBu)-Tyr(tBu)-NH₂ from the previous reaction, 0.22 g Fmoc-Gly -OH (0.73 mmol, 2 equiv.), 1.3 mL HOAt (0.73 mmol, 2 equiv.), 0.25 mL DIC (1.5 mmol, 4 equiv.) and 0.7 mL of DMF to generate a concentration of 0.1 M. The coupling reaction was run overnight and a negative ninhydrin test was used to confirm reaction completion. The reaction mixture was drained to afford Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-Ser(tBu)-Tyr(tBu)-Gly -NHFmoc. The Fmoc group was then removed following the *Fmoc Removal* procedure to afford Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-Ser(tBu)-Tyr(tBu)-Gly-NH₂.

Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-Ser(tBu)-Tyr(tBu)-Gly-Lys(Boc)-NH2

Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-Ser(tBu)-Tyr(tBu)-Gly-Lys(Boc)-NH₂ was synthesized according to the *Coupling Reaction* procedure, using Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-Ser(tBu)-Tyr(tBu)-Gly -NH₂ from the previous reaction, 0.34 g Fmoc-Lys(Boc)-OH (0.73 mmol, 2 equiv.), 1.3 mL HOAt (0.73 mmol, 2 equiv.), 0.25 mL DIC (1.5 mmol, 4 equiv.) and 0.7 mL of DMF to generate a concentration of 0.1 M. The coupling reaction was run overnight, and a negative ninhydrin test was used to confirm reaction completion. The reaction mixture was drained to afford Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-Ser(tBu)-Tyr(tBu)-Gly-Lys(Boc)-NHFmoc. The Fmoc group was then removed following the *Fmoc Removal* procedure to afford Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-Ser(tBu)-Tyr(tBu)-Gly-Lys(Boc)-NH₂.

Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-Ser(tBu)-Tyr(tBu)-Gly-Lys(Boc)-NH-PEG4-Biotin

The protected peptide peptide *resin*-Arg(Pbf)-Ser(tBu)-Tyr(tBu)-Gly-Lys(Boc)-NH-PEG4-Biotin was synthesised following the *On-resin Biotinylation* procedure using 0.73 g *resin*-Arg(Pbf)-Ser(tBu)-Tyr(tBu)-Gly-Lys(Boc)-NH₂ (0.1 mmol, 1 equiv.), 0.09 g EZ- Link NHS- PEG4-Biotin (0.15 mmol, 1.5 equiv.), 0.15 mL DIPEA (0.8 mmol, 8 equiv.) in anhydrous CH_2Cl_2 (0.68 mL, 0.15 M), The reaction was then stirred for 4 hours and monitored *via* negative ninhydrin test and LCMS. Upon completion, the reaction mixture was drained, and the resin was subjected to *Resin Cleavage of Linear Peptide*

HO-Arg(Pbf)-Ser(tBu)-Tyr(tBu)-Gly-Lys(Boc)-NH-PEG4-Biotin

The protected linear peptide HO-Arg(Pbf)-Ser(tBu)-Tyr(tBu)-Gly-Lys(Boc)-NH-PEG4-Biotin was generated following the *Resin Cleavage* procedure. The linear peptide was cleaved from the resin using a solution of 5 mL of trifluoroethanol and 5 mL of CH₂Cl₂. The resin containing solution was filtered and dried *in vacuo* to yield the protected linear pentapeptide as a pale yellow solid (0.12 g, 72% overall).

HO-Arg-Ser-Tyr-Gly-Lys-NH-PEG4-Biotin (Compound C1-Tag)The deprotected linear peptide HO-Arg(Pbf)-Ser(tBu)-Tyr(tBu)-Gly-Lys(Boc)-NH-PEG4-Biotin was generated following the *Global Deprotection* procedure using 0.12 g of Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-Ser(tBu)-Tyr(tBu)-Gly-Lys(Boc)-NH-PEG4-Biotin (0.09 mmol, 1 equiv.), 0.55 mL of a mixed solution of TFA and CH₂Cl₂ (9:1 v/v) and 0.05 mL anisole (0.72 mmol, 8 equiv.) to simultaneously cleave the linear peptide from the resin and remove side chain protection groups. The reaction mixture was stirred overnight and monitored *via* LC/MS. Upon completion, the reaction mixture was worked up as described in the *Global Deprotection* procedure to afford the crude linear peptide. The crude product was purified using HPLC, then lyophilised to generate pure compound as a white solid (14 mg, 15% overall)

LC/MS (ESI) m/z: [M+H]⁺ calculated for C₂₆H₄₄N₉O₈⁺, 1083.54; found 1084

¹H NMR (600 MHz, D₂O): δ 7.15 (d, J = 8.11 Hz, 2H, Tyr), 6.846 (d, J = 8.14 Hz, 2H, Tyr), 4,63 4.58(m, 2H, αH TyrαH Ser), 4.45-4.39 (m, 2H, αH Arg, αH Lys), 4.3-4.162 (m, 2H, αH Gly), 3.958-3.213 (m, 4H, 2δH Arg, 2βH Ser), 3.80-3.73 (m, 2H, 2εH Lys), 3.724-3.526 (m, 14H, 2βH Tyr), 3.42-3.35 (m, 2H,), 3.35-3.27 (m, 1H), 3.27-3.152 (m, 2H), 3.15-3.06 (m, 2H), 3.05-2.813 (m, 4H), 2.81-2.69 (m, 1H), 2.69-2.46 (m, 2H), 2.30-2.22 (m, 2H), 1.97-1.215 (m, 14H, βH Lys, 2γH 2δH Lys, 2βH 2γH Arg)

3.4.7 Experimental Procedures for C2

cyclo-Arg(Pbf)-Ser(tBu)-Tyr(tBu)-Gly-Lys(Boc)

The protected cyclic peptide *cyclo*-Arg(Pbf)-Ser(tBu)-Tyr(tBu)-Gly-Lys(Boc) was synthesised following the *Macrocyclisation* procedure using 0.2 g HO-Arg(Pbf)-Ser(tBu)-Tyr(tBu)-Gly-Lys(Boc)-NH₂ (0.19 mmol, 1 equiv.), 0.071 g HATU (0.19 mmol, 1 equiv.), 0.048 g TBTU (0.15 mmol, 0.8 equiv.), 0.41 g DMTMM (0.15 mmol, 1 equiv.), 0.19 mL DIPEA (1.5 mmol, 8 equiv.) in anhydrous CH₂Cl₂ (186 mL, 0.001 M), The reaction was then stirred for 5 hours and monitored *via* LC/MS. Upon completion, the reaction mixture was worked up as described in the *Macrocyclisation* procedure and dried *in vacuo* to produce the crude, protected, cyclic peptide *cyclo*-Arg(Pbf)-Ser(tBu)-Tyr(tBu)-Gly-Lys(Boc).

cyclo-Arg-Ser-Tyr-Gly-Lys (Compound C2)

The deprotected cyclic peptide *cyclo*-Arg-Ser-Tyr-Gly-Lys was synthesised following the *Global Deprotection* procedure using 0.15 g *cyclo*- Arg(Pbf)-Ser(tBu)-Tyr(tBu)-Gly-

Lys(Boc) (0.14 mmol, 1 equiv.), 1.2 mL of a mixed solution of TFA and CH₂Cl₂ (9:1 v/v) and 0.12 mL anisole (1.1 mmol, 10 equiv.) to remove the side chain protecting groups. The reaction mixture was stirred for 4 hours and monitored *via* LC/MS. Upon completion, the reaction mixture was worked up as described in the *Global Deprotection* procedure to afford the crude cyclic peptide. The crude product was purified using HPLC, then lyophilised to generate pure compound as a white solid (8 mg, 4% overall).

LC/MS (ESI) m/z: [M+H]⁺ calculated for C₂₆H₄₂N₉O₇⁺, 592.32; found 592.35.

¹H NMR (600 MHz, D₂O): δ 7.22 -6.80 (m, *4*H, Tyr), 4,63 – 4.05 (m, 4H, αH Tyr, αH Ser, αH Arg, αH Lys), 2.1- (m, 4H, 2βH Ser, αH Gly), 3.35-2.6 (m, 6H, 2βH Tyr, 2εH Lys, 2δH Arg), 2.1 -1.3 (m, 10H, βH Lys, 2γH 2δH Lys, 2βH 2γH Arg)

3.4.8 Experimental Procedures for C4

Resin-O-Ala-NH₂

The resin bound amino acid Resin-O-Ala-NH₂ was synthesized following the *Resin Loading* procedure. A sample of 2-chlorotrityl chloride resin (1.02 g, 1.1 mmol/g loading, 1 equiv.) was placed in a solid phase tube, swelled with CH_2Cl_2 for 1 hour and then drained. 1.05 g Fmoc-Ala-OH (3.4 mmol, 3 equiv.) was pre-dissolved in the minimum volume of DIPEA in CH_2Cl_2 (0.40 M) and was added to the swelled resin. The reaction was agitated at room temperature overnight. The reaction mixture was drained, and the resin was washed according to the *Resin Loading* protocol to produce Resin-O-Ala-NHFmoc. A sample of resin was removed, and the resin loading was determined to be

0.63 mmol/g. The Fmoc group was then removed using the *Fmoc Removal* procedure to produce Resin-O-Ala-NH₂.

Resin-O-Ala-Phe-NH₂

Resin-O-Ala-Phe-NH₂ was synthesized according to the *Coupling Reaction* procedure, using 1.0 g Resin-O-Phe-NH₂ (0.63 mmol, 1 equiv.), 0.59 g Fmoc-Phe-OH (1.3 mmol, 2 equiv.), 2.15mL HOAt (1.3 mmol, 2 equiv.), 0.43 mL DIC (2.6 mmol, 4 equiv.) and 0.4 mL of DMF to generate a concentration of 0.1 M. The coupling reaction was run for 5 hours and a negative ninhydrin test was used to confirm reaction completion. The reaction mixture was drained to afford Resin-O-Ala-Phe-NHFmoc. The Fmoc group was then removed following the *Fmoc Removal* procedure to afford Resin-O-Ala-Phe-NH₂.

Resin-O-Ala-Phe-Glu(OtBu)-NH₂

Resin-O-Ala-Phe-Glu(OtBu)-NH₂ was synthesized according to the *Coupling Reaction* procedure, using Resin-O-Ala-Phe-NH₂ from the previous reaction, 0.55 g Fmoc-Glu(OtBu)-OH (1.3 mmol, 2 equiv.), 2.15mL HOAt (1.3 mmol, 2 equiv.), 0.43 mL DIC (2.6 mmol, 4 equiv.) and 0.4 mL of DMF to generate a concentration of 0.1 M. The coupling reaction was run overnight, and a negative ninhydrin test was used to confirm reaction completion. The reaction mixture was drained to afford Resin-O-Ala-Phe-Glu(OtBu)-NHFmoc. The Fmoc group was then removed following the *Fmoc Removal* procedure to afford Resin-O-Ala-Phe-Glu(OtBu)-NH₂.

Resin-O-Ala-Phe-Glu(OtBu)-Leu-NH₂

Resin-O-Ala-Phe-Glu(OtBu)-Leu-NH₂ was synthesized according to the *Coupling Reaction* procedure, using Resin-O-Ala-Phe-Glu(OtBu)-NH₂ from the previous reaction, 0.46 g Fmoc-Leu-OH (1.3 mmol, 2 equiv.), 2.15mL HOAt (1.3 mmol, 2 equiv.), 0.43 mL DIC (2.6 mmol, 4 equiv.) and 0.4 mL of DMF to generate a concentration of 0.1 M. The coupling reaction was run overnight, and a negative ninhydrin test was used to confirm reaction completion. The reaction mixture was drained to afford Resin-O-Ala-Phe-Glu(OtBu)-Leu-NHFmoc. The Fmoc group was then removed following the *Fmoc Removal* procedure to afford Resin-O-Ala-Phe-Glu(OtBu)-Leu-NH₂.

Resin-O-Ala-Phe-Glu(OtBu)-Leu-Ala-NH₂

Resin-O-Ala-Phe-Glu(OtBu)-Leu-Ala-NH₂ was synthesized according to the *Coupling Reaction* procedure, using Resin-O-Ala-Phe-Glu(OtBu)-Leu-NH₂ from the previous reaction, 0.40 g Fmoc-Ala-OH (1.3 mmol, 2 equiv.), 2.15mL HOAt (1.3 mmol, 2 equiv.), 0.43 mL DIC (2.6 mmol, 4 equiv.) and 0.4 mL of DMF to generate a concentration of 0.1 M. The coupling reaction was run overnight, and a negative ninhydrin test was used to confirm reaction completion. The reaction mixture was drained to afford Resin-O-Ala-Phe-Glu(OtBu)-Leu-NHFmoc. The Fmoc group was then removed following the *Fmoc Removal* procedure to afford Resin-O-Ala-Phe-Glu(OtBu)-Leu-Ala-NH₂.

HO-Ala-Phe-Glu(OtBu)-Leu-Ala-NH₂

The protected linear peptide HO-Ala-Phe-Glu(OtBu)-Leu-Ala-NH₂ was generated following the *Resin Cleavage* procedure. The linear peptide was cleaved from the resin using a solution of 13.0 mL of trifluoroethanol and 13.0 mL of CH₂Cl₂. The resin containing solution was filtered and dried *in vacuo* to yield the protected linear pentapeptide as a pale-yellow solid.

cyclo-Ala-Phe-Glu(OtBu)-Leu-Ala

The protected cyclic peptide *cyclo*-Ala-Phe-Glu(OtBu)-Leu-Ala was synthesised following the *Macrocyclisation* procedure using 0.09 g HO-Ala-Phe-Glu(OtBu)-Leu-Ala (0.15 mmol, 1 equiv.), 0.056 g HATU (0.15 mmol, 1 equiv.), 0.04 g TBTU (0.12 mmol, 0.8 equiv.), 0.15 mL DIPEA (1.2 mmol, 8 equiv.) in anhydrous CH₂Cl₂ (149 mL, 0.001 M), The reaction was then stirred for 5 hours and monitored *via* LC/MS. Upon completion, the reaction mixture was worked up as described in the *Macrocyclisation* procedure and dried *in vacuo* to produce the crude, protected, cyclic peptide *cyclo*-Ala-Phe-Glu(OtBu)-Leu-Ala

cyclo-Ala-Phe-Glu-Leu-Ala (Compound C4)

The deprotected cyclic peptide *cyclo*-Ala-Phe-Glu-Leu-Ala was synthesised following the *Global Deprotection* procedure using 0.08 g *cyclo*-Ala-Phe-Glu-Leu-Ala (0.14 mmol, 1 equiv.), 0.32 mL of a mixed solution of TFA and CH₂Cl₂ (9:1 v/v) and 0.12 mL anisole (1.1 mmol, 8 equiv.) to remove the side chain protecting groups. The reaction mixture was stirred for 4 hours and monitored *via* LC/MS. Upon completion, the reaction mixture was worked up as described in the *Global Deprotection* procedure to afford the crude cyclic peptide. The crude product was purified using HPLC, then lyophilised to generate pure compound as a white solid (7mg, 13% overall).

LC/MS (ESI) m/z: [M+H]⁺ calculated for C₂₆H₃₈N₅O₇⁺, 532.28; found 532.30

¹H NMR (600 MHz, D₂O): δ 7.57 – 7.06 (m, 5H, Phe), 4.51 – 4.32 (m, 2H, αH Ala, αH Leu), 4.32- 4.23 (m, 2H, αH Phe, αH Glu), 4.04 – 3.98 (m, 1H, αH Ala), 3.28 – 3.10 (m, 2H, βH Phe), 2.20 – 1.98 (m, 2H, γH Glu), 1.96 – 1.80 (m, 2H, βH Glu), 1.82 – 1.76 (m,

1H, γH Leu), 1.68 – 1.58 (t, *J* = 7.03 Hz, 2H, βH Leu), 1.51 – 1.43 (m, 6H, βH Ala), 0.97 (d, *J* = 6.11 Hz, 3H, (CH₃)₂ Leu), 0.92 (d, *J* = 5.98 Hz, 3H, (CH₃)₂ Leu).

3.4.9 Experimental Procedures for SY14

Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-NH₂

The resin bound amino acid Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-NH₂ was synthesized following the *Resin Loading* procedure. A sample of 2-chlorotrityl chloride resin (0.497 g, 1.1 mmol/g loading, 1 equiv.) was placed in a solid phase tube, swelled with CH₂Cl₂ for 1 hour and then drained. 0.71g Fmoc-Arg(Pbf)-OH (1.1 mmol, 2 equiv.) was pre-dissolved in the minimum volume of DIPEA in CH₂Cl₂ (0.40 M) and was added to the swelled resin. The reaction was agitated at room temperature overnight. The reaction mixture was drained, and the resin was washed according to the *Resin Loading* protocol to produce Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-NHFmoc. A sample of resin was removed, and the resin loading was determined to be 0.47 mmol/g. The Fmoc group was then removed using the *Fmoc Removal* procedure to produce Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-NH₂.

Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-Ser(tBu)-NH₂

Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-Ser(tBu)-NH₂ was synthesized according to the *Coupling Reaction* procedure, using 0.497 g Resin-O- Arg(Pbf)-NH₂ (0.47 mmol, 1 equiv.), 0.18 g Fmoc-Ser(tBu)-OH (0.23 mmol, 2 equiv.), 0.28 mL HOAt (0.47 mmol, 2 equiv.), 0.16 mL DIC (0.9 mmol, 4 equiv.) and 0.7 mL of DMF to generate a concentration of 0.1 M. The coupling reaction was run for 5 hours and a negative ninhydrin test was used to confirm reaction completion. The reaction mixture was drained to afford Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-

Ser(tBu)-NHFmoc. The Fmoc group was then removed following the *Fmoc Removal* procedure to afford Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-Ser(tBu)-NH₂.

Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-Ser(tBu)-Tyr(tBu)-NH2

Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-Ser(tBu)-Tyr(tBu)-NH₂ was synthesized according to the *Coupling Reaction* procedure, using Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-Ser(tBu)-NH₂ from the previous reaction, 0.22 g Fmoc-Tyr(tBu)-OH (0.46 mmol, 2 equiv.), 0.28 mL HOAt (0.47 mmol, 2 equiv.), 0.16 mL DIC (0.9 mmol, 4 equiv.) and 0.7 mL of DMF to generate a concentration of 0.1 M. The coupling reaction was run overnight, and a negative ninhydrin test was used to confirm reaction completion. The reaction mixture was drained to afford Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-Ser(tBu)-Tyr(tBu)-NHFmoc. The Fmoc group was then removed following the *Fmoc Removal* procedure to afford Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-Ser(tBu)-Tyr(tBu)-NH₂.

Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-Ser(tBu)-Tyr(tBu)-Ala-NH2

Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-Ser(tBu)-Tyr(tBu)-Ala-NH₂ was synthesized according to the *Coupling Reaction* procedure, using Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-Ser(tBu)-Tyr(tBu)-NH₂ from the previous reaction, 015g Fmoc-Ala -OH (0.47 mmol, 2 equiv.), 0.28 mL HOAt (0.47 mmol, 2 equiv.), 0.16 mL DIC (0.9 mmol, 4 equiv.) and 0.7 mL of DMF to generate a concentration of 0.1 M. The coupling reaction was run overnight, and a negative ninhydrin test was used to confirm reaction completion. The reaction mixture was drained to afford Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-Ser(tBu)-Tyr(tBu)-Ala-NHFmoc. The Fmoc group was then removed following the *Fmoc Removal* procedure to afford Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-Ser(tBu)-Tyr(tBu)-Ala -NH₂.

Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-Ser(tBu)-Tyr(tBu)-Ala-Lys(Boc)-NH2

Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-Ser(tBu)-Tyr(tBu)-Ala-Lys(Boc)-NH₂ was synthesized according to the *Coupling Reaction* procedure, using Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-Ser(tBu)-Tyr(tBu)-Ala -NH₂ from the previous reaction, 0.22 g Fmoc-Lys(Boc)-OH (0.47 mmol, 2 equiv.), 0.28 mL HOAt (0.47 mmol, 2 equiv.), 0.16 mL DIC (0.9 mmol, 4 equiv.) and 0.7 mL of DMF to generate a concentration of 0.1 M. The coupling reaction was run overnight, and a negative ninhydrin test was used to confirm reaction completion. The reaction mixture was drained to afford Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-Ser(tBu)-Tyr(tBu)-Ala-Lys(Boc)-NHFmoc. The Fmoc group was then removed following the *Fmoc Removal* procedure to afford Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-Ser(tBu)-Tyr(tBu)-Ala-Lys(Boc)-NH₂.

HO-Arg(Pbf)-Ser(tBu)-Tyr(tBu)-Ala-Lys(Boc)-NH₂ (Compound LP-14)

The protected linear peptide HO-Arg(Pbf)-Ser(tBu)-Tyr(tBu)-Ala-Lys(Boc)-NH₂ was generated following the *Resin Cleavage* procedure. The linear peptide was cleaved from the resin using a solution of 13.0 mL of trifluoroethanol and 13.0 mL of CH₂Cl₂. The resin containing solution was filtered and dried *in vacuo* to yield the protected linear pentapeptide as a pale-yellow solid (188 mg, 84% overall).

HO-Arg-Ser-Tyr-Ala-Lys-NH₂ (Compound SY14)

The deprotected linear peptide HO-Arg(Pbf)-Ser(tBu)-Tyr(tBu)-Ala-Lys(Boc)-NH₂ was generated following the *Global Deprotection* procedure using 0.1 g of Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-Ser(tBu)-Tyr(tBu)-Ala-Lys(Boc)-NH₂ (0.09 mmol, 1 equiv.), 0.55 mL of a mixed solution of TFA and CH₂Cl₂ (9:1 v/v) and 0.08 mL anisole (0.76 mmol, 8 equiv.) to simultaneously cleave the linear peptide from the resin and remove side chain protection groups. The reaction mixture was stirred overnight and monitored *via* LC/MS. Upon
completion, the reaction mixture was worked up as described in the *Global Deprotection* procedure to afford the crude linear peptide. The crude product was purified using HPLC, then lyophilised to generate pure compound as a white solid (12 mg, 16% overall)

LC/MS (ESI) m/z: $[M+H]^+$ calculated for C₂₇H₄₆N₉O₈⁺, 624.33; found 624

¹H NMR (600 MHz, D₂O): δ 7.16 (d, J = 8.5 Hz, 2H, Tyr), 6.846 (d, J = 8.54 Hz, 2H, Tyr), 4,63 (t, J = 6.9 Hz, 1H, αH Tyr), 4.435-4.34 (m, 2H, αH Ser, αH Ala), 4.2056 (dd, J = 5.26, 7.67 Hz, 1H, αH Arg), 4.09 – 3.88 (m, 3H, αH Lys, 2βH Ser), 3.25-2.92 (m, 6H, 2βH Tyr, 2εH Lys, 2δH Arg), 2.01-1.78 (m, 2H, βH Lys), 1.83 – 1.376 (m, 8H, 2γH 2δH Lys, 2βH 2γH Arg), 1.3681-1.3565 (m, 3H, 3βH Ala)

3.4.10 Experimental Procedures for SY15

Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-NH₂

The resin bound amino acid Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-NH₂ was synthesized following the *Resin Loading* procedure. A sample of 2-chlorotrityl chloride resin (1.08 g, 1.188 mmol/g loading, 1 equiv.) was placed in a solid phase tube, swelled with CH₂Cl₂ for 1 hour and then drained. 1.5 g Fmoc-Arg(Pbf)-OH (2.3 mmol, 2 equiv.) was pre-dissolved in the minimum volume of DIPEA in CH₂Cl₂ (0.40 M) and was added to the swelled resin. The reaction was agitated at room temperature overnight. The reaction mixture was drained, and the resin was washed according to the *Resin Loading* protocol to produce Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-NHFmoc. A sample of resin was removed, and the resin loading was determined to be 0.49 mmol/g. The Fmoc group was then removed using the *Fmoc Removal* procedure to produce Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-NH₂.

Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-Ser(tBu)-NH₂

Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-Ser(tBu)-NH₂ was synthesized according to the *Coupling Reaction* procedure, using 0.5 g Resin-O- Arg(Pbf)-NH₂ (0.24 mmol, 1 equiv.), 0.2 g Fmoc-Ser(tBu)-OH (0.49 mmol, 2 equiv.), 0.82 mL HOAt (0.49 mmol, 2 equiv.), 0.16 mL DIC (0.98 mmol, 4 equiv.) and 1.18 mL of DMF to generate a concentration of 0.1 M. The coupling reaction was run for 5 hours and a negative ninhydrin test was used to confirm reaction completion. The reaction mixture was drained to afford Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-Ser(tBu)-NHFmoc. The Fmoc group was then removed following the *Fmoc Removal* procedure to afford Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-Ser(tBu)-NH₂.

Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-Ser(tBu)-Ala-NH₂

Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-Ser(tBu)-Ala-NH₂ was synthesized according to the *Coupling Reaction* procedure, using Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-Ser(tBu)-NH₂ from the previous reaction, 0.15 g Fmoc-Ala-OH (0.49 mmol, 2 equiv.), 0.82 mL HOAt (0.49 mmol, 2 equiv.), 0.16 mL DIC (0.98 mmol, 4 equiv.) and 1.18 mL of DMF to generate a concentration of 0.1 M. The coupling reaction was run overnight, and a negative ninhydrin test was used to confirm reaction completion. The reaction mixture was drained to afford Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-Ser(tBu)-Ala-NHFmoc. The Fmoc group was then removed following the *Fmoc Removal* procedure to afford Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-Ser(tBu)-Ala-NH₂.

Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-Ser(tBu)-Ala-Gly-NH2

Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-Ser(tBu)-Ala-Gly-NH₂ was synthesized according to the *Coupling Reaction* procedure, using Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-Ser(tBu)-Ala-NH₂ from the previous reaction, 0.16 g Fmoc-Gly -OH (0.49 mmol, 2 equiv.), 0.82 mL HOAt (0.49 mmol, 2 equiv.), 0.16 mL DIC (0.98 mmol, 4 equiv.) and 1.18 mL of DMF to generate a concentration of 0.1 M. The coupling reaction was run overnight and a negative ninhydrin test was used to confirm reaction completion. The reaction mixture was drained to afford Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-Ser(tBu)-Ala-Gly -NHFmoc. The Fmoc group was then removed following the *Fmoc Removal* procedure to afford Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-Ser(tBu)-Ala-Gly - NHF₂.

Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-Ser(tBu)-Ala-Gly-Lys(Boc)-NH₂

Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-Ser(tBu)-Ala-Gly-Lys(Boc)-NH₂ was synthesized according to the *Coupling Reaction* procedure, using Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-Ser(tBu)-Ala-Gly -NH₂ from the previous reaction, 0.23 g Fmoc-Lys(Boc)-OH (049 mmol, 2 equiv.), 0.82 mL HOAt (0.49 mmol, 2 equiv.), 0.16 mL DIC (0.98 mmol, 4 equiv.) and 1.18 mL of DMF to generate a concentration of 0.1 M. The coupling reaction was run overnight and a negative ninhydrin test was used to confirm reaction completion. The reaction mixture was drained to afford Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-Ser(tBu)-Ala-Gly-Lys(Boc)-NHFmoc. The Fmoc group was then removed following the *Fmoc Removal* procedure to afford Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-Ser(tBu)-Ala-Gly-Lys(Boc)-NH₂.

HO-Arg(Pbf)-Ser(tBu)-Ala-Gly-Lys(Boc)-NH2

The protected linear peptide HO-Arg(Pbf)-Ser(tBu)-Ala-Gly-Lys(Boc)-NH₂ was generated following the *Resin Cleavage* procedure. The linear peptide was cleaved from the resin using a solution of 13.0 mL of trifluoroethanol and 13.0 mL of CH₂Cl₂. The resin containing solution was filtered and dried *in vacuo* to yield the protected linear peptide as a pale yellow solid (167 mg, 78% overall).

HO-Arg-Ser-Ala-Gly-Lys-NH2 (Compound SY15)

The deprotected linear peptide HO-Arg(Pbf)-Ser(tBu)-Ala-Gly-Lys(Boc)-NH₂ was generated following the *Global Deprotection* procedure using 0.1 g of Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-Ser(tBu)-Ala-Gly-Lys(Boc)-NH₂ (0.05 mmol, 1 equiv.), 0.55 mL of a mixed solution of TFA and CH₂Cl₂ (9:1 v/v) and 0.05 mL anisole (0.4 mmol, 8 equiv.) to simultaneously cleave the linear peptide from the resin and remove side chain protection groups. The reaction mixture was stirred overnight and monitored *via* LC/MS. Upon completion, the reaction mixture was worked up as described in the *Global Deprotection* procedure to afford the crude linear peptide. The crude product was purified using HPLC, then lyophilised to generate pure compound as a white solid (16 mg, 12 % overall)

LC/MS (ESI) m/z: [M+H]⁺ calculated for C₂₀H₄₀N₉O₇⁺, 518.3.33; found 518

¹H NMR (600 MHz, D₂O): δ 4.435 (t, J = 5.66 HZ, 1H, αH Ser), 4,42 – 4.37 (m, 2H, αH Ala), 4.2056 (dd, J = 5.26, 7.67 Hz, 1H, αH Arg), 4.09 – 3.88 (m, 3H, αH Lys, 2βH Ser), 3.86-3.71 (m, 2H, αH Gly), 3.25-2.92 (m, 4H, , 2εH Lys, 2δH Arg), 2.01-1.84 (m, 2H, βH Lys), 1.83 - 1.45 (m, 8H, 2γH 2δH Lys, 2βH 2γH Arg), 1,43 (d, J = 7.19 Hz, 3H, 3βH Ala)

3.4.11 Experimental Procedures for SY16

Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-NH2

The resin bound amino acid Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-NH₂ was synthesized following the *Resin Loading* procedure. A sample of 2-chlorotrityl chloride resin (1.08 g, 1.188 mmol/g loading, 1 equiv.) was placed in a solid phase tube, swelled with CH₂Cl₂ for 1 hour and then drained. 1.5 g Fmoc-Arg(Pbf)-OH (2.3 mmol, 2 equiv.) was pre-dissolved in the minimum volume of DIPEA in CH₂Cl₂ (0.40 M) and was added to the swelled resin. The reaction was agitated at room temperature overnight. The reaction mixture was drained, and the resin was washed according to the *Resin Loading* protocol to produce Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-NHFmoc. A sample of resin was removed, and the resin loading was determined to be 0.49 mmol/g. The Fmoc group was then removed using the *Fmoc Removal* procedure to produce Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-NH₂.

Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-Ala-NH2

Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-Ala-NH₂ was synthesized according to the *Coupling Reaction* procedure, using 1.0 g Resin-O- Arg(Pbf)-NH₂ (0.39 mmol, 1 equiv.), 0.16 g Fmoc- Ala-OH (0.49 mmol, 2 equiv.), 0.82 mL HOAt (0.49 mmol, 2 equiv.), 0.16 mL DIC (0.98 mmol, 4 equiv.) and 1.18 mL of DMF to generate a concentration of 0.1 M. The coupling reaction was run for 5 hours and a negative ninhydrin test was used to confirm reaction completion. The reaction mixture was drained to afford Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-Ala-NHFmoc. The Fmoc group was then removed following the *Fmoc Removal* procedure to afford Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-Ala-NH₂.

Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-Ala-Tyr(tBu)-NH2

Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-Ala-Tyr(tBu)-NH₂ was synthesized according to the *Coupling Reaction* procedure, using Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-Ala-NH₂ from the previous reaction, 0.22 g Fmoc-Tyr(tBu)-OH (0.49 mmol, 2 equiv.), 0.82 mL HOAt (0.49 mmol, 2 equiv.), 0.16 mL DIC (0.98 mmol, 4 equiv.) and 1.18 mL of DMF to generate a concentration of 0.1 M. The coupling reaction was run overnight, and a negative ninhydrin test was used to confirm reaction completion. The reaction mixture was drained to afford Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-Ala-Tyr(tBu)-NHFmoc. The Fmoc group was then removed following the *Fmoc Removal* procedure to afford Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-Ala-Tyr(tBu)-NH₂.

Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-Ala-Tyr(tBu)-Gly-NH2

Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-Ala-Tyr(tBu)-Gly-NH₂ was synthesized according to the *Coupling Reaction* procedure, using Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-Ala-Tyr(tBu)-NH₂ from the previous reaction, 0.15 g Fmoc-Gly -OH (0.49 mmol, 2 equiv.), 0.82 mL HOAt (0.49 mmol, 2 equiv.), 0.16 mL DIC (0.98 mmol, 4 equiv.) and 1.18 mL of DMF to generate a concentration of 0.1 M. The coupling reaction was run overnight and a negative ninhydrin test was used to confirm reaction completion. The reaction mixture was drained to afford Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-Ala-Tyr(tBu)-Gly -NHFmoc. The Fmoc group was then removed following the *Fmoc Removal* procedure to afford Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-Ala-Tyr(tBu)-Gly -NH₂.

Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-Ala-Tyr(tBu)-Gly-Lys(Boc)-NH₂

Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-Ala-Tyr(tBu)-Gly-Lys(Boc)-NH₂ was synthesized according to the *Coupling Reaction* procedure, using Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-Ala-Tyr(tBu)-Gly -NH₂ from the previous reaction, 0.23 g Fmoc-Lys(Boc)-OH (0.49 mmol, 2 equiv.), 0.82 mL HOAt (0.49 mmol, 2 equiv.), 0.16 mL DIC (0.98 mmol, 4 equiv.) and 1.18 mL of DMF to generate a concentration of 0.1 M. The coupling reaction was run overnight and a negative ninhydrin test was used to confirm reaction completion. The reaction mixture was drained to afford Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-Ala-Tyr(tBu)-Gly-Lys(Boc)-NHFmoc. The Fmoc group was

then removed following the *Fmoc Removal* procedure to afford Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-Ala-Tyr(tBu)-Gly-Lys(Boc)-NH₂.

HO-Arg(Pbf)-Ala-Tyr(tBu)-Gly-Lys(Boc)-NH2

The protected linear peptide HO-Arg(Pbf)-Ala-Tyr(tBu)-Gly-Lys(Boc)-NH₂ was generated following the *Resin Cleavage* procedure. The linear peptide was cleaved from the resin using a solution of 13.0 mL of trifluoroethanol and 13.0 mL of CH₂Cl₂. The resin containing solution was filtered and dried *in vacuo* to yield the protected linear pentapeptide as a pale-yellow solid (189 mg, 82% overall).

HO-Arg-Ala-Tyr-Gly-Lys-NH2 (Compound SY16)

The deprotected linear peptide HO-Arg(Pbf)-Ala-Tyr(tBu)-Gly-Lys(Boc)-NH₂ was generated following the *Global Deprotection* procedure using 0.1 g of Resin-O-Arg(Pbf)-Ala-Tyr(tBu)-Gly-Lys(Boc)-NH₂ (0.05 mmol, 1 equiv.), 0.55 mL of a mixed solution of TFA and CH₂Cl₂ (9:1 v/v) and 0.05 mL anisole (0.4 mmol, 8 equiv.) to simultaneously cleave the linear peptide from the resin and remove side chain protection groups. The reaction mixture was stirred overnight and monitored *via* LC/MS. Upon completion, the reaction mixture was worked up as described in the *Global Deprotection* procedure to afford the crude linear peptide. The crude product was purified using HPLC, then lyophilised to generate pure compound as a white solid (8 mg, 11% overall)

LC/MS (ESI) *m/z*: [M+H]⁺ calculated for C₂₆H₄₄N₉O₈⁺, 594.33; found 594

¹H NMR (600 MHz, D₂O): δ 7.15 (d, J = 8.55 Hz, 2H, Tyr), 6.846 (d, J = 8.54 Hz, 2H, Tyr), 4,63 (t, J = 6.9 Hz, 1H, αH Tyr), 4.32 (q, J = 7 HZ, 1H, αH Ala), 4.2056 (dd, J = 5.26, 7.67 Hz, 1H, αH Arg), 4.09 – 3.88 (m, 1H, αH Lys), 3.86-3.71 (m, 2H, αH Gly), 3.25-2.92 (m, 6H, 2βH Tyr, 2εH Lys, 2δH Arg), 2.01-1.84 (m, 2H, βH Lys), 1.83 – 1.41 (m, 8H, 2γH 2δH Lys, 2βH 2γH Arg), 1,37 (d, J = 7.14 Hz, 3H, 3βH Ala)

Chapter 4: Appendix

4.1.1 LC/MS of A1



C:\LabSolutions\Data\Project1\McAlpine\Yuantao\170621\SZA1.lcd

4.1.2 ¹H NMR of A1





4.1.4 ¹H-¹³C HSQC of A1



4.1.5 ¹H-¹³C HMBC of A1



4.2.1 LC/MS of A2



C:\LabSolutions\Data\Project1\McAlpine\Yuantao\170626\SZA2.lcd

4.2.2 ¹H NMR of A2





4.2.4 ¹H-¹³C HSQC of A2



4.2.5 ¹H-¹³C HMBC of A2



4.3.1 LC/MS of B1



C:\LabSolutions\Data\Project1\McAlpine\Yuantao\170602\SZB1.lcd

4.3.2 ¹H NMR of B1



4.3.3¹H-¹H COSY of B1



4.3.4 ¹H-¹³C HSQC of B1





4.4.1 LC/MS of B2



C:\LabSolutions\Data\Project1\McAlpine\Yuantao\170602\SZB2.lcd

4.4.2 ¹H NMR of B2





4.4.4 ¹H-¹³C HSQC of B2





4.5.1 LC/MS of C1



C:\LabSolutions\Data\Project1\McAlpine\Yuantao\170410\SZC1_PURE.lcd

4.5.2 ¹H NMR of C1





4.5.4 ¹H-¹³C HSQC of C1







4.6.1 LC/MS of C1-Tag



C:\LabSolutions\Data\Project1\McAlpine\Yuantao\180121\Biotin_C1.lcd



C:\LabSolutions\Data\Project1\McAlpine\Yuantao\180121\Biotin_C1.lcd
4.6.2 ¹H NMR of C1-Tag



4.6.3 ¹H-¹H COSY of C1-Tag



4.6.4 ¹H-¹³C HSQC of C1-Tag





4.7.1 LC/MS of C2



C:\LabSolutions\Data\Project1\McAlpine\Yuantao\170605\SZC2.lcd

4.7.2 ¹H NMR of C2



4.7.3 ¹H-¹H COSY of C2



4.7.4 ¹H-¹³C HSQC of C2





4.8.1 LC/MS of C4



C:\LabSolutions\Data\Project1\McAlpine\Yuantao\170724\c4_29.16.lcd

4.8.2 ¹H NMR of C4



170809_SZC4_III D20 600 MHz tci.1H.pr



4.8.4 ¹H-¹³C HSQC of C4







4.9.1 LC/MS of SY14





4.9.2 ¹H NMR of SY14



177



4.9.4 ¹H-¹³C HSQC of SY14





4.10.1 LC/MS of SY15





4.10.2 ¹H NMR of SY15



183



4.10.4 ¹H-¹³C HSQC of SY15





4.11.1 LC/MS of SY16









4.11.4 ¹H-¹³C HSQC of SY16



4.11.5 ¹H-¹³C HMBC of SY16

